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How do you become a Leader?

In fiscal 2010, Just Energy showed why it continues to be
the leading company in its industry. We have –

Revitalized
the independent sales force resulting in the aggregation of a record 505,000
customers in the United States and Canada

Integrated
Universal Energy with its 430,000 customers, saving more than $10 million in annual
combined general and administrative (“G&A”) costs

Expanded
into new markets and new sales channels

Became
one of the largest competitive retailers of green energy in North America

Embraced
innovative new products

Delivered
on our commitments to customers and investors

Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under longterm fixedprice and priceprotected
contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixedprice or priceprotected program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s
customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross
profit from the difference between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the associated
volumes from its suppliers.
The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program. The electricity JustGreen product offers the customer the option of having all or a portion of
his or her electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits
which will allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint for their home or business. Management believes that these products will not only add
to profits but will also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates.
In addition, through National Home Services, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters. NHS began offering the rental of air conditioners
and furnaces to Ontario residents in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. Through its subsidiary Terra Grain Fuels, the Fund produces and sells wheatbased ethanol.

2010 HIGHLIGHTS

Customer base reached 2,293,000 residential customer
equivalents (“RCEs”), up 28% year over year. Gross
additions through marketing (excluding acquired
customers) were 505,000, up 36% from 372,000 in
fiscal 2009, and up 61% from 313,000 in fiscal 2008.
Net customer additions through marketing were 73,000
for the year, up from 57,000 last year. The continued
weak U.S. economy resulted in U.S. natural gas attrition
of 30%, far higher than the Fund’s target of 20%.
Sales (seasonally adjusted) up 24% to $2.3 billion.
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) of $425.9 million,
up 35% year over year (16% per unit).

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement of
$230.0 million ($1.78 per unit), up 18% year over year
(2% per unit). Distributable cash after all marketing
of $197.0 million, up 16%.
Continued success of JustGreen, with 39% of new
customers taking an average of 81% green supply
under the program.
Acquired Hudson Energy Services, a New Yorkbased
natural gas and electricity marketer to commercial
customers with approximately 680,000 customers in
four states effective May 1, 2010. The acquisition
was funded through the issuance of $330 million 6%
convertible debentures.

TOTAL CUSTOMERS

SEASONALLY ADJUSTED SALES

SEASONALLY ADJUSTED
GROSS MARGIN

DISTRIBUTABLE CASH AFTER
GROSS MARGIN REPLACEMENT

2,293,000

$2,344.2 million

$425.9 million

$230.0 million

($ millions)

($ millions)

($ millions)
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MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE CHAIR

“Having transitioned the sales forces of Universal
and Just Energy into a single team, we have
looked to build our commercial business to
match our residential core. The recently
announced acquisition of Hudson Energy
Services does exactly that.”
Rebecca MacDonald
Executive Chair

Dear fellow Unitholders:
It is with great pride that we report our
results for the year ended March 31, 2010.
For the ninth consecutive annual report,
Just Energy has generated growing
distributable cash and distributions to
our Unitholders. Our theme this year
is Leadership, a goal Just Energy pursues
in every market we enter.
The year had a number of highlights.
The acquisition of Universal Energy Group
was the largest in the history of Just Energy.
Universal had been our most aggressive
competitor in our key markets and was
the prime alternative for prospective sales
contractors. Universal also had a startup
water heater sales and rental business and
a new ethanol business.
When we made the acquisition, we said it
would be accretive to Unitholders and it is
accretive. We said we would reduce our
combined general and administrative cost
base by $10 million per year through the
elimination of overlap expenses. We have
reduced costs by more than $10 million.
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We said we would bring production at the
ethanol plant toward full capacity, up from
60%. The plant now is operating at over
73% of total production capacity with
further improvements to come. We said the
water heater business would be a profitable
new product line. Now selffinancing,
National Home Services is well on its way
to being a $100 million business.
Having transitioned the sales forces of
Universal and Just Energy into a single team,
we have looked to build our commercial
business to match our residential core.
The recently announced acquisition of
Hudson Energy Services does exactly that.
Hudson specialized in the aggregation
of commercial customers through the
broker sales channel in four U.S. states,
a marketing channel not utilized much
by Just Energy. Hudson grew rapidly
building a base of 680,000 customers,
85% of which are commercial.
Hudson brings advanced systems and a
strong broker network, which will enable
the Just Energy sales force to improve

its penetration of commercial customers
in Canada as well as in new U.S. markets,
which will be ready for entry in fiscal 2011
and beyond. With the acquisition, we have
established ourselves as leaders both in
residential and commercial marketing
in every jurisdiction in which we operate.
Not only does Hudson bring strategic value
and customers, but with the US$304 million
price we paid, the acquisition will be
immediately accretive to Unitholders.

EXPANDED COMMERCIAL
CUSTOMER BASE
(thousands of total customers)
Just Energy Hudson
Canada – Commercial

581

Canada – Residential

913

U.S. – Commercial

192

590

U.S. – Residential

607

90

2,293

680

Total

WHAT WE PROMISED
FOR FISCAL 2010

WHAT WE DELIVERED
IN FISCAL 2010

A larger, stronger sales force

Added a record 505,000 new customers

Increase per unit seasonally adjusted
gross margin and distributable cash after gross
margin replacement by 5% to 10%

Increased per unit seasonally adjusted
gross margin by 16% and distributable cash
after gross margin replacement by 2%

Combine operations with Universal and
generate $10 million in annual general
and administrative (“G&A”) savings

Smooth amalgamation of Universal’s
480,000 customer base with annual
G&A savings in excess of $10 million

Increase penetration of the
commercial market

Acquired Hudson Energy Services effective
May 1, 2010 and its 680,000 customers,
85% of which are commercial

Conversion to a corporation
As you are aware, Unitholders will be asked
to approve the conversion of Just Energy
from an income trust to a highdividend
paying corporation at the Fund’s Annual and
Special Meeting of Unitholders scheduled for
June 29, 2010.
This is a major step forward for Just Energy.
We have advised our Unitholders of our
intention to convert to a corporate structure
for several quarters and stated that we
hoped to be able to do so without the need
to reduce the pretax monthly cash payout
whether it is in the current form of
distribution or the future form of monthly
dividends. I am pleased to say we should be
able to do so.
Upon completion of the reorganization,
the Board intends to implement a
dividend policy where monthly dividends
will be initially set at $0.1033 per share
($1.24 annually), equal to the current
distributions paid to Just Energy Unitholders.

In anticipation of the need for conversion,
the Fund has not increased its rate
of distribution since early 2008, despite
substantial growth in its business.
The decision not to continue distribution
increases and the continued growth of
Just Energy have given your Fund the
flexibility to pay a dividend equal to the
current monthly distributions following
the reorganization.
As I write this letter, our unit price fails
to reflect Just Energy’s real value. While
our Unitholders have received predictable
and growing distributions throughout the
history of your Fund, the unit price has
seldom reflected the growth and income
inherent in Just Energy. It is my hope that
the conversion from an income trust to
a highyielding corporation will result in a
broader potential investor base and more
careful scrutiny of the value of Just Energy.

In the past year, we paid out over $187 million
in distributions. At the same time, we
continued to build longterm value. The future
value of our contracted margins contained
within our customer book grew by 18%
year over year to $1.2 billion, despite a sharp
decline in the U.S. dollar, and the resulting
reduction in the value of our fastgrowing
U.S. customer book. Consistent with our
track record, Just Energy has again paid out
a substantial yield and, again, built value in
our business.
This value should be recognized by equity
investors, and the conversion of your Fund
should be the catalyst for a fairer valuation
of your unit/share interests.
Thank you for your support.
Yours truly,

(signed)
Rebecca MacDonald
Executive Chair
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO

“Just Energy proved yet again,
that regardless of economic
conditions, weather or currency
movements, your Fund will deliver
growth and predictable income
year in and year out.”
Ken Hartwick
Chief Executive Officer and President

Dear fellow Unitholders:
As Rebecca MacDonald has noted, fiscal
2010 was a year in which Just Energy proved
yet again, that regardless of economic
conditions, weather or currency movements,
your Fund will deliver growth and predictable
income year in and year out.
The most important factor in our success
was the rejuvenation of our sales force.
As noted in past messages, a tight labour
market had seen our force of independent
contractors fall to a low of 400 from almost
580 in 2008. We have renewed our efforts
in recruiting and have successfully
amalgamated the Universal sales force with
ours, leading to a yearend contractor
count of over 1,100, an increase from
800 at the start of fiscal 2010.
The result was a record 505,000 customer
additions through our independent sales
contractors, up 36% from fiscal 2009 and
61% from fiscal 2008. The chart on the
following page shows how Just Energy has
turned around its marketing.

4

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

While adding customers is a vital aspect of
our business, retaining existing customers is
every bit as important. Fiscal 2010 was very
challenging for the Fund. Weak economic
conditions were in place throughout the year
in our key northern U.S. markets. Levels of
home foreclosures remained at record levels,
and we chose to return many customers to
utility system supply because they were
unable to pay their utility bills, often because
of lost employment. The result was a 30%
attrition rate for our U.S. gas customer base,
far above our target of 20%.
Along with our growth in customer
aggregation, came growth in our sale of
JustGreen electricity and gas products.
A total of 39% of our new customers
elected green supply for an average of 81%
of their commodity consumption. While
JustGreen remains a small portion of our
overall book, it is more than doubling each
year. JustGreen contracts are significantly
more profitable than “brown” contracts and
reflect the strong desire of consumers to do
their part to support renewable generation.

Here are some other examples of what our
team delivered in fiscal 2010:
• Increased margin per new customer.

Our fiscal 2010 new customer margin
averaged $208 per year. That is an increase
of 11% over the fiscal 2009 margin of
$187 per year and 22% over the fiscal 2008
margin of $171 per year. Driving this
improvement was the tremendous success
and acceptance of our JustGreen products.
• Managed bad debt expense.

With the recession taking its toll on
customers in those markets where we bear
credit risk, our bad debt losses crept up
above our 2% to 3% target in the third
quarter of fiscal 2010. I am happy to
report that careful screening of our existing
customer base and prudent review of
potential new customers have brought
losses back down to an average of 2.8%
for the year.

CUSTOMERS ADDED THROUGH MARKETING

505,000, up 36% from 2009
(thousands)

505
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Excluding acquired customers (2008 – 29,000; 2009 – 46,000; 2010 – 430,000).

• Built a substantial water heater business.

Just Energy purchased a newly founded,
yet successful, water heater sale and rental
business called National Home Services
(“NHS”). While still in its early stages,
we have gone from an installed base of
1,700 water heaters at yearend last year to
77,000 installed at the end of fiscal 2010.
Combined with a nonrecourse financing
program entered in January, NHS is a
selffunding secondgrowth engine for
Just Energy. We believe tremendous value
is being built in this business.
Despite these positive outcomes, our
distributable cash after gross margin
replacement growth at 2% per unit was
not at the level we expected. While this
growth comfortably supported our
$1.24 annual distribution, it was below
our initial growth expectations. The lower
distributable cash growth resulted from
a combination of economydriven high
attrition, a record warm winter, startup
costs at NHS and Terra Grain Fuels, taxes

paid in the U.S. and for Universal entities,
as well as the decline of the U.S. dollar.
As we approach fiscal 2011, our last
year as an income trust, we are at a
key point in the history of Just Energy.
We have built a solid base in the U.S.
and expect sales and cash flow from that
market will exceed the Canadian market
next year. Our sound base and diverse
footprint has allowed us to smoothly
integrate Universal. The same is expected
with Hudson Energy. We expect other
opportunities to add customers will be
available in years to come.
What Just Energy will deliver
in fiscal 2011
The acquisition of Hudson is the largest yet
taken on by Just Energy. It is too early to say
what the exact impact will be in the first
year of joint operation, but we are confident
that the result will be accretion both in the
first and subsequent years as we accelerate
our growth in the commercial market.

Overall, we are confident that 5% to 10%
growth in distributable cash after margin
replacement on a fully diluted basis
is a reasonable expectation for the coming
year. As always, Just Energy remains a
growth company.
I look forward to seeing as many of you
as possible at our Annual Meeting on
June 29, 2010.
Yours truly,

(signed)
Ken Hartwick
Chief Executive Officer

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

5

BEING A LEADER

Since its inception in 1997, Just Energy has built itself into a multibillion
dollar company and emerged as a leader in the deregulated utility
services market.
Deregulation opened natural gas and electricity markets and as competitors
have come and gone, Just Energy has prospered and grown. We have
regularly expanded into new markets, increased our customer base,
improved gross margins, built up our sales force and added new
product lines – while providing our investors with stable and growing
returns. Today, we are the dominant energy supplier in every region in
which we compete. We are one of the largest competitive retailers of
green energy in North America. We have consolidated Universal Energy
as an accretive acquisition and have just completed a second purchase,
Hudson Energy Services. We are poised for accelerated growth.
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GENERATING GROWTH

Strong operating performance
We have always considered Just Energy a unique
growth company and have the track record to
prove it. Consistent expansion has been achieved
by building our customer base and making
strategic acquisitions.

Seasonally adjusted gross margin increased by
35% (16% per unit), with an 11% increase in
average margin per new customer over fiscal 2009
and a 22% increase over fiscal 2008. This was
largely due to growing sales of our profitable
JustGreen electricity and gas products.

AVERAGE GROSS MARGIN
PER NEW CUSTOMER ADDED

$208
(in dollars per year)
208
171

In 2010, we added a record 505,000 new
customers, a 36% increase over the number
added through marketing in fiscal 2009. A further
430,000 customers came through the Universal
acquisition bringing our net customer increase to
28% year over year. Customer additions remain at
record levels and we are looking at further
geographic expansion in fiscal 2011.
Strong sales performance in the year was in part
offset by continued high attrition in the U.S.,
where the number of home foreclosures and
customers who could no longer pay their utility
bills remained at unprecedented levels. Higher
than targeted attrition has reduced what would
have been otherwise strong customer growth
for the year.

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement
was up 18% (2% per unit) due to our continued
growth, offset by higher taxes, a record warm winter
reducing gas consumption, startup costs at
National Home Services (“NHS”) and Terra Grain Fuels
(“TGF”) as well as the decline of the U.S. dollar.
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Stable investor returns
In fiscal 2010, Just Energy proved once again to be
a resilient engine of growth and income despite
weak economic conditions. We declared a Special
Distribution of $0.20 per unit, over and above our
regular $0.1033 monthly distribution. We also
announced our intent to maintain our current
annual payout of $1.24 per unit as a dividend
following conversion of the income fund to a
corporation in fiscal 2011. Just Energy is one of
the very few trusts in a position to do so.
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BECOMING GREENER

Leading green retailer
Just Energy has become one of the largest
competitive retailers of green electricity in North
America, selling more than 564,000 megawatt
hours (“MWh”) in fiscal 2010 alone. To date, our
JustGreen carbon offset program offset more than
136,000 tonnes of carbon emissions.
While our green energy customers are still a
small proportion of our overall customer base,
JustGreen products make up the fastestgrowing
segment of our business. JustGreen electricity
delivered volumes rose 250% over 2009 and
JustGreen gas delivered volumes were up 285%.
For the year, 39% of new customers elected green
supply, taking on average 81% of their
consumption through JustGreen products.
JustGreen products drive environmentally
responsible energy consumption. The electricity
product gives customers the option to have all or a
portion of their electricity sourced from renewable
sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or
biomass. With the gas product, customers can
purchase carbon offset credits to reduce or
eliminate their carbon footprint.

For Just Energy, the JustGreen product line helps
build strong relationships with customers who
have willingly paid a premium for their commodity
to benefit the environment. JustGreen also
generates higher per customer margins. As well, it
opens new doors, allowing our agents to approach
homes and businesses that would not otherwise
purchase from a doortodoor salesperson.

JUSTGREEN ELECTRICITY

564,000 MWh
(thousands)
564

Green supply
Quality supplier relationships are critical to the
success of our green energy business. In fiscal
2010, we signed a fiveyear agreement with
Iberdrola Renewables, a world leader in wind
power development, to purchase wind power
produced by stateoftheart wind farms in New
York. We also established a partnership with
Integrated Gas Recovery Services (“IGRS”) to offer
consumers in Ontario another way to reduce their
carbon footprint by applying verified emission
offsets from the IGRS landfill gas collection project.
Just Energy will buy 50,000 metric tonnes of
emissions offset per year through 2013 from the
IGRS landfill.

161
19
08
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JUSTGREEN NATURAL GAS

2,732,000 GJ
(thousands)
2,732
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OFFERING NEW PRODUCTS

Water heater sales and rentals
Just Energy aims to be the leader in bringing
innovative energy options to the market. In
addition to green energy products, we recently
added energyefficient home products and
services, offered by our National Home Services
division in Ontario.

consumer interest in energy conservation.
In addition, National Home Services recently
began offering the rental of air conditioners
and furnaces to Ontario residents.

INSTALLED WATER HEATERS

77,000
77,000

Promising start

Just Energy’s water heater business was launched
in fiscal 2009. By yearend 2010, we had already
National Home Services specializes in leasing high
installed 77,000 units, bolstered by the addition
efficiency natural gas water heaters. By renting a
of Universal’s water heater business and sales
water heater, customers get a new water heater that force. While Canadian sales of our core electricity
is usually more energy efficient than their existing
and natural gas products were slow for the year,
unit and they pay one monthly charge for rental and independent contractors were redeployed into the
service. Similar to our core electricity and natural gas National Home Services division.
offerings, the water heater program offers peace of
Recognizing National Home Services as a stable
mind and superior service.
and profitable longterm addition to our product
A growing part of the business is in tankless water portfolio, we entered into a longterm financing
heaters which save energy and reduce costs by
agreement with Home Trust Company in fiscal
heating water only when it is needed. Unlike a
2010. The agreement positions the business for
traditional tankstyle heater, when the demand for rapid growth, as a selffinancing, freestanding unit.
water ceases, the unit shuts down and uses no
energy. Tankless heaters have been the standard in
Europe and Asia for decades and are becoming
more common in North America with rising

1,700
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10

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

9

EXPANDING REACH

Revitalized sales force
Maintaining and growing quality sales and
customer service people is key to the longterm
growth of the company.
Our team of independent sales contractors has
proven that door to door remains at the core of
signing up customers. Our sales people educate
consumers on the benefits of energy deregulation,
inform them of the various energy options
available to them, and ensure that they
understand and feel good about what they are
buying from us. Over the past three years,
we increased the number of sales agents from
a low of 400 in 2008 to more than 1,100 today.
We also invested heavily in training, supporting
and rewarding our independent contractors.
In fiscal 2010, we expanded our customer service
operations, adding over 100 people and opening a
new call centre in Texas, our fastestgrowing
market. In addition to supporting new customers
as they transition to Just Energy, customer service
representatives meet ongoing customer needs and
promote contract renewals. Approximately one
fifth of our customers are up for renewal every
year. Faced with challenging economic conditions,
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we stepped up our efforts to promote renewals in
fiscal 2010, increasing the number of agents making
outbound customer calls and providing innovative
renewal options in light of high fiveyear prices.

INDEPENDENT SALES
CONTRACTOR GROWTH

1,100
1,100

Momentis
In fiscal 2010, Just Energy took the important
step of establishing Momentis. We believe that this
vital, dynamic business channel is well suited for
our industry.
Under the network marketing model, Momentis’
independent representatives earn an initial
commission for enrolling customers with Just Energy
and recurring monthly income for customers
who continue to use our products and services.
Representatives can earn additional money
for mentoring others, and through building and
leading a team.
Management believes that Momentis will be a key
new marketing channel which will not overlap our
existing efforts. While it will take time to build, our
network marketing team is going to be a valued
engine for growth in the future.

800
600

06

560

580
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Chris Domhoff
Chief Executive Officer,
Momentis
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CAPITALIZING ON OPPORTUNITY

Commercial offering

Hudson Energy Services acquisition

U.S. CUSTOMER BASE

Recognizing the growth potential of the
commercial market, Just Energy has made a push
in this area in the past few years. We focus on
select small and midsized businesses who
appreciate the ability to budget easily and plan
their future cash flow.

Subsequent to yearend, we acquired Hudson
Energy Services as a means of accelerating
Just Energy’s growth in the small to midsize
commercial market segment.

799,000

Hudson operates in New York, New Jersey, Illinois
and Texas, and is a leader in sales to small and
We offer these businesses competitive pricing
midsize commercial customers. The company is a
options, the potential for savings when market
strong strategic fit, and will bring Just Energy a
prices rise above their contracted price, and
new segment of the U.S. commercial market that
flexible terms so that they can choose the short
we do not currently serve – that is, customers who
or longterm contract that best meets their needs. do not typically purchase energy contracts through
We have also introduced a blend and extend
direct sales, but rather through the independent
option. If Just Energy’s prices fall below a customer’s broker marketing channel. Hudson also brings
current contracted rate, the customer can blend
leadingedge technology that will enable more
the current contract rate with the new, lower rate efficient selling to commercial customers through
and extend it out for a longer term, to take advantage both direct sales and the broker channel.
of temporary reductions in the market price.
Hudson has had compound customer growth
of 47% per year since 2004. With 680,000 RCEs,
COMMERCIAL CUSTOMER BASE
Hudson almost doubles Just Energy’s commercial
AS OF MARCH 31, 2010
customer base and brings total customers
close to three million. Just Energy surpassed
one million customers in fiscal 2006 and two million
in fiscal 2010.

(thousands)
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773,000
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YOUR FUND’S GOVERNANCE

Officers (from left to right): Darren Pritchett, Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales; Ken Hartwick, Chief Executive Officer and President;
Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair; Scott Gahn, President of Just Energy Group and Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President of
Just Energy Corp., Beth Summers, Chief Financial Officer; and Gord Potter, Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal.

OFFICERS
Rebecca MacDonald

Beth Summers, C.A.

Darren Pritchett

Executive Chair

Chief Financial Officer

Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales

Rebecca MacDonald was a founder of
Just Energy (formerly Energy Savings)
and has held the position of Chair of the
Board since 2001 (“IPO”) and Executive
Chair since 2006. From the Fund’s IPO in
2001 to March 2005, Ms. MacDonald also
held the position of Chief Executive Officer.

Beth Summers joined Just Energy in
February 2009 as Chief Financial Officer.
Prior to this, Ms. Summers was Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of Hydro One Inc.

Darren Pritchett joined Just Energy as
Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales,
in April 2008. Prior to this, Mr. Pritchett ran
a successful direct marketing organization,
contracted by Just Energy.

Scott Gahn

Gord Potter
Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal

Ken Hartwick, C.A.

President of Just Energy Group and Chief
Operating Officer and Executive Vice President
of Just Energy Corp.

Gord Potter joined the Company in June
2003 and currently holds the position
Scott Gahn was appointed to his current
of Executive Vice President, Regulatory and
role in April 2010, and prior to this, held the
Legal. Prior to this, Mr. Potter held
position of Executive Vice President and
the positions of Director, Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer of Just Energy as
Senior Vice President within the Regulatory
well as Executive Vice President of U.S. Energy
department within the time period of
Savings. Prior to this, Mr. Gahn was Chief
June 2003 to April 2009. Before joining
Executive Officer of Just Energy Texas LP.
Just Energy, Mr. Potter was Director, Utility
Relations, at Direct Energy Marketing Limited.

Chief Executive Officer and President

Ken Hartwick joined the company in
April 2004 as Chief Financial Officer, was
promoted to President in 2006 and assumed
the additional position of Chief Executive
Officer in June 2008. Prior to this,
Mr. Hartwick was Chief Financial Officer
of Hydro One Inc.
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As an income fund and as an energy price protection company, Just Energy
is committed to providing stability and peace of mind. To reach these goals –
and remain worthy of the confidence of our Unitholders – we have
established an active Board to guide our operations and make sure that they
are transparent to investors. Our corporate governance meets the recommended
standards established by the Canadian Securities Administrators.
We ensure transparency by clearly communicating our targets for growing our business, describing in detail how we intend
to meet these goals and then reporting on our performance against the targets with equal clarity. Similarly, we build trust by
ensuring that management’s interests are aligned with those of Unitholders. To make sure that management acts in the best
interests of Unitholders, we mandate high unit ownership for all senior managers and align bonuses with strict performance
measurements determined by our Board. Our unit compensation consists of fully paid unit appreciation rights, which are
paid for by employees out of what would have been cash compensation.
Your Board of Directors is made up of the Executive Chair, the Chief Executive Officer and President and seven outside directors
and is monitored by our lead independent director and Vice Chair, Hugh Segal. The Board committees are composed of external
directors only.
Additional details of our governance can be found in the Just Energy 2010 Management Information Circular.

OUTSIDE DIRECTORS
Senator Hugh D. Segal

Ambassador Gordon D. Giffin

Brian R.D. Smith

Member of the Senate of Canada and Senior Fellow,
School of Policy Studies, Queen’s University

Senior Partner, McKenna Long & Aldridge LLP

Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy Consultant

The Honourable Gordon Giffin is a Senior
Partner in the Washington, D.C. and
Atlanta, Georgiabased law firm of
McKenna Long & Aldridge. He has been a
director of Just Energy since 2006. From
1997 to April 2001, Mr. Giffin served as
United States Ambassador to Canada.

Brian Smith is the Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator
and Energy Consultant associated with the
law firm of Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP.
Prior to this, Mr. Smith was the Chair of
British Columbia Hydro, a position he held
from 1996 to June 2001. Mr. Smith has been
a director of Just Energy since 2001.

Senator Michael J.L. Kirby

B. Bruce Gibson

Corporate Director

Principal, Ryan Inc.

The Honourable Michael Kirby is a corporate
director and Chairman of The Mental Health
Commission of Canada. Mr. Kirby was a
member of the Senate of Canada from 1984
to 2006. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Kirby was
Chair of the Standing Committee on Social
Affairs, Science and Technology. Mr. Kirby
has been a director of Just Energy since 2001.

Bruce Gibson was appointed a director of
Just Energy effective January 1, 2010.
Mr. Gibson currently serves as a Principal of
Ryan Inc. and Practice Leader for Ryan,
Public Affairs. Previously, Mr. Gibson served
as Chief of Staff of the Lieutenant Governor
of Texas as well as Senior Vice President of
Reliant Energy. He was also a member of
Texas’ House of Representatives (1981–1991).

The Honourable Hugh Segal was appointed
to the Senate of Canada in August 2005
and is a Senior Research Fellow at McMillan
LLP, a director of SNC Lavalin Inc., Sun Life
Financial Inc. and a member of the Atlantic
Council. He serves as Lead Director and
Vice Chairman and has been a director of
Just Energy since 2001.
John A. Brussa
Partner, Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP

John Brussa is a Partner in the Calgarybased
energy law firm of Burnet, Duckworth &
Palmer, specializing in the area of energy
and taxation. Mr. Brussa has been a director
of Just Energy since 2001. He is also a
director of a number of energy and energy
related corporations and income funds.

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry, Q.C.
Counsel, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry currently
serves as counsel to the national law firm of
Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. Mr. McMurtry
has been a director of Just Energy since 2007.
From February 1996 until May 2007,
Mr. McMurtry was the Chief Justice of Ontario.
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This MD&A ataglance highlights some of the most significant information
found in the management’s discussion and analysis, which follows on page 17.
It is not intended to provide a complete summary of Just Energy’s strategies,
business environment or performance.
HIGHLIGHTS
Added a record 505,000 new customers, a 36%
increase over the number added through marketing
in fiscal 2009
Integrated Universal Energy with its more than
430,000 customers, saving more than $10 million in
annual combined general and administrative costs
Increased seasonally adjusted gross margin by 35%
(16% per unit), with an 11% increase in average
margin per new customer over fiscal 2009

Of all new customers contracted in the year, 39%
took JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs,
electing on average to purchase 81% of their
consumption as green supply
Grew the number of installed water heaters from 1,700
at fiscal yearend 2009 to 77,000 at yearend 2010
Subsequent to yearend, acquired Hudson Energy
Services and its 680,000 customers, 85% of which
are commercial

Customer aggregation
Longterm customers
April 1, 2009

Additions

Acquired

Attrition

Failed to
renew

March 31,
2010

% increase
(decrease)

Natural gas
Canada
United States

743,000
235,000

46,000
171,000

93,000
120,000

(81,000)
(110,000)

(67,000)
(8,000)

734,000
408,000

(1)%
74%

Total gas

978,000

217,000

213,000

(191,000)

(75,000)

1,142,000

17%

Electricity
Canada
United States

578,000
234,000

72,000
216,000

215,000
2,000

(94,000)
(52,000)

(11,000)
(9,000)

760,000
391,000

31%
67%

Total electricity
Combined

812,000

288,000

217,000

(146,000)

(20,000)

1,151,000

42%

1,790,000

505,000

430,000

(337,000)

(95,000)

2,293,000

28%

Gross customer additions through marketing for the year were 505,000, up 36% from the 372,000 customers (excluding 46,000 acquired
customers) added in fiscal 2009. Total net customer additions for the year ended March 31, 2010, were 503,000, up from the 103,000
net customer additions of the previous year. Record additions through marketing were offset by the continuing effects of the weak U.S.
economy resulting in high customer attrition.

Customer margins
During fiscal 2010, we continued
to see the positive impact of
ongoing efforts to maintain
strong margin per customer
during challenging marketing
periods. This table depicts the
higher margins realized on
customers signed in the year.
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Annual gross margin
per customer1

Customers added in the year
Canada – gas
Canada – electricity
United States – gas
United States – electricity
1

Fiscal 2010

$

Annual target
fiscal 2010

175
136
208
229

Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital.
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$

170
143
170
143

GROSS MARGIN
(SEASONALLY ADJUSTED)

DISTRIBUTABLE CASH AFTER GROSS
MARGIN REPLACEMENT (PER UNIT)

$425.9 million
($ millions)

425.9

315.2

$1.78
New customer margins averaged
$208 per year, a 7% increase
over the fiscal 2009 margin of
$187 per year.

($)
1.75 1.78
1.57
1.42

272.2

1.22

230.4
188.6

06

07

08

09

10

06

07

08

09

Distributable cash growth of 2%
per unit reflects margin growth,
offset by higher taxes, a record
warm winter, startup costs at
National Home Services and
Terra Grain Fuels, and the decline
of the U.S. dollar.

10

Just Energy intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the
U.S. through organic growth and focused acquisitions. In addition, Just Energy
is pursuing alternative sales channels to enhance growth in customer additions.

Attrition rates
Natural gas
Canada
United States

10%
30%

Electricity
Canada
United States

13%
16%

Natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for
the year, in line with management’s target.
In the U.S., gas attrition was 30%, above
management’s annual target of 20%,
due to high home foreclosure rates and the
necessary aggressive customer cutoff or
forced return to default services policies
utilized by Just Energy.
Electricity attrition in Canada for the year
was 13%, above management’s 10% target.
Higher than targeted attrition was a function
of the cleanup of the acquired Universal
book of customers which resulted in a
stronger, highermargin book of customers
going forward. Electricity attrition in the U.S.
was 16%, below the 20% target.

Renewal rates
Renewals for Canadian gas customers were
61%. In the Ontario gas market, customers
who do not positively elect to renew or
terminate their contract receive a oneyear
fixed price for the ensuing year. Of the total

Canadian gas customers renewed in fiscal
2010, 16% were renewed for a oneyear
term. Canadian gas was the only market in
which renewals lagged the 2010 target of
70%. This was a result of the high spread
between the Just Energy fiveyear price and
the utility spot price.
The electricity renewal rate for Canadian
customers was 73%. In the Ontario
electricity market, there is no opportunity
to renew a residential or small volume
customer for a oneyear term should the
customer fail to positively renew or terminate
his or her contract. There has been solid
takeup of JustGreen products within
Canadian electricity renewals leading to
higherthantarget renewal rates.

Outlook
Management believes that Just Energy will
again grow its key operating measures
during fiscal 2011. Growth expectations are
predicated on some recovery in the U.S.
economy, although not to prerecession
levels. The addition of Hudson Energy
Services, which closed on May 7, 2010,
will be accretive to Just Energy’s growth
on a fully diluted per unit basis, although
this growth will be offset to a degree
by onetime transition costs.

Distributable cash after gross margin
replacement on a fully diluted basis is
expected to grow by approximately 5% to
10%, including the acquisition of Hudson.
Although currently a small component of the
overall customer book, continued strong
sales of JustGreen products will improve the
economics of Just Energy as green customers
generate higher per customer margins than
past fiveyear fixedrate customers.
Just Energy intends to continue its
geographic expansion into new markets in
the U.S. through organic growth and
focused acquisitions. In addition, Just Energy
is pursuing alternative sales channels to
enhance growth in customer additions.
Just Energy Income Fund has announced
plans to reorganize its income trust structure
into a highdividendpaying corporation.
Upon completion, the Board intends to
implement a policy where the annual
dividend will initially be set at $1.24 per unit,
equal to the current distributions paid to
Just Energy Unitholders.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) – MAY 19, 2010
Overview
The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Income Fund (“Just Energy”
or the “Fund”) for the year ended March 31, 2010, and has been prepared with all information available up to and including May 19, 2010.
This analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2010. The
financial information contained herein has been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”).
All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual report and supplementary information can be found under
“reports and filings” on our corporate website at www.justenergy.com. Additional information can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Just Energy is an openended, limitedpurpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to
distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario L.P. (“JE Ontario”),
Just Energy Manitoba L.P. (“JE Manitoba”), Just Energy Quebec L.P. (“JE Quebec”), Just Energy (B.C.) Limited Partnership (“JE B.C.”),
Just Energy Alberta L.P. (“JE Alberta”), Alberta Energy Savings L.P. (“AESLP”), Just Energy Illinois Corp. (“JEIC”), Just Energy New York Corp.
(“JENYC”), Just Energy Indiana Corp. (“JE Indiana”), Just Energy Texas L.P. (“JE Texas”), Just Energy Exchange Corp. (“JEEC”), Universal
Energy Corp. (“UEC”), Universal Gas and Electric Corporation (“UG&E”), Commerce Energy, Inc. (“Commerce”), National Energy Corp.
(“NEC”) operating under the trade name of National Home Services (“NHS”), and Terra Grain Fuels Inc. (“TGF”), collectively, the
“Just Energy Group”.
Just Energy’s business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under longterm
fixedprice and priceprotected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixedprice or priceprotected program
contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities.
Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the fixed price at which it is
able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers. In addition,
through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters. TGF, an ethanol producer, operates an ethanol facility in
Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. Subsequent to yearend, Just Energy acquired Hudson Energy Services, LLC (“Hudson”), a marketer of natural
gas and electricity who sells primarily to commercial customers in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas.
The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program, formerly known as the Green Energy Option or “GEO”. The electricity
JustGreen product offers customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as
wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits, which will allow customers to reduce or
eliminate the carbon footprint of their home or business. Management believes that these new products will not only add to profits but will
also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates.

Forwardlooking information
This MD&A contains certain forwardlooking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption levels,
distributable cash and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current expectations that involve a
number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ from those anticipated. These risks include, but are not limited
to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, rates of customer additions and renewals, fluctuations in natural gas and
electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes and decisions by regulatory authorities, competition and dependence on certain suppliers.
Additional information on these and other factors that could affect the Fund’s operations, financial results or distribution levels are included
in the Fund’s Annual Information Form and other reports on file with Canadian security regulatory authorities which can be accessed on our
corporate website at www.justenergy.com or through the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com.

Key terms
“Attrition” means customers whose contracts were terminated primarily due to relocation or death, or cancelled by Just Energy due to
delinquent accounts.
“Delivered volume” represents the actual volume of gas or electricity provided on behalf of customers to the LDCs for the period.
“Failed to renew” means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term.
“Gross margin per RCE” represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy’s customer base, including both low margin customers
acquired through various acquisitions and gains/losses from the sale of excess commodity supply.
“LDC” means a local distribution company, the natural gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined geographic area.
“RCE” means residential customer equivalent or the “customer”, which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as
regards natural gas, 2,815 m3 (or 106 GJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity,
10 MWh (or 10,000 kWh) of electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas and electricity, respectively,
used by a typical household in Ontario.
JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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NonGAAP financial measures
All nonGAAP financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to
similar measures presented by other issuers.
Seasonally adjusted sales and seasonally adjusted gross margin
Management believes the best basis for analyzing both the Fund’s results and the amount available for distribution is to focus on amounts
actually received (“seasonally adjusted”) because this figure provides the margin earned on all deliveries to the utilities. Seasonally adjusted
sales and gross margin are not defined performance measures under Canadian GAAP. Seasonally adjusted analysis applies solely to the gas
markets and specifically to Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan.
No seasonal adjustment is required for electricity as the supply is balanced daily. In the other gas markets, payments for supply by the LDCs
are aligned with customer consumption.
Cash Available for Distribution
“Distributable cash after marketing expense” refers to the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders. Seasonally adjusted gross
margin is the principal contributor to Cash Available for Distribution. Distributable cash is calculated by the Fund as seasonally adjusted
gross margin, adjusted for cash items including general and administrative expenses, marketing expenses, bad debt expense, interest
expense, corporate taxes, capital taxes and other items. This nonGAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds.
“Distributable cash after gross margin replacement” represents the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders as defined above.
However, only the marketing expenses associated with maintaining the Fund’s gross margin at a stable level equal to that in place at the
beginning of the period are deducted. Management believes that this is more representative of the ongoing operating performance of the
Fund because it includes all expenditures necessary for the retention of existing customers and the addition of new margin to replace those
of customers that have not been renewed. This nonGAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds.
For reconciliation to cash from operating activities, please refer to the “Cash Available for Distribution and distributions” analysis on page 22.
EBITDA
“EBITDA” represents earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. This is a nonGAAP measure which reflects the pretax
profitability of the business.
Adjusted net income (loss)
“Adjusted net income (loss)” represents the net income (loss) excluding the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arising from derivative
financial instruments on our future supply. Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixedprice supply
contracts. In accordance with GAAP, the associated customer contracts are not marked to market, but there is a requirement to mark to
market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains (losses) that are not offset by the related customer gains (losses).
Management believes that these shortterm mark to market noncash gains (losses) do not impact the longterm financial performance of
the Fund. The related future supply has been sold under longterm customer contracts at fixed prices; therefore, the annual movement in
the theoretical value of this future supply is not an appropriate measure of current or future operating performance.
Embedded gross margin
Embedded gross margin is a rolling fiveyear measure of management’s estimate of future contracted gross margin. It is the difference
between existing customer contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of term, with appropriate assumptions for customer
attrition and renewals. It is assumed that expiring contracts will be renewed at target margin and renewal rates.
Standardized Distributable Cash
Standardized Distributable Cash is a nonGAAP measure developed to provide a consistent and comparable measurement of distributable
cash across entities and is defined as cash flows from operating activities, as reported in accordance with GAAP, less an adjustment for total
capital expenditures as reported in accordance with GAAP and restrictions on distributions arising from compliance with financial covenants
restrictive at the date of the calculation of Standardized Distributable Cash.
For reconciliation to cash from operating activities, please refer to the “Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution”
analysis on page 24.
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Financial highlights
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars except where indicated and per unit amounts)
Fiscal 2010
$

Sales
2,299,231
Net income (loss)1
231,496
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)2
425,882
Distributable cash
After gross margin replacement
230,000
After marketing expense
197,033
Distributions (including Special Distribution)6 187,418
Distributions (excluding Special Distribution) 160,722
General and administrative
88,423
Distributable cash payout ratio
(including Special Distribution)
After gross margin replacement
81%
After marketing expense
95%
Distributable cash payout ratio3
(excluding Special Distribution)
After gross margin replacement
70%
After marketing expense
82%

Per unit4

Per unit
change4

Fiscal 2009
Per unit4

$

$ 17.77
$ 1.79
$ 3.29

4% 1,899,213 $ 17.03
NMF5 (1,107,473) $ (10.03)
16%
315,193 $ 2.83

$
$
$
$
$

2%
0%
4%
0%
28%

1.78
1.52
1.45
1.24
0.68

195,520
169,353
156,604
138,030
59,586

$
$
$
$
$

Fiscal 2008

Per unit
change4

1.75
1.52
1.40
1.24
0.53

9% 1,738,690
NMF5
152,761
16%
272,180
15%
11%
(10)%
7%
15%

Per unit4

$

169,997
152,834
173,531
128,840
51,638

80%
92%

102%
114%

71%
82%

76%
84%

$ 16.04
$ 1.41
$ 2.51
$
$
$
$
$

1.57
1.41
1.60
1.19
0.48

1

Net income (loss) includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses) which represent the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future
customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices minimizing any impact of quarterend mark to market gains and losses.

2

See discussion of nonGAAP financial measures on page 18.

3

Management targets an annual payout ratio after all marketing expenses, excluding any Special Distribution, of less than 100%.

4

The per unit calculation reflects a fully diluted basis. Year over year change is calculated on a per unit basis. The diluted weighted average number of units is
129.4 million for fiscal 2010, 111.5 million for fiscal 2009 and 108.4 million for fiscal 2008, with the exception of net income for fiscal 2009 which was
calculated using an antidilutive unit figure of 110.5 million.

5

Not a meaningful number.

6

In calendar 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Fund underdistributed its taxable income and the Board of Directors concluded that a Special Distribution be paid to
ensure that all taxable income would be distributed. Refer to “Special Distribution” on page 35 for further information.

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to adjusted net income
Fiscal 2010

Fiscal 2009

Fiscal 2008

Net income (loss)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Tax impact on change in fair value of derivative instruments

$

231,496
1,282
(47,511)

$(1,107,473)
1,336,976
(59,574)

$

152,761
831
3,130

Adjusted net income

$

185,267

$

$

156,722

169,929
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Acquisition of Universal Energy Group
On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group Ltd. (“UEG” or
“Universal”) pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement”). Under the Arrangement, UEG shareholders received 0.58 of an
exchangeable share (“Exchangeable Share”) of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy, for each UEG common share held. In aggregate,
21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable Share is exchangeable for a trust unit on a
oneforone basis at any time at the option of the holder and entitles the holder to a monthly dividend equal to 66 2⁄3% of the monthly
distribution and/or Special Distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust unit. JEEC also assumed all the covenants and obligations of UEG in
respect of UEG’s outstanding 6% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the “Debentures”). On conversion of the Debentures,
holders will be entitled to receive 0.58 of an Exchangeable Share in lieu of each UEG common share that the holder was previously entitled
to receive on conversion.
The acquisition of UEG was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to the
identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows (thousands of dollars):
Net assets acquired:
Working capital (including cash of $10,319)
Electricity contracts and customer relationships
Gas contracts and customer relationships
Water heater contracts and customer relationships
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Future tax liabilities
Other liabilities – current
Other liabilities – longterm
Longterm debt
Noncontrolling interest

$

74,314
229,586
243,346
22,700
2,721
66,794
171,693
(50,475)
(164,148)
(140,857)
(183,079)
(22,697)

$
Consideration:
Transaction costs
Exchangeable Shares

249,898

$

9,952
239,946
$

249,898

All contracts, customer relationships and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas
and electricity contracts, including customer relationships, acquired are amortized over periods ranging from eight to 57 months. The water
heater contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 174 months and the other intangible assets are amortized over six months.
The noncontrolling interest represents 33.3% ownership of TGF held by Ellis Don Corporation. The purchase price allocation is considered
preliminary and as a result may be adjusted during the 12month period following the acquisition.

Operations
Gas
In each of the markets that Just Energy operates, it is required to deliver gas to the LDCs for its customers throughout the year. Gas customers
are charged a fixed price for the full term of their contract. Just Energy purchases gas supply in advance of marketing for residential customers
and generally, concurrently, with the execution of a contract for commercial customers. The LDC provides historical customer usage to enable
Just Energy to purchase an approximation of estimated supply. Furthermore, in many markets, Just Energy mitigates exposure to customer
usage by purchasing options that cover potential differences in customer consumption due to weather variations. The cost of this strategy is
incorporated in the price to the customer. To the extent that balancing requirements are outside the options purchased, Just Energy bears the
financial responsibility for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. Excess supply is sold in
the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average cost of supply. In the case of greater than expected gas
consumption, Just Energy must purchase the short supply at the market price, which may reduce or increase the customer gross margin
typically realized. Under some commercial contract terms, this balancing may be passed on to the customer.
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Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan
In Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year.
Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at a rate
which is greater than delivery and in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumption. Just Energy receives cash from
the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year.
Manitoba and Alberta
In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month; therefore, the amount of gas
delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from customers and LDCs will be
higher in the winter months.
New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California
In New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption and storage
requirements for each month. Therefore, the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months.
Consequently, cash flow received from these states is normally greatest during the third and fourth (winter) quarter as cash is received from
the LDCs in the same period as customer consumption.
Electricity
Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Michigan and California
Just Energy does not bear the risk for variations in residential customer consumption in any of the electricity markets in which it operates
other than for certain customers in Texas and Alberta and the customers acquired in the Universal acquisition (customers located in
Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Michigan and California). In Ontario and New York, Just Energy provides customers with price protection
for the majority of their electricity requirements. The customers experience either a small balancing charge or credit on each bill due to
fluctuations in prices applicable to their volume requirements not covered by a fixed price. To the extent possible given the competitive nature
and market knowledge of customers, future offerings for Texas customers will be a load balanced product, and Just Energy will not bear the
risk for variations in customer consumption.
Cash flow from electricity operations is greatest during the second and fourth quarters (summer and winter), as electricity consumption is
typically highest during these periods.
Home services division
NEC began operations in April 2008 and operates under the trade name of National Home Services (“NHS”). Newten Home Comfort L.P.
(“NHCLP”), a partnership between Just Energy and Newten Home Comfort Inc., an arm’s length third party holding 20% of the partnership,
commenced providing Ontario residential customers with a longterm water heater rental program in the summer of 2008. The products
offered included high efficiency conventional and power vented tanks and tankless water heaters. On July 2, 2009, NEC, a wholly owned
home services subsidiary of UEG, acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc. Accordingly, NHCLP became a wholly owned subsidiary of Just Energy.
On September 30, 2009, NEC acquired substantially all of the assets of NHCLP, including all of NHCLP’s customer water heater rental
agreements. NHCLP and Newten Home Comfort Inc. were subsequently wound up. NEC began offering the rental of air conditioners and
furnaces to Ontario residents in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. See page 32 for additional information on NHS.
Ethanol division
Just Energy also owns a 66.7% interest in TGF, a 150millionlitre capacity wheatbased ethanol plant located in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan.
The plant produces wheatbased ethanol and high protein distillers dried grain (“DDG”). See page 33 for additional information on TGF.
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Cash Available for Distribution and distributions
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts)
Fiscal 2010

Reconciliation to statements of cash flow
Cash inflow from operations
$
Add:
Increase (decrease) in noncash working capital
Tax adjustments
Cash Available for Distribution
Cash Available for Distribution
Gross margin per financial statements
Adjustments required to reflect net cash
receipts from gas sales
Seasonally adjusted gross margin

158,273

Fiscal 2009

$

35,523
3,237

$

197,033

$

415,333

$

425,882

Per unit

172,767

Fiscal 2008

$

(6,181)
2,767
$

$

3.21

$

10,549

Less:
General and administrative
Capital tax expense
Bad debt expense
Income tax recovery (expense)
Interest expense
Other items

$

$

2.90

$

(7,623)
$

3.29

$

315,193

136,007
11,879
4,948

169,353

322,816

Per unit

152,834

274,800

$

2.53

$

2.51

(2,620)
$

2.83

$

272,180

(88,423)
(522)
(17,940)
(18,517)
(16,134)
8,447

(59,586)
(220)
(13,887)
(3,861)
(3,857)
3,664

(51,638)
(827)
(6,951)
757
(5,346)
780

(133,089)

(77,747)

(63,225)

Distributable cash before marketing expenses
Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin

292,793
(62,793)

$

2.27

237,446
(41,926)

$

2.13

208,955
(38,958)

$

1.93

Distributable cash after gross
margin replacement
Marketing expenses to add new gross margin

230,000
(32,967)

$

1.78

195,520
(26,167)

$

1.75

169,997
(17,163)

$

1.57

197,033

$

1.52

169,353

$

1.52

152,834

$

1.41

$

1.60

$

1.19

Cash Available for Distribution

$

Distributions (includes Special Distribution)
Unitholder distributions
$
Class A preference share distributions
Unit appreciation rights and deferred
unit grants distributions
Total distributions

$

Distributions (excludes Special Distribution)
Unitholder distributions
$
Class A preference share distributions
Unit appreciation rights and deferred
unit grants distributions
Total distributions
Diluted average number of units outstanding
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Per unit
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$

177,733
7,579

$

$

2,106
187,418

$

1,545
$

1.45

152,386
6,526

$

$

1,810
160,722

147,399
7,660

$

156,604

1,321
$

1.40

129,872
6,791

$

$

1,367
$

1.24
129.4m

$

138,030

158,511
13,699

173,531

117,720
10,130
990

$

1.24
111.5m

$

128,840

108.4m

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Distributable cash
Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the current year ended March 31, 2010, was $230.0 million ($1.78 per unit), up
18% from $195.5 million ($1.75 per unit) in fiscal 2009. The growth reflects a 35% increase in seasonally adjusted gross margin. Factors
contributing to margin growth include a 28% year over year increase in total customers, which was a result of a record 505,000 new
customer additions and 430,000 acquired customers from Universal. Increased distributable cash was the result of the acquired Universal
customers, higher margin per customer due to opportunistic pricing, and continued strong acceptance of the JustGreen product as well as
improved supply management, particularly in Texas. This growth was offset by a 4% year over year decline in the U.S. dollar, higher income
taxes and interest expenses. On a per unit basis (reflecting the additional units issued to acquire Universal), distributable cash after gross
margin replacement was up 2% and seasonally adjusted gross margin increased by 16%, reflecting higher gross margin per customer offset
by the anticipated drop in margin from customers acquired from Universal that were not expected to renew as well as nonrecurring costs
of the Universal merger. The largest contributor in the disparity between distributable cash and gross margin growth was an increase in
general and administrative costs versus fiscal 2009 due to the inclusion of costs associated with the startup phase at TGF and NHS. These
businesses did not generate distributable cash in fiscal 2010 but added $14.9 million to general and administrative costs. Both businesses
are expected to contribute to distributable cash in fiscal 2011.
The fiscal 2010 costs reflect general and administrative levels which do not reflect the full synergies that will be realized in the Universal
acquisition. Management initially estimated that these savings would be $10 million per year and actual savings will exceed this amount.
The benefit will be reflected in lower general and administrative cost growth in future years.
In addition, higher general and administrative costs reflect increased staffing expenses to support future growth, increased collection costs and
professional fee expenditures on review of potential acquisitions and the Fund’s conversion plan, International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) and other corporate development activities. Bad debt expense increased in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 primarily due to the
higher volumes in those markets where the Fund bears the credit risk as well as continued weak economic conditions in the U.S. markets.
Income tax expense was up in fiscal 2010 due to the Universal entities and tax liabilities in the U.S. In the distributable cash calculation, a
current tax provision of $0.7 million has been deducted as it relates to a reserve amount which, in management’s view, will not likely be paid
in the next year. Interest expense also increased by $12.3 million over the prior year due to the Universal debentures and TGF credit facilities.
Just Energy spent $62.8 million in marketing expenses to maintain its current level of gross margin, which represents 66% of the total
marketing expense for the year. A further $33.0 million was spent to generate gross margin growth in future years, which, combined with
expenditures to maintain gross margin, resulted in a record 505,000 gross RCE additions and 73,000 net RCE additions in the current year.
Management’s estimate of the future embedded gross margin is as follows:
(in millions of dollars)
March 31,
2010

March 31,
2009

Increase

Canada (CAD$)
United States (US$)

$

783.1
414.6

$

697.1
278.5

12%
49%

Total (CAD$)

$

1,204.3

$

1,020.3

18%

Excluding the Special Distribution, the payout ratio after deduction of all marketing expenses for the current year was 82% for the current
and prior year.
For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to “Sales and gross margin – Seasonally adjusted” on page 28 and
“General and administrative expenses”, “Marketing expenses”, “Bad debt expense” and “Interest expense” are further clarified on
pages 34 to 35.

Discussion of distributions
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
Fiscal 2010
1

Cash flow from operations (A)
Net income (loss) (B)
Total distributions2 (C)
Excess (shortfall) of cash flows from operating activities over
distributions paid (A–C)
Excess (shortfall) of net income over distributions paid (B–C)

$

158,273
231,496
187,418
(29,145)
44,078

1

Includes noncash working capital balances.

2

Includes Special Distributions of $26.7 million in fiscal 2010, $18.6 million in fiscal 2009 and $44.7 million in fiscal 2008.

Fiscal 2009

$

172,767
(1,107,473)
156,604
16,163
(1,264,077)

Fiscal 2008

$

136,007
152,761
173,531
(37,524)
(20,770)
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Net income (loss) includes noncash gains and losses associated with the changes in the current market value of Just Energy’s derivative
instruments. These instruments form part of the Fund’s requirement to purchase commodity according to estimated demand and, as
such, changes in value do not impact the distribution policy or the longterm financial performance of the Fund. Effective July 1, 2008,
Just Energy elected to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting and all gains and losses on derivative instruments have been recorded
in the change in fair value of derivative instruments.
The change in fair value associated with these derivatives included in the net income for the 2010 fiscal year was a loss of $1.3 million
versus a loss of $1.3 billion last year. In fiscal 2009, Just Energy moved away from hedge accounting during a time of significant commodity
market price movement; the combination of these events resulted in a $1.3 billion loss reported in the statement of profit and loss. In fiscal
2010, there was no change in policy and although there has been volatility in commodity prices during the year, the year over year change
in these prices was not nearly as significant to the portfolio. In fiscal 2008, the change in fair value for the year was $76.9 million, of which
$0.8 million was reported in the Statement of Operations. The remaining amount was reported in the statement of comprehensive income.
The Fund has, in the past, paid out distributions that were higher than both financial statement net income and operating cash flow. In the
view of management, distributable cash, the nonGAAP measure, is an appropriate measure of the Fund’s ability to distribute funds, as the
cost of carrying incremental working capital necessary for the growth of the business has been deducted in the distributable cash calculation.
Further, investment in the addition of new customers intended to increase cash flow is expensed in the financial statements while the original
customer base was capitalized. Capital expenses at NEC are related to the growth of productive capacity of that business in that the capital
cost will be more than offset by the rental contract margins in future periods. NEC has reached a new agreement with Home Trust Company
to separately finance its water heaters. See page 39 for further discussion on this financing. In addition, the capital expenditures for TGF are
funded through its credit facility and debt instruments. Management believes that the current $1.24 per unit annual level of distributions is
sustainable in the foreseeable future both as a trust and, subsequently, as a dividend following conversion to a corporate structure.
The timing differences between distributions and cash flow from operations created by the cost of carrying incremental working capital due
to business seasonality and expansion are funded by the operating credit facility.

Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts)
Fiscal 2010

Reconciliation to statements of cash flow
Cash inflow from operations
Capital expenditures1

$

Standardized Distributable Cash
Adjustments to Standardized Distributable Cash
Change in noncash working capital2
Tax adjustments3
Capital expenditures1
Cash Available for Distribution
Standardized Distributable Cash – per unit basic
Standardized Distributable Cash – per unit diluted
Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash (includes Special Distribution)4
Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash (excludes Special Distribution)
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$

158,273
(41,207)

Fiscal 2009

$

172,767
(6,345)

Fiscal 2008

$

136,007
(7,842)

117,066

166,422

128,165

35,523
3,237
41,207

(6,181)
2,767
6,345

11,879
4,948
7,842

197,033
0.91
0.90
160%
137%

$

169,353
1.51
1.49
94%
83%

$

152,834
1.19
1.18
135%
100%

1

Capital expenditures incurred in the year were effectively funded out of the credit facility. The vast majority of capital expenditures relate to the purchase of
water heaters for subsequent rental. These expenditures expand the productive capacity of the business. Effective January 2010, water heater capital purchases
are now financed through a separate financing secured by the water heaters and associated contracts.

2

Change in noncash working capital is excluded from the calculation of Cash Available for Distribution as the Fund has a $250.0 million credit facility which is
available for use to fund working capital requirements. This eliminates the potential impact of timing distortions relating to the respective items.

3

The amount includes payments to the holders of Class A preference shares and is equivalent to distributions. The number of Class A preference shares
outstanding is included in the denominator of any per unit calculation. Also includes a current tax provision amount of $0.7 million related to a reserve that will
not likely be paid in the next fiscal year.

4

The Special Distribution relating to calendar 2009, 2008 and 2007 has increased the payout ratios for both comparable periods. Refer to “Special Distribution”
on page 35 for further details.
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In accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) July 2007 interpretive release, Standardized Distributable Cash
in Income Trusts and Other FlowThrough Entities, the Fund has presented the distributable cash calculation to conform to this guidance. In
summary, for the purposes of the Fund, Standardized Distributable Cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating activities,
including the effects of changes in noncash working capital less total capital expenditures as reported in the GAAP financial statements.

Financing strategy
The Fund’s $250.0 million credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Fund’s shortterm working capital and capital expenditure
requirements for the gas and electricity businesses. As part of the acquisition of Universal, additional credit facilities and debt were recorded
and are explained further on page 38. Working capital requirements can vary widely due to seasonal fluctuations and planned U.S.related
growth. In the long term, the Fund may be required to access the equity or debt markets in order to fund significant acquisitions. NEC has
reached a new agreement with Home Trust Company to separately finance its water heaters. See page 39 for further discussion on this
financing. TGF has a separate credit facility, debenture and a term loan for their funding requirements which are detailed on page 38.

Productive capacity
Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under longterm, fixedprice
and priceprotected contracts. In addition, through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters. TGF, an ethanol
producer, operates an ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. As such, the Fund’s productive capacity is determined by the gross
margin earned from the contract price and the related supply cost on energy contracts. Also included would be the gross margin earned on
water heater rentals and ethanol sales after deducting productionrelated costs.
The productive capacity of Just Energy is achieved through the retention of existing customers and the addition of new customers to replace
those that have not been renewed. The productive capacity is maintained and grows through independent contractors, call centre renewal
efforts, Internet marketing and various mail campaigns. The Fund has entered into an agreement with Momentis Canada Corporation and
Momentis U.S. Corporation under which their independent representatives will market natural gas and electricity contracts on behalf of
Just Energy. Management believes that this arrangement will further expand the productive capacity of the energy business.
Effectively all of the marketing costs related to energy customer contracts are expensed immediately but fall into two categories. The first
represents marketing expenses to maintain gross margin at preexisting levels, and by definition, maintain productive capacity. The second
category is marketing expenditures to add new margin, which therefore expands productive capacity.
The vast majority of capital expenditures incurred by Just Energy relate to the purchase of water heaters which are subsequently rented on a
longterm basis under customer contracts. These capital expenditures are funded by nonrecourse borrowings which have as security the
water heaters and the contracts. As such, these capital expenditures increase the productive capacity of the Fund.

Selected consolidated financial data
(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts)
The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and are expressed in Canadian dollars.
The following table provides selected financial information for the last three fiscal years.
Statements of operations data
For the years ended March 31
2010

Sales (seasonally adjusted)
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per unit – basic
Net income (loss) per unit – diluted

$ 2,344,172
425,882
231,496
1.81
1.79

2009

$ 1,888,733
315,193
(1,107,473)
(10.03)
(10.03)

2008

$ 1,730,605
272,180
152,761
1.42
1.41

Balance sheet data
As at March 31
2010

Total assets
Longterm liabilities

$ 1,353,095
824,393

2009

$

535,755
480,602

2008

$

709,115
246,248
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2010 compared with 2009
Sales increased by 24% in fiscal 2010 due to a 28% net increase in customers as a result of record new additions and the acquisition of
Universal. On July 1, 2009, the Fund completed the acquisition of 430,000 Universal customers in consideration for JEEC Exchangeable
Shares valued at $239.9 million. For further information on the acquisition, see page 20. Seasonally adjusted gross margin increased to
$425.9 million, or 35%, over fiscal 2009 due to higher margin per customer, continued strong acceptance of the JustGreen product as well
as improved supply management.
The change in net income relates primarily to the change in fair value of the derivative instruments, which has improved substantially from
the $1.3 billion loss recorded last year. Also, an increase in the income tax recovery of $42.8 million relates to the Fund’s conversion to a
taxable Canadian corporation in late calendar 2010 and the future tax benefits of the mark to market losses expected to be realized post
conversion. This increase is partially offset by higher current tax provision related to the Universal entities.
Total assets increased by 153% to $1.4 billion in fiscal 2010. The largest components of this change relate to the property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and goodwill recorded as part of the Universal acquisition. The TGF ethanol plant was acquired totalling over
$155.2 million in capital assets on July 1, 2009. Also, future income tax assets of $114.3 million have been recorded related primarily to the
conversion of the Fund expected to happen late in calendar 2010.
Total longterm liabilities of $824.4 million represent a 72% increase over the prior fiscal year. On July 1, 2009, in connection with the
acquisition of UEG, Just Energy increased its credit facility from $170.0 million to $250.0 million. Also, as part of the Universal acquisition,
the Fund acquired the debt obligations of TGF which comprises three separate facilities noted on page 38. Longterm liabilities have also
increased in fiscal 2010 primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of our derivative instruments.
2009 compared with 2008
The increase in sales and gross margin is primarily a result of the increase in the customer base, mainly in Texas and New York, and improved
contract prices. In addition, on August 14, 2008, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer contracts
(46,000 RCEs) of CEG Energy Options Inc. (“CEG”) in British Columbia which contributed to Canadian sales and margin.
The change in net income from a gain of $152.8 million to a loss of $1.1 billion relates primarily to the $1.3 billion loss representing the
change in fair value of the derivative instruments. These instruments reflect the Fund’s requirement to purchase commodity according to
estimated demand and, as such, changes in value do not impact the longterm financial performance of the Fund. Effective July 1, 2008,
Just Energy elected to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting, and all gains and losses on derivative instruments have been recorded
in “Change in fair value of derivative instruments” on the Statement of Operations. In fiscal 2008, Just Energy had elected to use hedge
accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair value predominantly to other comprehensive income.
The increase in gross margin is due to an increase in number of customers and higher gross margin per customer. This was offset by
increases in general and administrative costs, bad debt expenses and marketing expenses. General and administrative expenses increases
were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to support our current and future growth, U.S. exchange rates, impact on U.S. dollar
denominated costs, an increase in collection costs, full year rent for our new customer service call centre and legal fees with respect to
business operations in the U.S. Bad debt costs increased primarily due to the large increase in total revenues for the year in the markets
where Just Energy assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections. In addition, the increase in the U.S. exchange rate and higher default
rates noted in the U.S. markets due to the recessionary conditions led to higher bad debt expense this fiscal year. During fiscal 2008,
improved collection procedures had resulted in a significant excess reserve for bad debt, which was released in that fiscal year lowering the
bad debt expense. Marketing costs were up due to the impact of the growth in customer additions, higher U.S. exchange on our U.S.
based marketing costs and increased recruiting and corporate marketing overhead required to build our commercial sales team.
Total assets decreased by 24% primarily as a result of the change in the other assets – long term. There had been a significant drop in the
forward gas and power prices related to our derivative instruments noted above. As a result, far more commodity contracts with
counterparties would have resulted in a gain in the prior year, if sold on the open market. In fiscal 2009, the situation is the opposite
whereby there are far more contracts with counterparties that would result in a loss if sold on the open market. Therefore, the other assets –
long term amount has decreased and the other liabilities – long term amount has increased. Longterm liabilities increased in fiscal 2009
primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of our derivative instruments explained above.
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Summary of quarterly results
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts)
Fiscal 2010

Q1

Sales (seasonally adjusted)
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)
General and administrative expense
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per unit – basic
Net income (loss) per unit – diluted
Amount available for distribution
After gross margin replacement
After marketing expense
Payout ratio1
After gross margin replacement
After marketing expense

$

Fiscal 2009

Sales (seasonally adjusted)
Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)
General and administrative expense
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per unit – basic
Net income (loss) per unit – diluted
Amount available for distribution
After gross margin replacement
After marketing expense
Payout ratio1
After gross margin replacement
After marketing expense
1

432,565
74,769
15,617
102,627
0.92
0.91

Q2

$

42,219
36,087

52,303
41,345

83%
97%

82%
104%

Q1

$

562,133
107,519
25,634
110,690
0.83
0.82

401,826
59,703
13,447
34,232
0.31
0.31

Q3

$

386,158
61,793
13,236
(923,990)
(8.33)
(8.33)

31,046
30,282

34,755
28,394

108%
111%

100%
122%

Q4

$

69,455
61,242
98%1
111%1

Q2

$

654,686
121,722
24,767
97,390
0.73
0.73

Q3

$

510,801
87,554
14,753
(49,094)
(0.44)
(0.44)
57,475
48,162
93%1
111%1

694,788
121,872
22,405
(79,211)
(0.59)
(0.59)
66,023
58,359

230,000
197,033

63%
71%

81%
95%

Q4

$

Total

$ 2,344,172
425,882
88,423
231,496
1.81
1.79

Total

589,948
106,143
18,150
(168,621)
(1.57)
(1.57)

$ 1,888,733
315,193
59,586
(1,107,473)
(10.03)
(10.03)

72,244
62,515

195,520
169,353

48%
56%

80%
92%

Includes a onetime Special Distribution of $26.7 million in fiscal 2010 and $18.6 million in fiscal 2009.

The Fund’s results reflect seasonality as consumption is greatest during the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). While year over year
quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially. The main impact of this will be higher distributable cash with a
lower payout ratio in the third and fourth quarters and lower distributable cash with a higher payout ratio in the first and second quarters
excluding any Special Distribution.
Analysis of the fourth quarter
Sales are typically higher in the third and fourth quarters because gas and electricity consumption are both high during this time period.
The overall customer base is currently 50% gas and 50% electricity. The fourth quarter increase in seasonally adjusted sales of 18%
compared to the prior year comparable quarter is primarily attributable to record customer additions through marketing (particularly in the
United States) and the acquisition of Universal. Seasonally adjusted gross margin increased by 15%, or $15.7 million, in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2010 as compared to the same period last year. Total customers were up 54% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 versus the same
period last year. However, the growth of both sales and margin was dampened by a 21% decline in the U.S. dollar quarter over quarter. In
the quarter, 42% of Just Energy’s sales and 51% of margin were from the United States. The distributable cash after customer gross margin
replacement was $66.0 million, down 9% from $72.2 million in the prior comparable quarter. The increase in gross margin from customers
acquired with Universal, net customer additions through marketing and higher per customer margins were more than offset by the gas
consumption effects of a record warm winter in Just Energy’s key gas markets. The fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 was over 15% warmer in
Canada and 5% warmer in the U.S. than fiscal 2009. Also, the 21% drop in the exchange rate on the U.S. dollar impacted gross margins
negatively during the current quarter. In addition, the Fund saw higher general and administrative costs due largely to the inclusion of the
costs of TGF and NHS in fiscal 2010, as well as higher tax provisions and interest expense.
Distributable cash after marketing expenses was $58.4 million, a decrease of 7% from $62.5 million in the prior comparable quarter.
Distributions for the quarter were $41.5 million, up 19% over the same period last year reflecting a higher number of units due to the
Universal acquisition and the maintenance of annual $1.24 distributions per unit in both periods. The payout ratio for the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2010 after all marketing expenses was 71%, up from 56% in the prior year comparable period.
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Gas and electricity marketing
Sales and gross margin – Per ﬁnancial statements
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
Fiscal 2010

Sales
Gas
Electricity

Canada

$

United States

Fiscal 2009

Total

Canada

United States

Total

788,661
637,580

$

425,975
381,674

$ 1,214,636
1,019,254

$

814,275
518,388

$

343,889
222,661

$ 1,158,164
741,049

$ 1,426,241

$

807,649

$ 2,233,890

$ 1,332,663

$

566,550

$ 1,899,213

7%

43%

18%

Canada

United States

Increase

Fiscal 2010

Gross margin
Gas
Electricity

Fiscal 2009

Total

Canada

United States

Total

$

124,105
107,042

$

81,520
91,107

$

205,625
198,149

$

154,171
77,549

$

64,118
26,978

$

218,289
104,527

$

231,147

$

172,627

$

403,774

$

231,720

$

91,096

$

322,816

Increase

–

90%

25%

Canada
Sales amounted to $1.4 billion for the year ended March 31, 2010, up 7% from the same period in fiscal 2009. Gross margin was
$231.1 million for fiscal 2010, effectively unchanged from $231.7 million in the prior comparable year.
United States
Sales and gross margin in the U.S. were $807.6 million and $172.6 million for the current year, an increase of 43% and 90%, respectively,
from fiscal 2009.
Sales and gross margin – Seasonally adjusted1
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
Fiscal 2010

Sales
Gas
Adjustments1

Canada

$

788,661
40,935

United States

$

829,596
637,580

Electricity

$ 1,467,176
Increase

$

Fiscal 2009

Total

Canada

425,975
4,005

$ 1,214,636
44,940

429,980
381,674

1,259,576
1,019,254

803,795
518,388
$ 1,322,183

811,654

$ 2,278,830

11%

43%

21%

Canada

United States

$

814,275
(10,480)

United States

$

$

Total

343,889
–

$ 1,158,164
(10,480)

343,889
222,661

1,147,684
741,049

566,550

$ 1,888,733

Fiscal 2010

Gross margin
Gas
Adjustments1

$

124,105
10,804
134,909
107,042

Electricity
$

241,951

Increase
1
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For Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets.
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$

8%

81,520
(255)

$

81,265
91,107
$

172,372
89%

Fiscal 2009

Total

205,625
10,549

Canada

$

216,174
198,149
$

414,323
31%

154,171
(7,623)

United States

$

146,548
77,549
$

224,097

64,118
–

Total

$

64,118
26,978
$

91,096

218,289
(7,623)
210,666
104,527

$

315,193
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On a seasonally adjusted basis, total sales and gross margin increased by 21% and 31%, respectively, to $2.3 billion and $414.3 million for
the year ended March 31, 2010, over the same period last year. The 21% increase in seasonally adjusted sales was due to a 28% increase
in customers due to record customer aggregation and the acquisition of Universal offset by a 4% year over year decline in the U.S. dollar
and unfavourable weatherbased reduced gas consumption in all significant provinces and states. Gross margin increased at a greater rate
than sales due to higher realized margin per customer, particularly in the U.S.
Canada
Seasonally adjusted sales were $1.5 billion for the year, up 11% from $1.3 billion for the year ended March 31, 2009. Seasonally adjusted
gross margins were $242.0 million for the year of fiscal 2010, an increase of 8% from $224.1 million in fiscal 2009.
Gas
Seasonally adjusted gas sales increased by 3% in fiscal 2010 to $829.6 million and seasonally adjusted gross margin decreased by 8% to
$134.9 million versus the prior year. The lower margin was due to record warm winter conditions in Just Energy’s key gas markets compared
to a colder than average winter in fiscal 2009. The excess gas supply was sold into very weak spot prices reducing margin from expected levels.
In fiscal 2009, the shortfall of supply was purchased at low spot prices and sold for full margin to customers. After allowance for balancing,
average gross margin per customer (“GM/RCE”) for the year ended March 31, 2010, amounted to $191/RCE, down 9% compared to
$210/RCE from the prior comparable year. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta.
Electricity
Electricity sales were $637.6 million for the current year, an increase of 23% from fiscal 2009. The increased sales are attributable to a 31%
increase in customers. Gross margin increased by 38% from the prior year to $107.0 million due to the increase in customers and increased
margin per customer, resulting from steady increases in new customer contract margins in past periods, and the fact that the electricity
customers acquired from Universal had generally higher margins, after excluding the JustGreen product, than those of Just Energy. As well,
new customers under the higher margin JustGreen program are making up a higher proportion of the overall electricity book.
Average gross margin per customer after all balancing for the year ended March 31, 2010, in Canada amounted to $149/RCE compared to
$131/RCE from the prior comparable year. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta.
United States
Seasonally adjusted sales for the year ended March 31, 2010, were $811.7 million, an increase of 43% from $566.6 million in the prior
year. Seasonally adjusted gross margin was $172.4 million, up 89% from $91.1 million from fiscal 2009.
Gas
Seasonally adjusted gas sales in the U.S. increased by 25% from $343.9 million to $430.0 million for the 2010 fiscal year. The seasonally
adjusted sales increase reflects record customer additions through marketing of 171,000 (up from 90,000 in fiscal 2009) and the addition of
120,000 customers acquired as part of the Universal transaction offset by a 4% decline in the U.S. dollar and lower selling prices. Seasonally
adjusted gas margin increased 27% for the current year to $81.3 million from $64.1 million. U.S. gas margins per customer were down for
three reasons: the customers acquired from Universal were at lower margins than those of Just Energy; there was a 4% decline in the U.S.
dollar; and warmer than normal weather in the northern U.S. required the sale of excess supply into a lowprice spot market. In addition,
there were Universal customers which were not expected to renew (and therefore not included in longterm customer numbers) that
expired during the third and fourth quarters. The negative impact of this lost margin on the third and fourth quarters was anticipated at the
time of the Universal acquisition and discussed in the MD&A for the second quarter of fiscal 2010.
Average gross margin after all balancing costs for the year ended March 31, 2010, was $212/RCE, down from $259/RCE noted in the prior
year comparable period. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt expense in Illinois.
Electricity
Electricity sales and gross margin for the current year were $381.7 million and $91.1 million, respectively, versus the comparable period of
fiscal 2009 in which sales and gross margin amounted to $222.7 million and $27.0 million, respectively. Electricity customers increased by
67% with a record 216,000 customers added (up from 168,000 in fiscal 2009), driving the 71% sales growth. Unlike other markets, the
Universal acquisition contributed only 2,000 of the 127,000 year over year net additions.
The adjusted gross margin increase of 238% reflects the growth in customers and higher margins per customer. U.S. electricity is where the
largest impact of the growing consumption of JustGreen is evident. Since the overall book is relatively small, high takeup of JustGreen at
higher margins has a greater impact on the overall margin per customer. In addition, Texas benefited from high consumption supplied with
low cost commodity while New York profitability rose due to continued improvements in our supply management.
Average gross margin per customer for electricity during the current year was $238/RCE compared to $133/RCE from the prior comparable
year. The GM/RCE value for Texas includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense.
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Customer aggregation
Longterm customers
April 1, 2009

Additions

Acquired

Attrition

Failed
to renew

March 31,
2010

% increase
(decrease)

Natural gas
Canada
United States

743,000
235,000

46,000
171,000

93,000
120,000

(81,000)
(110,000)

(67,000)
(8,000)

734,000
408,000

(1)%
74%

Total gas

978,000

217,000

213,000

(191,000)

(75,000)

1,142,000

17%

Electricity
Canada
United States

578,000
234,000

72,000
216,000

215,000
2,000

(94,000)
(52,000)

(11,000)
(9,000)

760,000
391,000

31%
67%

Total electricity

812,000

288,000

217,000

(146,000)

(20,000)

1,151,000

42%

1,790,000

505,000

430,000

(337,000)

(95,000)

2,293,000

28%

Combined

Gross customer additions through marketing for the year were 505,000, up 21% from the 418,000 customers added through marketing
during fiscal 2009. Total net customer additions for the year ended March 31, 2010, were 73,000, down from 103,000 net customer
additions last year due to higher attrition noted on the larger customer base. Record additions through marketing were offset by the
continuing effects of the weak U.S. economy. The high customer loss in the U.S. market reflects continued high foreclosure rates and
credit cutoffs.
Including the Universal acquisition, there was a 28% net increase in total customers at March 31, 2010, versus the same period last year. As
part of the Universal acquisition, Just Energy acquired 430,000 customers and also gained a further 145,000 customers that were unlikely
to renew as they were variable in nature or located in regions that were not in Just Energy’s current expansion plans. As at March 31, 2010,
50,000 of these customers remain under contract.
The fourth quarter also saw a substantial increase in customer additions compared to the prior year. On an RCE basis, 131,000 gross
customers were added in the quarter, up 54% from the fourth quarter additions of 85,000 in fiscal 2009. Net customer additions in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 were 13,000 compared to 15,000 in the same period in fiscal 2009, again reflecting the impact of the weak
U.S. economy on customer attrition.
Just Energy’s major marketing challenge remains in the Canadian markets where the disparity between spot prices and the fiveyear prices
continues to impact sales. This has hurt both new customer additions and renewals. Under these conditions, Just Energy’s marketing force
has concentrated on the sale of JustGreen and related products. Acceptance of these products was strong but combining their premium
price with a continued generally weak economy, created sales that were insufficient to offset attrition in the Canadian gas and electricity
business. The recent upward movement in energy prices has begun to slow attrition in some markets. Solid customer additions were seen
across the U.S., with Texas and New York electricity being particularly strong.

JustGreen
Sales of the JustGreen products continue to support and reaffirm the strong demand for the green energy products in all markets. The
JustGreen program allows customers to choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy or carbon offsets, in
an effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractual obligation for
Just Energy to purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer’s purchase. A review was
conducted by Grant Thornton LLP of Just Energy’s Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Purchases report for the period from
January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009, validating the Fund’s renewables and carbon offset purchases.
The Fund currently sells JustGreen gas in Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, Michigan, New York, Ohio and Illinois and JustGreen electricity
in Ontario, Alberta, New York and Texas. JustGreen sales are expanding into the remaining markets over the coming quarters. Of all
customers who contracted with Just Energy in the year, 39% took JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs. On average, these
customers elected to purchase 81% of their consumption as green supply.
Overall, green supply now makes up 2% of our overall gas portfolio, up from 1% a year ago. JustGreen supply makes up 5% of our
electricity portfolio, up from 2% from the same period last year. For this reason, the margins on new customer additions continued to
exceed target levels despite certain focused price discounts to stimulate sales in markets with very low utility prices resulting in high five
year premiums.
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Attrition
Natural gas
The trailing 12month natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for the year, consistent with management’s target of 10%. In the U.S., gas
attrition for the trailing 12 months was 30%, above management’s annual target of 20%. High U.S. gas attrition is an effect of the
continued North American recession leading to home foreclosures and the necessary aggressive customer cutoff or forced return to default
services policies utilized by Just Energy.
Electricity
The trailing 12month electricity attrition rate in Canada for the year was 13%, above management’s target of 10%. Higher than targeted
attrition was a function of a cleanup of the acquired Universal book of customers which resulted in a stronger, higher margin book of
customers going forward. Electricity attrition in the United States was 16% over the last year, below management’s target of 20%.

Failed to renew
The Just Energy renewal process is a multifaceted program and aims to maximize the number of customers who choose to sign a new
contract prior to the end of their existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance allowing a customer to recontract for an
additional four or five years.
The trailing 12month renewal rate for all Canadian gas customers was 61%. In the Ontario gas market, customers who do not positively
elect to renew or terminate their contract receive a oneyear fixed price for the ensuing year. Of the total Canadian gas customers renewed
in fiscal 2010, 16% were renewed for a oneyear term. Canadian gas was the only market in which renewals lagged the 2010 target of
70%. This was due to the high spread between the Just Energy fiveyear price and the utility spot price. Management anticipates continued
focus in this area and a return to rising market pricing should result in an improvement in Canadian gas renewal rates to target levels.
The electricity renewal rate for Canadian customers was 73% for the trailing 12 months. In the Ontario electricity market, there is no
opportunity to renew a residential or small volume customer for a oneyear term should the customer fail to positively renew or terminate
his or her contract. There has been solid takeup of JustGreen products within Canadian electricity renewals leading to higher than target
renewal rates. Management targets a renewal rate for electricity customers of 65%.
In the U.S. markets, Just Energy currently only has Illinois gas and Texas electricity customers up for renewal. Gas renewals for the U.S. were
67%, above our target of 50%. The Texas electricity renewal rate was 79%, significantly better than our target rate of 60%.
In the table below, management outlines the expected annualized attrition and renewal rates for fiscal 2011. The high U.S. attrition rates
reflect an expectation of continued economic weakness in those markets.
Targets for ﬁscal 2011:
Attrition
fiscal 2011

Renewals
fiscal 2011

Natural gas
Canada
United States

10%
30%

70%
75%

Electricity
Canada
United States

10%
20%

70%
75%

Gas and electricity contract renewals
This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the following years:

2011
2012
2013
2014
Beyond 2014
Total

Canada –
gas

Canada –
electricity

U.S. –
gas

U.S. –
electricity

29%
21%
21%
14%
15%

19%
24%
26%
16%
15%

14%
17%
28%
14%
27%

9%
8%
11%
27%
45%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Just Energy continuously monitors its customer renewal rates and continues to modify its offering to existing customers in order to
maximize the number of customers who renew their contracts.
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Gross margin earned through new marketing efforts
Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers (includes JustGreen impact)
During fiscal 2010, the Fund continued to see the positive impact of continued efforts to maintain strong margin per customer during
challenging marketing periods. Overall, average gross margin per RCE increased by 5% year over year primarily due to the compound
impact of higher per customer margins on new contracts in past quarters offset by a lower U.S. dollar reducing the margin on existing U.S.
contracts. These higher margins on past contracts have been a function of strong JustGreen program sales, opportunistic pricing in a falling
market and improved supply management.
The table below depicts the annual margins on contracts of customers signed and renewed in the year. This table reflects the combined
margins on both “brown” energy purchased by customers and the JustGreen program. Sales of the JustGreen products have been very
strong with approximately 39% of all customers added in the past year taking some or all green energy supply. Those who purchased the
green products elect on average to purchase 81% of their consumption as green supply.
Annual gross margin per customer1
Fiscal 2010

Customers added in the year
Canada – gas
Canada – electricity
United States – gas
United States – electricity
Customers lost in the year
Canada – gas
Canada – electricity
United States – gas
United States – electricity
1

$

175
136
208
229

Annual target
fiscal 2010

$

170
143
170
143

191
120
247
120

Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital.

Annual margin on 505,000 new customers added in the year including the impact of JustGreen was $208 and margin earned on 166,000
renewing customers was $168. Annual margin on customers lost during the year was $179.

National Home Services division
NHS was acquired on July 1, 2009, as part of the Universal acquisition. On July 2, 2009, NHS acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc. and on
September 30, 2009, acquired substantially all of the assets of NHCLP (see page 20 for additional information). NHS provides Ontario
residential customers longterm water heater rental programs offering conventional tanks, power vented tanks and tankless water heaters
in a variety of sizes, in addition to now offering furnaces and air conditioners. The combined installed water heater base on July 1, 2009
was 38,000. NHS continues to ramp up its operations and, as at March 31, 2010, had a cumulative installed base of 77,000 water heaters
in residential homes. NHS earns revenue from its installed base.
Because NHS is a highgrowth, relatively capitalintensive business, Just Energy’s management believes that, in order to maintain stability of
distributions, separate nonrecourse financing of this capital was appropriate. On January 18, 2010, NEC entered into a longterm financing
agreement with Home Trust Company for the funding of the water heaters for NHS. Under the agreement, NHS will receive an amount
equal to the fiveyear cash flow of the water heater contract discounted at an agreed upon rate. Home Trust Company will then in return
receive the customer payments on the water heaters for the next five years. The initial funding received up to March 31, 2010, was
$65.4 million and total funding is expected to be approximately $90 million over the next year.
Selected ﬁnancial information
(thousands of dollars)
Date of acquisition (July 1, 2009)
to March 31, 2010

Sales per financial statements
Cost of sales
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$

8,886
1,837

Gross margin
Selling expenses
General and administrative expense
Interest expense
Capital expenditures
Amortization

7,049
2,824
5,789
818
24,544
1,975

Total number of water heaters installed

77,000
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Results of operations
Just Energy has owned NHS since July 1, 2009, and therefore, results reflect only the nine months of operation ending March 31, 2010. For
the nine months ended March 31, 2010, NHS had sales of $8.9 million and gross margin of $7.1 million. The cost of sales for the year was
$1.8 million and represents the amortization of the installed water heaters for the customer contracts signed to date. Selling expenses for
fiscal 2010 were $2.8 million and include the amortization of commission costs paid to the independent agents, automobile fleet costs,
advertising and promotion, and telecom and office supplies expenses. General and administrative costs, which relate primarily to
administrative staff compensation and warehouse expenses, amounted to $5.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2010. Capital
expenditures, including installation costs, amounted to $24.5 million. Amortization costs were $2.0 million for the current year and include
not only the depreciation on capital assets noted above but also the amortization of the water heater contracts and customer relationships
acquired in the purchases of Universal and Newten Home Comfort Inc.
The growth of NHS has been rapid and, combined with the Home Trust Company financing, is expected to be selfsustaining on a cash flow
basis. A number of independent sales contractors, previously marketing gas and electricity, have been redeployed to water heaters resulting
in lower Ontario customer additions in energy marketing. Overall, management believes this is the best utilization of the sales force in the
Ontario market given the existing gas and electricity market conditions.

Ethanol division (TGF)
TGF continues to improve plant production and run time of the Belle Plaine wheatbased ethanol facility. For the year ended March 31,
2010, the plant had achieved an average production capacity of 62% with capacity expected to rise upon completion of the grainmilling
upgrade discussed below.
The ethanol division has separate nonrecourse financing in place such that capital requirements and operating losses will not impact
distributable cash from Just Energy’s core business.
Selected ﬁnancial information
(thousands of dollars)
Date of acquisition (July 1, 2009)
to March 31, 2010

Sales per financial statements
Cost of sales
Gross margin
General and administrative expense
Interest expense
Capital expenditures
Amortization

$

56,455
51,945
4,510
9,089
5,107
4,599
1,079

Results of operations
Just Energy has owned 66.7% of TGF since July 1, 2009, and therefore results reflect only the nine months of operations to March 31,
2010. During fiscal 2010, TGF had sales of $56.5 million and realized gross margin of $4.5 million. During the current year, the plant
produced 69.4 million litres of ethanol and 66,487 metric tonnes of distillers dried grain. For the nine months ended March 31, 2010,
TGF incurred $9.1 million in general and administrative expenses and $5.1 million in interest charges. Production levels were below the
150millionlitre annual plant design capacity as a result of production bottlenecks primarily in grain milling until late in the fourth quarter.
The first phase of the installation of the new grain milling equipment was completed on March 1, 2010, to address this bottleneck and
enable production to achieve the design capacity. For the months of March and April 2010, production capacity increased to 73%. Capital
expenditures, including installation costs, for the year amounted to $4.6 million and include the assets related to the grainmilling project.
TGF receives a federal subsidy related to an agreement signed on February 17, 2009, based on the volume of ethanol produced. During
the nine months ended March 31, 2010, the subsidy was 10 cents per litre on ethanol produced. Through fiscal 2011, this subsidy will be
9 cents per litre on ethanol produced. This amount declines through time to 5 cents per litre of ethanol produced in fiscal 2015, the last
year of the agreement.
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Overall consolidated results
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative costs were $88.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2010, representing a 48% increase from $59.6 million in
fiscal 2009. This was primarily due to the inclusion of administrative costs for NHS and TGF as well as the addition of a portion of
Universal’s energy marketing administrative costs.
Fiscal 2010

Fiscal 2009

Variance

Energy marketing
NHS
TGF

$

73,545
5,789
9,089

$

59,586
–
–

$

13,959
5,789
9,089

Total general and administrative expenses

$

88,423

$

59,586

$

28,837

Overall, energy marketing general and administrative costs were up 23% in fiscal 2010 versus last year to support the 28% increase in total
customers. The increased costs include additional collection costs, staff and professional fee expenditures on review of potential acquisitions
and the Fund’s conversion plan, IFRS and other corporate development activities. Total corporate headcount increased by 28% to a total of
900 fulltime employees. Both NHS and TGF are in the startup phase and management is confident that they both will offset their startup
costs with distributable cash in future periods. Overall, after integrating Universal, management expected to reduce combined Just Energy
and Universal general and administrative costs by $10 million per year on an ongoing basis. This target has been exceeded on a current run
rate basis and the rate of growth in general and administrative costs should slow in fiscal 2011 through achieved synergies.
Marketing expenses
Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors for signing new customers, expenses to operate the
regional sales offices and an allocation of corporate marketing costs, were $95.8 million, an increase of 41% from $68.1 million in fiscal 2009.
This reflects increased customer additions of 28% versus the same period last year and increased recruiting costs resulting in 52% more
active independent sales contractors. In addition, higher sales office expenses resulting from expansion and further development of the
commercial product offerings, increased the costs in fiscal 2010.
Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin lost from attrition as compared to the gross
margin signed from new and renewed customers during the year. Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin increased by 50% to
$62.8 million in fiscal 2010, as compared to $41.9 million last year. The increase resulted from higher customer attrition driven by a
continued weak U.S. economy and a greater number of renewals and associated costs versus last year.
Marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of net new gross margin earned on the customers signed,
less attrition, as compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the year. Marketing expenses to add new
gross margin in fiscal 2010 totalled $33.0 million, an increase of 26% from $26.2 million in the prior year.
The actual aggregation costs per customer added were as follows:
Fiscal 2010

Fiscal 2009

Natural gas
Canada
United States
Total gas

$ 215/RCE
174/RCE
182/RCE

$

194/RCE

Electricity
Canada
United States
Total electricity

$ 188/RCE
161/RCE
168/RCE

$

156/RCE

Actual total aggregation costs for gas and electricity customers for fiscal 2010 were $182 per customer for gas and $168 per customer for
electricity. The main contributor to lower costs in the U.S. was the 4% decline in the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar year over year.
The increase in per customer aggregation cost in Canada is due to two reasons: a JustGreen customer generates a higher commission
commensurate with its higher margin, and secondly, increased commission rates stimulate sales in heavily penetrated Canadian markets.

34

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Unit based compensation
Compensation in the form of units (noncash) granted by the Fund to the directors, officers, fulltime employees and service providers of its
subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the 2001 unit option plan, the 2004 unit appreciation rights plan and the directors’ deferred
compensation plan amounted to $4.8 million, an increase of 16% from the $4.1 million paid in fiscal 2009. The increased expense is a
result of the increase in the number of fully paid unit appreciation rights awarded to employees in fiscal 2010.
Bad debt expense
In Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland and California, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of all
customer accounts. In addition, for large directbilled accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. Credit
review processes have been established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk into its margin
expectations for all of the abovenoted markets.
Bad debt expense for fiscal 2010 was $17.9 million, up 29% from $13.9 million expensed last year. The bad debt expense increase was
mainly due to the 19% increase in total revenues where Just Energy assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections and higher
percentage losses in Texas. For the year ended March 31, 2010, the bad debt expense of $17.9 million represents approximately 2.8% of
$649.3 million in revenues. In fiscal 2009, the total bad debt expense was $13.9 million, or 2.6%, of $543.5 million in revenue.
Management integrates its default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval
process to mitigate customer delinquency.
Overall, bad debt expense is expected to remain near the upper end of the 2% to 3% target until there is a sustained residential real estate
recovery in the U.S. As discussed earlier, management has taken an aggressive position with regards to returning customers to utility default
services or disconnecting delinquent customers to ensure that bad debt expense is managed through the heavy heating season. Bad debt as
a percentage of revenue has declined from 3.3% in the third quarter to 2.8% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010.
For each of Just Energy’s other markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from Just Energy’s
customers for a fee.
Interest expense
Total interest expense for the year ended March 31, 2010, amounted to $16.1 million, up from $3.9 million in fiscal 2009. The large
increase noted in the year primarily relates to the $5.0 million in interest expense relating to the Universal convertible debenture and interest
payments of $5.1 million made on debt associated with TGF.
Foreign exchange
Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a result of its U.S. operations and any changes in the applicable exchange rate
may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income (loss) for fiscal 2010. For the year, a foreign exchange unrealized gain of
$26.6 million was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) versus a $1.9 million unrealized loss reported in the prior year. In the first
quarter of fiscal 2010, a total of $23.0 million in U.S. funds was repatriated back to Canada.
The Fund retains sufficient funds in the U.S. to support ongoing growth and surplus cash is repatriated to Canada. U.S. cross border cash
flow is forecasted annually, and hedges for cross border cash flow are entered into when it is determined that any surplus U.S. cash is not
required for new acquisition opportunities. Overall, a weak U.S. dollar decreases sales and gross margin but this is partially offset by lower
operating costs denominated in U.S. dollars.
Class A preference share distributions
The remaining holder of the Just Energy Corp. (“JEC”) Class A preference shares (which are exchangeable into units on a 1:1 basis) is entitled
to receive, on a quarterly basis, a payment equal to the amount paid or payable to a Unitholder on an equal number of units. The total
amount paid for the year ended March 31, 2010, including tax and the Special Distribution amounted to $7.6 million versus $7.7 million paid
in fiscal 2009. These distributions on the Class A preference shares are reflected in the Statement of Unitholders’ Equity of the Fund’s
consolidated financial statements, net of tax.
Special Distribution
The Fund underdistributed its taxable income in calendar 2009 and 2008 and would have been subject to tax at 46% for any undistributed
taxable income. In order to ensure that all of the taxable income is distributed to its Unitholders, the Board of Directors concluded that it
would be preferable to pay out a Special Distribution to effectively allocate all of the taxable income to the Unitholders. The Special
Distribution was $26.7 million ($0.20 per unit) and was paid as 100% cash to the holders of units, unit appreciation rights (“UARs”),
deferred unit grants (“DUGs”), Class A preference shares and JEEC Exchangeable Shares. The amount was funded by operating cash flow
and the Fund’s credit facility and was paid on January 30, 2010. In fiscal 2009, a Special Distribution of $18.6 million ($0.165 per unit) was
declared in the third quarter.

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

35

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Recovery of income tax
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
Fiscal 2010

Fiscal 2009

Current income tax expense
Amount credited to Unitholders’ equity
Future tax recovery

$

19,253
2,501
(122,014)

$

3,861
2,767
(64,088)

Recovery of income tax

$ (100,260)

$

(57,460)

The Fund recorded a current income tax expense of $19.3 million for the year versus $3.9 million of expense in fiscal 2009. The change is
due to income tax expense incurred by the Universal entities.
Also included in the income tax provision is an amount relating to the tax impact of the distributions paid to the Class A preference
shareholder of JEC. In accordance with EIC 151, Exchangeable Securities Issued by Subsidiaries of Income Trusts, all Class A preference
shares are included as part of Unitholders’ equity and the distributions paid to the shareholders are included as distributions on the
Statement of Unitholders’ equity, net of tax. For the year ended March 31, 2010, the tax impact of these distributions, based on a tax rate
of 33%, amounted to $2.5 million as compared to $2.8 million in fiscal 2009. During the current and past year, the Fund had significant
temporary differences attributed to mark to market losses from financial derivatives, among which a substantial portion is expected to be
realized subsequent to 2010. As the Fund will convert to a taxable Canadian corporation after 2010 (hereinafter defined as the
“Conversion”), as per its announcement in January 2010, it is now recording the future tax benefits of these mark to market losses which
are expected to be realized post Conversion. As a result, a future tax recovery of $122.0 million has been recorded in fiscal 2010.
After the Conversion during the fourth quarter of calendar 2010, the Fund will be taxed as a taxable Canadian corporation from that date
onwards. Therefore, the future tax asset or liability associated with Canadian liabilities and assets recorded on the balance sheet as at that
date will be realized over time as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated financial statements
and their respective tax bases are realized. Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued at that time to the extent that there is taxable
income in the Fund or its underlying operating entities.
The U.S.based corporate subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes on their taxable income determined under U.S. income tax rules and
regulations. During the year, the U.S. subsidiaries (other than the newly acquired UG&E and Commerce) had fully utilized their combined
operating losses for tax purposes carried over from prior years, and after taking these tax losses into effect, recorded a $0.9 million current
U.S. federal income tax for the year. These U.S. entities had also recorded a combined U.S. state income tax of $2.0 million for the year.
Both UG&E and Commerce had no operating losses carried forward and generated taxable income during the year, and as a result, income
tax expense of $1.4 million and $2.8 million were recorded for these entities respectively during the year, which have been included in the
current income tax expense amounts as noted above.
The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the
estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities on the consolidated
financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates. A valuation allowance is recorded against a
future income tax asset if it is not more likely than not that the asset will be realized in the foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the
income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income during the period that the change occurs.

Liquidity and capital resources
Summary of cash ﬂows
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
Fiscal 2010

Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities, excluding distributions
Gain (loss) on foreign exchange translation

$

Increase in cash before distributions
Distributions (cash payments)
Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash – beginning of year
Cash – end of year
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$

158,273
(37,466)
46,666
(3,861)

Fiscal 2009

$

172,767
(8,187)
2,330
2,691

163,612
(162,574)

169,601
(137,817)

1,038
59,094

31,784
27,310

60,132

$

59,094
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Operating activities
Cash flow from operating activities for the year ended March 31, 2010, was $158.8 million, a decrease from $172.8 million in the prior
comparable year. The decrease is primarily attributable to an increase in gross margin during fiscal 2010 that was partially offset by higher
amortization on the acquired customer contracts from Universal and unrealized income related to the financial instruments recorded in the year.
Investing activities
The Fund purchased capital and recorded intangible assets totalling $37.5 million during the year, an increase from $8.2 million in the prior
year. Capital asset purchases and intangibles amounted to $47.6 million for fiscal 2010, compared with $6.3 million last year. During the
year, a total of $24.5 million was spent on water heater purchases for NEC. During the second quarter of fiscal 2010, the Fund completed
the acquisition of Universal in consideration for JEEC Exchangeable Shares valued at $239.9 million. For further information on the
acquisition see page 20. On July 2, 2009, NEC acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc., an arm’s length third party that held a 20% interest of
NHCLP. Accordingly, NHCLP became a wholly owned subsidiary of Just Energy. NEC, which began operations in April 2008, operates under
the trade name of National Home Services. In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial
and residential customer contracts of CEG in British Columbia for $1.8 million. CEG was a western Canadian marketer of natural gas wholly
owned by SemCanada Energy Company, both of which filed for creditor protection under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act on
July 30, 2008. As well, in fiscal 2009, the Fund entered into a limited partnership to form NHCLP for an investment of $0.5 million.
Financing activities
Financing activities, excluding distributions, relate primarily to the drawdown of the operating line for working capital requirements as well
as borrowing requirements for TGF. See page 38 for an additional discussion on “Longterm debt and financing”.
The Fund’s liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cash flow is generated.
Approximately 50% of an independent sales contractor’s commission payment is made following reaffirmation or verbal verification of the
customer contract with most of the remaining 50% being paid after the energy commodity begins flowing to the customer.
The elapsed period between the times when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from the customer varies with each
market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods reflect the time required by the various LDCs to
enroll, flow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy. In Alberta and Texas, Just Energy receives payment
directly from the customer.
Distributions (cash payments)
Investors should note that due to the institution of a distribution reinvestment program (“DRIP”) in 2007, a portion of dividends declared
are not paid in cash. Under the program, Unitholders can elect to receive their distributions in units at a 2% discount to the prevailing
market price rather than the cash equivalent.
During the year, the Fund made cash distributions to its Unitholders in the amount of $162.6 million, compared to $137.8 million in the
prior year, an increase of 18%. The increase in distributions is a result of the JEEC Exchangeable Shares that were converted into units
during the last three quarters of the fiscal year as well as the dividends paid on the Exchangeable Shares.
Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash resources for expansion into new markets, growth in its existing customer base, and distributions
to its Unitholders.
At the end of the year, the annual rate for distributions per unit was $1.24. The Fund intends to make distributions to its Unitholders, based
upon cash receipts of the Fund, excluding proceeds from the issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs and expenses of the Fund.
The Fund’s intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at the end of the month.

Balance sheet as at March 31, 2010, compared to March 31, 2009
Cash increased from $59.1 million as at March 31, 2009, to $60.1 million at March 31, 2010. Longterm debt excluding the current portion
has increased to $231.8 million from $76.5 million as a result of the Universal acquisition and is detailed on page 20. The Just Energy
original credit facility decreased to $57.5 million and relates to the normal injection of gas into storage and various other working capital
requirements. Working capital requirements in the U.S. and Alberta result from the timing difference between customer consumption and
cash receipts. For electricity, working capital is required to fund the lag between settlements with the suppliers and settlement with the
LDCs. Restricted cash has increased to $18.7 million from $7.6 million as at March 31, 2009, due to additional cash collateral postings
related to supply procurement and credit support for the Universal, Commerce and TGF entities.
The increase in accounts receivable from $249.5 million to $348.9 million is primarily attributable to the increase in sales during the period
as a result of the Universal acquisition and customer growth. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities has also increased from $173.8 million
to $227.0 million relating to added consumption as a result of the 430,000 Universal customers acquired on July 1, 2009, and current year
net customer additions of 73,000.
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Gas in storage has decreased from $6.7 million to $4.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2010. This balance reflects injections into
storage for the Illinois, New York and Indiana customer base, which occur from April to November.
At the end of the year, customers in Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec had consumed more gas than was supplied to the LDCs for their use.
Since Just Energy is paid for this gas when delivered yet recognizes revenue when the gas is consumed by the customer, the result on the
balance sheet is the unbilled revenue amount of $20.8 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $15.1 million. As at March 31, 2009,
Just Energy had unbilled revenues amounting to $57.8 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $41.4 million.
Prepaid expenses have increased from $2.0 million to $20.0 million for the current year. The increased balance relates to tax, rent and
various prepayments from the Commerce, Universal, TGF and NEC entities.
Future income tax assets of $114.3 million recorded in fiscal 2010 primarily related to the conversion of Just Energy to a taxable Canadian
corporation late in calendar 2010.
Property, plant and equipment increased to $218.6 million from $20.0 million last year primarily due to the acquisition of Universal and the
inclusion of the plant assets from TGF and water heater purchases made in fiscal 2010. Intangible assets and goodwill increases in the
current year again relate to the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009.

Longterm debt and financing
As at March 31
(thousands of dollars)
Fiscal 2010

Original credit facility
TGF credit facility
TGF debentures
TGF term loan
JEEC convertible debentures
NEC Home Trust Company financing

$ 57,500
41,313
37,001
10,000
83,417
65,435

Fiscal 2009

$

76,500
–
–
–
–
–

Original credit facility
On July 1, 2009, in connection with the acquisition of UEG, Just Energy increased its credit facility from $170 million to $250 million. As
part of the increase in the credit facility, Société Générale and Alberta Treasury Branches joined Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal
Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada and Bank of Nova Scotia as the syndicate of the lenders thereunder. Under the new terms of the
credit facility, effective July 1, 2009, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR advances at stamping fees of 4.0%,
prime rate advances at Canadian and U.S. prime plus 3.0%, and letters of credit at 4.0%. Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility
are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its
operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. As
at March 31, 2010 and 2009, all of these covenants have been met.
TGF credit facility
A credit facility of up to $50.0 million, established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union, was arranged to
finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was further revised on March 18, 2009, and was converted to a fixed
repayment term of ten years commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate of prime plus 2%, with principal
repayments commencing on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest
on all assets and undertakings of TGF and a general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. The credit facility
includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and
minimum shareholders’ equity. The lenders have deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. The facility was
further revised on March 31, 2010, postponing the principal payments due for April 1 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize them over the
sixmonth period commencing October 1, 2010 and ending March 31, 2011.
TGF debentures
A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40.0 million aggregate principal
amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The interest rate is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually and payable quarterly.
Interest is to be paid quarterly with quarterly principal payments commencing October 1, 2009, in the amount of $1.0 million per quarter.
The agreement includes certain financial covenants the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt
service coverage, debt to EBITDA and minimum shareholders’ equity. The lender has deferred compliance with the financial covenants until
April 1, 2011. On March 31, 2010, TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the debentures to defer scheduled principal
payments owing under the debenture until April 1, 2011.
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TGF term/Operating facilities
TGF also maintains a working capital facility for $10.0 million with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1% due in full on
December 31, 2010. This facility is secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender. In addition, TGF has a working capital
operating line of $7.0 million bearing interest at prime plus 1%, of which $3.2 million was drawn via overdraft and is included in bank
indebtedness, and $1.6 million of letters of credit have also been issued.
JEEC convertible debentures
In conjunction with the acquisition of UEG on July 1, 2009, JEEC also assumed the obligations of the convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures issued by Universal in October 2007 which have a face value of $90 million. The debentures mature on September 30, 2014,
unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate of 6% payable semiannually on March 31 and September 30 of
each year. Each $1,000 principal amount of the debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption,
at the option of the holder, into approximately 27.3 units of the Fund representing a conversion price of $36.63 per Exchangeable Share.
The debentures are not redeemable prior to October 1, 2010. On and after October 1, 2010, but prior to September 30, 2012, the
debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at the
Fund’s sole option on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date on
which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, but prior to the
maturity date, the debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, at the Fund’s sole option on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice.
NEC Home Trust Company ﬁnancing
On January 18, 2010, NEC announced that it had entered into a longterm financing agreement for the funding of new and existing rental
water heater contracts for NHS. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS will receive financing equal to the net present value of the first five years
of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.99% and as settlement, and is required to remit all proceeds
received from customers on the water heater contracts for the first five years. The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision,
whereby 3% of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is deducted and deposited into a reserve account in the event of default.
Once all of the obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be released to NHS.
NEC is required to meet a number of covenants under the agreement and as at March 31, 2010, all of these covenants have been met.

Contractual obligations
In the normal course of business, the Fund is obligated to make future payments for contracts and other commitments that are known and
noncancellable.
Payments due by period
(thousands of dollars)
Total

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
unit distribution payable
Bank indebtedness
Longterm debt
Interest payment
Property and equipment lease agreements
EPCOR billing, collections and supply
commitments
Grain production contracts
Gas and electricity supply purchase commitments

$

240,132
8,236
301,249
54,312
28,785

Less than 1 year

$

240,132
8,236
62,829
16,040
8,084

1–3 years

$

–
–
120,475
24,466
10,543

20,220
57,893
3,533,371

12,132
36,059
1,494,003

8,088
21,438
1,621,623

$ 4,244,198

$ 1,877,515

$ 1,806,633

4–5 years

$

–
–
117,945
12,260
5,330

After 5 years

$

–
396
415,680
$

551,611

–
–
–
1,546
4,828
–
–
2,065

$

8,439

Other obligations
The Fund is also subject to certain contingent obligations that become payable only if certain events or rulings were to occur. The inherent
uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial impact of these events or rulings prevents any meaningful measurement, which is
necessary to assess any material impact on future liquidity. Such obligations include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other
penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings. In the opinion of management, the Fund has no material pending actions, claims or
proceedings that have not been either included in its accrued liabilities or in the financial statements.

Transactions with related parties
The Fund does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independent to the Fund or
any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates.
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Critical accounting estimates
The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Certain accounting policies require
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sales, marketing and
general and administrative expenses. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts,
estimates of the useful life and estimated fair value of property, plant and equipment, and impairments thereon valuation of goodwill and
intangibles and the impairment thereon, valuation allowance for future tax assets, the determination of the fair value of financial instruments,
as the aggregate fair value amounts represent point in time estimates only and should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate
settlement of the supply contracts, and the determination of unit based compensation. Estimates are based on historical experience, current
information and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new information
and changed circumstances may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates.
The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. The Fund might realize different results from the
application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rulemaking bodies.
Unbilled revenues/Accrued gas accounts payable
Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the LDCs. These estimates are stated
at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Just Energy’s obligation to the LDC with respect to gas consumed by
customers in excess of that delivered. This obligation is also valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas business unit
only, since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price and the
current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation.
Gas delivered in excess of consumption/Deferred revenues
Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections from LDCs
in advance of their consumption results in deferred revenues which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas
business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price
and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of customers’ accounts in Alberta, Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland
and California. In addition, for large directbilled accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. Management
estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts in these markets based on the financial conditions of each jurisdiction, the aging of the
receivables, customer and industry concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience.
Goodwill
In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy’s future cash flow. If the estimates
change in the future, the Fund may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. An impairment review of goodwill was
performed during fiscal 2010 and as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill existed at March 31, 2010.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments and risk management
The Fund has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments effectively all related to future supply contracts as part of the business
of purchasing and selling gas, electricity and the JustGreen energy option. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide
electricity and gas at fixed prices and to provide comfort to certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green
generation. These customer contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure
to the commodity market price changes, Just Energy uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixedprice commodity
supply to match its estimated delivery or green commitment obligations.
The Fund’s business model’s objective is to minimize commodity risk other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather.
Accordingly, it is Just Energy’s policy to hedge the estimated requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas, electricity,
renewable energy certificates and carbon offsets at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from
these supply contracts is expected to be effective in offsetting the Fund’s price exposure and serves to fix acquisition costs of gas, electricity
and renewables to be delivered under the fixedprice or priceprotected customer contracts. Just Energy’s policy is not to use derivative
instruments for speculative purposes.
The financial statements are in compliance with Section 3855 of the CICA Handbook, which requires a determination of fair value for all
derivative financial instruments. Up to June 30, 2008, the financial statements also applied Section 3865 of the CICA Handbook which
permitted a further calculation for qualified and designated accounting hedges to determine the effective and ineffective portion of the
hedge. This calculation permitted the change in fair value to be predominantly accounted for in the statement of other comprehensive
income. As of July 1, 2008, management decided that the increasing complexity and costs of maintaining this treatment outweighed the
benefits. This fair value (and when it was applicable, the ineffectiveness) is determined using market information at the end of each quarter.
Management believes the Fund remains economically hedged operationally across all jurisdictions.
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Preference shares of JEC and trust units
As at May 19, 2010, there were 5,263,728 Class A preference shares of JEC outstanding and 124,857,456 units of the Fund outstanding.

JEEC Exchangeable Shares
A total of 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares of JEEC were issued on July 1, 2009, for the purchase of Universal. JEEC shareholders have
voting rights equivalent to the Fund’s Unitholders and their shares are exchangeable on a 1:1 basis. As at May 19, 2010, 16,966,547 shares
had been converted and there were 4,305,257 Exchangeable Shares outstanding.

Taxability of distributions
Cash and unit distributions received in calendar 2009 were allocated as 100% other income. Additional information can be found on our
website at www.justenergy.com. Management estimates the distributions for calendar 2010 to be allocated in a similar manner to that of 2009.

Adoption of new accounting policies
As of April 1, 2009, the Fund adopted a new accounting standard that was issued by CICA in Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and
Intangible Assets, which establishes revised standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible
assets. Just Energy adopted this standard retroactively as required by the standards.
In June 2009, CICA amended Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures, to adopt the amendments recently made by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments – Disclosures. The amendments require enhanced
disclosure requirements about the fair value measurement, including the relative reliability of the inputs used in those measurements and
about the liquidity risk of financial instruments. The amendments are effective for annual financial statements relating to fiscal years ending
after September 30, 2009; therefore, the Fund has included these additional disclosures for the year ended March 31, 2010. As this
standard only addresses disclosure requirements, there is no impact on the financial position of the Fund.

Recently issued accounting standards
The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effective date:
Business Combinations
In October 2008, CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations (“CICA 1582”), concurrently with CICA Handbook Section
1601, Consolidated Financial Statements (“CICA 1601”), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Noncontrolling Interest (“CICA 1602”). CICA
1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards for the measurement of a business
combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook
Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the preparation of consolidated financial statements
subsequent to acquisition other than noncontrolling interests. CICA 1602 establishes guidance for the treatment of noncontrolling
interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the impact of these standards on its consolidated financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standards
In February 2008, CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by IFRS for fiscal years beginning on or
after January 1, 2011. IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to GAAP but there are significant differences on recognition, measurement
and disclosures.
Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim financial statements under IFRS for the three
month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31, 2012.
Based on the initial assessment of the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the Fund, an internal project team was
assembled and a conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS. Project status reporting is provided to
senior executive management and to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. We have also engaged an external advisor.
Our project consists of three phases: IFRS diagnostic assessment, solution development and implementation. The diagnostic phase, which
was completed in 2009, involved a highlevel review and the identification of major accounting differences between current Canadian
GAAP and IFRS applicable to Just Energy. The Fund has recently completed phase 2, the solution development phase, including substantial
completion of all policy papers which have been discussed with the external auditors. The IFRS project team is currently engaged in the
implementation phase, which is the final phase of the project. This phase involves approval of the accounting policy choices, completing the
collection of data required to prepare the financial statements, implementing changes to systems and business processes relating to
financial reporting, key personnel training and the monitoring of standards currently being amended by the IASB. Just Energy has also
commenced analysis of IFRS financial statement presentation and disclosure requirements. These assessments will need to be further
analyzed and evaluated throughout the implementation phase of the Fund’s project.
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The initial assessment phase determined that the areas with the highest potential to significantly impact the fund include, but are not
limited to, property, plant and equipment, impairment of assets, accounting for income taxes, financial instruments, employee benefits as
well as the first time adoption of IFRS (“IFRS 1”).
The Fund has selected IFRS 1 elective exemptions which are practical and provide the most relevant presentation on conversion to IFRS.
The primary result of the exemptions selected is to apply certain IFRS differences prospectively, minimizing adjustments to the IFRS opening
balance sheet.
It is expected that several transitional adjustments and changes in accounting policies will be made on the transition to IFRS. The transitional
adjustments and subsequent accounting may result in other business impacts such as impacts on the debt covenants and capital
requirements disclosure. The Fund is currently determining the direction of changes and quantifying the adjustments which cannot be
reasonably determined at this time.
Based on the work completed to date, the transition is expected to have minimal impact on information technology and internal controls
over financial reporting of the Fund.

Risk factors
Described below are the principal risks and uncertainties that Just Energy can foresee. It is not an exhaustive list, some future risks may be
as yet unknown, and other risks, currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material.
Credit, commodity and other marketrelated risks
Availability of supply
The risk of supply default is mitigated through credit and supply diversity arrangements. The Just Energy business model is based on
contracting for supply to lock in margin. There is a risk that counterparties could not deliver due to business failure, supply shortage or be
otherwise unable to perform their obligations under their agreements with Just Energy, or that Just Energy could not identify alternatives to
existing counterparties. Just Energy continues to investigate opportunities to identify or secure additional gas suppliers and electricity suppliers.
Just Energy’s commodity contracts are predominantly with Shell, BP, Bruce Power, Constellation, Société Générale, Sempra and CP Energy
Marketing (formerly and also known as “EPCOR”). Other suppliers represent less than 1% of our gas and 2% of our electricity supply.
Volatility of commodity prices – Enforcement
A key risk to the Just Energy’s business model is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of gas or electricity resulting in some
customers renouncing their contracts. Just Energy may encounter difficulty or political resistance for enforcement of liquidated damages
and/or enactment of force majeure provisions in such a situation and be exposed to spot prices with a material adverse impact to cash flow.
Continual monitoring of margin and exposure allows management of Just Energy time to adjust strategies, pricing and communications to
mitigate this risk.
Availability of credit
In several of the markets in which Just Energy operates, payment is provided by LDCs only when the customer has paid for the consumed
commodity (rather than when the commodity is delivered). Also, in some markets, Just Energy must inject gas inventory into storage in
advance of payment. These factors, along with the seasonality of customer consumption, create working capital requirements necessitating
the use of Just Energy’s available credit. In addition, some of Just Energy’s subsidiaries and affiliates are required to provide credit assurance,
by means of providing guarantees or posting collateral, in connection with commodity supply contracts, license obligations and obligations
owed to certain LDCs. Cash flow and distributions could be impacted by the ability of Just Energy to fund such requirements or to provide
other satisfactory credit assurance for such obligations. To mitigate credit availability risk and its potential impact to cash flows, Just Energy
has security arrangements in place pursuant to which commodity suppliers and the lenders under the credit facility hold security over
substantially all of the assets of Just Energy (other than AESLP, NEC and TGF). AESLP, in turn, has similar arrangements in place solely with
EPCOR. Other commodity suppliers’ security requirements are met through cash margining, guarantees and letters of credit. The most
significant assets of Just Energy consist of its contracts with customers, which may not be suitable as security for some creditors and
commodity suppliers. To date, the credit facility and related security agreements have met the collateral posting and operational
requirements of the business. Just Energy continues to monitor its credit and security requirements. Just Energy’s business may be adversely
affected if it is unable to meet cash obligations for operational requirements or its collateral posting requirements.
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Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or
commodity. Although Just Energy manages its estimated customer requirements, net of contracted commodity to zero, it is exposed to
market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do not match actual customer
requirements or where it has not been able to exactly purchase the estimated customer requirements. Just Energy is also exposed to interest
rates associated with its credit facility and foreign currency exchange rates associated with the repatriation of U.S. dollar denominated funds
for Canadian dollar denominated distributions. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected by a number of factors, including accuracy
of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets, and the absolute and relative
levels of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to
changes in commodity prices and foreign currency rates; current exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of
derivative instruments. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity
demand and thereby fix margins such that Unitholder distributions can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are generally
transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the abovemarket risks could have a material
adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.
Market risk governance
Just Energy has adopted a corporatewide Risk Management Policy governing its market risk management and any derivative trading
activities. An internal Risk Committee, consisting of senior officers of Just Energy monitors companywide energy risk management activities
as well as foreign exchange and interest rate activities. There is also a Risk Committee of the Board that oversees management. The Risk
Office and the internal Risk Committee monitor the results and ensure compliance with the Risk Management Policy. The Risk Office is
responsible for ensuring that Just Energy manages the market, credit and operational risks within limitations imposed by the Board of
Directors in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. Market risks are monitored by the Risk Office and internal Risk Committee utilizing
industryaccepted mark to market techniques and analytical methodologies in addition to companyspecific measures. The Risk Office
operates and reports independently of the traders. The failure or inability of Just Energy to comply with and monitor its Risk Management
Policy could have an adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.
Energy trading inherent risks
Energy trading subjects Just Energy to some inherent risks associated with future contractual commitments, including market and
operational risks, counterparty credit risk, product location differences, market liquidity and volatility. There is continuous monitoring and
reporting of the valuation of identified risks to the internal Risk Committee, Executive Committee and the Risk Committee of the Board of
Directors. The failure or inability of Just Energy to monitor and address the energy trading inherent risks could have a material adverse effect
on its operations and cash flow.
Customer credit risk
In Alberta, Pennsylvania, Maryland, California, Texas and Illinois, credit review processes have been implemented to manage customer
default as Just Energy has credit risk in these markets. The processes are also applied to commercial customers in other jurisdictions. In
addition, there is a credit policy that has been established to govern these processes. If a significant number of residential customers or a
collection of larger commercial customers for which Just Energy has the credit risk were to default on their payments, it could have a
material adverse affect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin
expectations for all customers in Illinois, Pennsylvania and Alberta and commercial customers where Just Energy has the credit risk.
For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy’s customers
for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no assurance that the
LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future.
Counterparty credit risk
Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual obligations.
This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting the related customer
margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates impacting the related Canadian dollar denominated
distributions. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these limits requires approval from
the Board of Directors of JEC. The Risk Office and internal Risk Committee monitor current and potential credit exposure to individual
counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. The failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations
could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.
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Electricity supply – Balancing risk
It is Just Energy’s policy to procure the estimated electricity requirements of its customers with offsetting electricity swaps in advance of
obtaining customers. Depending on several factors, including weather, Just Energy’s customers may use more or less electricity than the
volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy is able to invoice some of its existing electricity customers for balancing
charges or credits when the amount of energy used is greater than or less than the amount of energy that Just Energy has estimated. For
certain Texas and commercial customers, Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors
consumption and has a balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate the estimated associated costs. In certain circumstances, there can
be balancing issues for which Just Energy is responsible when customer aggregation forecasts are not realized.
Natural gas supply – Balancing risk
It is Just Energy’s policy to procure the estimated gas requirements of its customers with offsetting gas physical forwards in advance of
obtaining customers. Depending on several factors including weather, Just Energy’s customers may use more or less gas than the volume
purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy does not invoice its natural gas customers for balancing and, accordingly, bears
the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors gas consumption and has an options strategy that covers forecast
differences in customer consumption due to weather variations as well as forecast LDC balancing requirements. The cost of this strategy is
incorporated in the price to the customer. To the extent that forecast balancing requirements are outside the options purchased, Just Energy
will bear financing responsibility, be exposed to market risk and, furthermore, may also be exposed to penalties by the LDCs. The inability or
failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor these balancing risks could have a material adverse effect on its operations and cash flow. In
addition, for certain commercial customers, Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors
consumption and has a balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate for the estimated associated costs.

Operational risks
Information technology systems
Just Energy operates in a high volume business with an extensive array of data interchanges and market requirements. Just Energy is
dependent on its management information systems to track, monitor and correct or otherwise verify a high volume of data to ensure the
reported financial results are accurate. Management also relies on its management information systems to provide its independent
contractors with compensation information and to electronically record each customer telephone interaction. Just Energy’s information
systems also help management forecast new customer enrolments and their energy requirements, which help ensure that the Fund is able
to supply its new customers’ estimated average energy requirements without exposing the Fund to the spot market beyond the risk
tolerances established by the Risk Management Policy. The failure of Just Energy to install and maintain these systems could have a material
adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.
Reliance on third party service providers
In all jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perform billing and collection services except as follows: in the province
of Alberta and state of Texas, where Just Energy is required to invoice and receive payments directly from its customers; in Illinois, where
Just Energy is responsible for collection of defaulted amounts; in British Columbia and California, where Just Energy is required to invoice
and receive payments from certain commercial customers and in Ontario, where Just Energy would be responsible for collection of
defaulted amounts in respect of certain large volume users in one utility territory. To date, no defaults have been experienced in this last
category. In 2005, Just Energy entered into a fiveyear agreement with EPCOR for the provision of billing and collection services for all of
Just Energy’s customers in Alberta which was amended and extended in December 2008. Pursuant to the amended agreement, EPCOR will
continue to provide billing and collection services for AESLP until November 30, 2011, with respect to AESLP’s existing customers. In the late
summer of 2009, Just Energy began billing and collection services directly for all new customers signed and renewed customers. If the LDCs
cease to perform these services, Just Energy would have to seek a third party billing provider or develop internal systems to perform these
functions. There is no assurance that the LDCs will continue to provide these services in the future.
Outsourcing and offshoring arrangements
Just Energy has outsource arrangements predominantly to support the call centre’s requirements for business continuity plans and
independence for regulatory purposes. Contract data input is also outsourced as is some business continuity and disaster recovery. Some of
the outsourcing contracts are offshore. As with any contractual relationship, there are inherent risks to be mitigated and these are actively
managed, predominantly through quality control measures and regular reporting.
Competition
A number of companies (including Direct Energy, Superior Energy and MX Energy) and incumbent utility subsidiaries compete with Just Energy
in the residential, commercial and small industrial market. It is possible that new entrants may enter the market as marketers and compete
directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or reducing its market share. If the LDCs are permitted by changes in the
current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other than cost, their existing customer bases could provide them with a significant
competitive advantage. This may limit the number of customers available for marketers including Just Energy.
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Dependence on independent sales contractors
Just Energy must retain qualified independent sales contractors despite competition among Just Energy’s competitors. If Just Energy is
unable to attract a sufficient number of independent sales contractors, Just Energy’s customer additions and renewals may decrease and
the Fund may not be able to execute its business strategy. The continued growth of Just Energy is reliant on distribution channels, including
the services of its independent sales contractors. There can be no assurance that competitive conditions will allow these independent
contractors, who are not employees of Just Energy or its affiliates, to achieve these customer additions. Lack of success in these marketing
programs would limit future growth of the cash flow of Just Energy.
Just Energy has consistently taken the position that its independent sales contractors act independently pursuant to their contracts for
service, which provide that Just Energy does not control how, where or when they provide their services. On occasion, an independent
contractor may make a claim that they are entitled to a benefit pursuant to legislation even though they have entered into a contract with
Just Energy that provides that they are not entitled to benefits normally available to employees and Just Energy must respond to these
claims. Just Energy’s position has been confirmed by regulatory bodies in many instances, but Just Energy is currently appealing the findings
of two regulatory bodies (one in Canada and one in the U.S.). Should Just Energy be unsuccessful in its appeals, Just Energy would be
required to remit unpaid tax amounts plus interest and might be assessed a penalty. It could also mean that Just Energy would have to
reassess its position in respect of other regulatory matters affecting its independent sales contractors such as income tax treatment. Such a
decision could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.
Electricity and gas contract renewals and attrition rates
As at March 31, 2010, Just Energy held longterm electricity and gas contracts reflecting approximately 2,293,000 longterm RCEs, and the
renewal schedule for the contracts is noted on page 31. Just Energy has experienced contract attrition rates of approximately 13% in Canada
and 16% in the U.S. for electricity with rates of 10% and 30% being realized for Canada and the U.S., respectively, for gas. Management
forecasts using a combination of experienced and expected attrition per year; however, there can be no assurance that these rates of annual
attrition will not increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing electricity and gas contracts at the expiry of their
terms. Changes in customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affect (potentially adversely) attrition and renewal
rates in the future, and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy. See page 31 for further discussion on “Failed
to renew”. Just Energy’s experience is that approximately 73% and 79% of its Canadian and U.S. electricity customers, respectively, and 61%
and 67% of its Canadian and U.S. gas customers, respectively, have renewed at the expiry of the term of their contract.
Cash distributions are not guaranteed and will ﬂuctuate with the performance of Just Energy
Although Just Energy intends to distribute the interest and other income it earns less expenses and amounts, if any, paid by Just Energy in
connection with the redemption of units, there can be no assurance regarding the amounts of income to be generated by the Fund’s
affiliates and paid, directly or indirectly to the Fund. The ability to distribute and the actual amount distributed in respect of the units will
depend upon numerous factors, including profitability, fluctuations in working capital, debt service requirements (including compliance with
credit facility obligations), the sustainability of margins, the ability of Just Energy to procure, at favourable prices, its estimated commitment
to supply natural gas and electricity to its customers, the ability of Just Energy to secure additional gas and electricity contracts and other
factors beyond the control of Just Energy. Management of Just Energy cannot make any assurances that the Fund’s affiliates will be able to
pass any additional costs arising from legislative changes (or any amendments) on to customers. Cash distributions are not guaranteed and
will fluctuate with the performance of the Fund’s affiliates and other factors.
Earnings volatility
Just Energy’s business is seasonal in nature. In addition to regular seasonal fluctuations in its earnings, there is significant volatility in its
earnings associated with the requirement to mark its commodity contracts to market. The earnings volatility associated with seasonality and
mark to market accounting may be misconstrued as instability, thereby impacting access to capital. Management ensures there is adequate
disclosure for both the mark to market and seasonality to mitigate this risk.
Model risk
The approach to calculation of market value and customer forecasts requires dataintensive modelling used in conjunction with certain
assumptions when independently verifiable information is not available. Although Just Energy uses industry standard approaches and
validates its internally developed models, results could change significantly should underlying assumptions prove incorrect or an embedded
modelling error goes undetected in the vetting process.
Commodity alternatives
To the extent that natural gas and electricity enjoy a price advantage over other forms of energy, such price advantage may be transitory
and consumers may switch to the use of another form of energy. The inherent volatility of natural gas and electricity prices could result in
these other sources of energy providing more significant competition to Just Energy.
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Capital asset and replacement risk
The retail business does not invest in a significant capital asset program; however, the water heater business and the ethanol plant are more
capitalintensive businesses. The risk associated with water heater replacement is considered minimal as there are several suppliers of high
efficiency tanks to source replacements, and individually, the units are not material. The risk associated with the capital assets of the ethanol
plant are more significant as parts are not standard, components have a significant value associated and capital asset replacements could
significantly impact operations during periods of upgrade or repair. Management monitors this risk in the ethanol business to ensure
continuity of operations as demonstrated through the recent hammer mill project that replaced the roller mill technology.
Credit facilities and other debt arrangements
The credit facility maintained by Just Energy L.P. and Just Energy (U.S.) Corp. (“JEUS”) is in the amount of $250 million. The lenders under
such credit facility together with certain of the suppliers of Just Energy and its affiliates are parties to an intercreditor agreement and related
security agreements which provide for a joint security interest over all customer contracts (except for those owned by AESLP). There are
various covenants pursuant to the credit facility that govern the activities of the Fund and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The borrowers are
required to submit monthly reports addressing, among other things, mark to market exposure, their borrowing base and a supply/demand
projection. To date, the Fund’s subsidiaries have met the requirements of the credit facility; however, should those subsidiaries default under
the credit facility and it becomes unavailable, it could have a significant material adverse effect on the business of those subsidiaries and on
the results of operations and financial performance of the Fund if it is not able to obtain other financing on satisfactory terms.
TGF also has a credit facility of up to $50 million and a debenture purchase agreement providing for the issuance of up to $40 million
associated with the Belle Plaine facility. Security for these facilities includes a first priority security interest on all assets and an undertaking of
TGF. These facilities include certain financial covenants of which certain requirements have not been met within the last year and have been
waived by the lenders for fiscal 2011. The lenders have also agreed to defer certain principal payments during fiscal 2011. In addition, there
is a term loan for $10 million and a working capital operating line of $7 million. The term loan is secured by liquid investments on deposit
with the lender. There is a risk that these credit facilities, including the debenture purchase agreement, may not continue to be available on
the same terms or at all given the compliance issues that TGF experienced under the facilities in 2009, which could result in the Belle Plaine
facility ceasing to operate and a loss of the security pledged by TGF as security for advances under such credit facilities.
The Fund has guaranteed JEEC’s obligations under the JEEC debentures in connection with the Universal acquisition. Risks associated with
these debentures include dilution to Unitholders in the event they are converted into JEEC Exchangeable Shares, or JEEC Exchangeable Shares
are issued to satisfy JEEC’s obligations upon maturity or redemption, and such JEEC Exchangeable Shares are subsequently exchanged for units.
NHS has also entered into a longterm financing agreement with respect to the installation of water heaters (see page 39 for more
information). In the event this financing becomes unavailable, it could have a material adverse affect on the Fund’s home services business.
Disruptions to infrastructure
Customers are reliant upon the LDCs to deliver their contracted commodity. LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availability of the
distribution infrastructure. Any disruptions in this infrastructure would result in counterparties, and thereafter, Just Energy enacting the
force majeure clauses of their contracts. Under such severe circumstances there would be no revenue or associated cost of sales to report
for the affected areas.
Expansion strategy and future acquisitions
The Fund plans to grow its business by expansion into additional deregulated markets through organic growth and acquisitions. The
expansion into additional markets is subject to a number of risks, any of which could prevent the Fund from realizing its business strategy.
Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any one of which could harm the Fund’s business, including difficulties in integrating the operations,
technologies, products, existing contracts, accounting processes and personnel of the target and realizing the anticipated synergies of the
combined businesses; difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any, or assets of the target company may exceed the value
the Fund realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or other resources to another opportunity; risks of
entering new markets or areas in which Just Energy has limited or no experience or are outside its core competencies; potential loss of key
employees, customers and strategic alliances from either Just Energy’s current business or the business of the target; assumption of
unanticipated problems or latent liabilities, such as problems with the quality of the products of the target; and inability to generate
sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs.
Future acquisitions or expansion could result in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest expense, as well as unforeseen
liabilities, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business, results of operations and financial condition. The failure
to successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or otherwise adequately address the risks associated with acquisitions could have a
material adverse effect on Just Energy’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Just Energy may require additional financing
should an appropriate acquisition be identified and it may not have access to the funding required for the expansion of its business or such
funding may not be available to Just Energy on acceptable terms. There is no assurance that Just Energy will determine to pursue any
acquisition or that such an opportunity, if pursued, will be successful.
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Legal, regulatory and securities risks
Legislative and regulatory environment
Just Energy operates in the highly regulated natural gas and electricity retail sales industry in the provinces of Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec,
British Columbia and Alberta and in the states of Illinois, Indiana, New York, Michigan, Ohio, California, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland
and Texas. It must comply with the legislation and regulations in these jurisdictions in order to maintain its licensed status and to continue
its operations. There is potential for change to this legislation and these regulatory measures that may, favourably or unfavourably, impact
Just Energy’s business model. As part of doing business as a doortodoor marketing company, Just Energy receives complaints from
consumers which may involve sanctions from regulatory and legal authorities including those which issue marketing licences. Similarly,
changes to consumer protection legislation in those provinces and states where Just Energy markets to noncommercial customers may,
favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy’s business model. Just Energy has a dedicated team of inhouse regulatory advisors to ensure
adequate knowledge of the legislation and regulations in order that operations may be advised of regulations pursuant to which procedures
are required to be implemented and monitored to maintain licence status. When new markets are entered, the team assesses the market
and determines if additional expertise (internal or external) is required. There is also a team that monitors and addresses complaints with a
view to mitigating underlying causes of complaints.
In addition to the complaints and class actions referenced herein and litigation in the ordinary course of business, Just Energy may in the
future be subject to class actions, other litigation and other actions arising in relation to its consumer contracts and marketing practices.
See the “Legal proceedings” section on page 51 of this report. This litigation is, and any such additional litigation could be, time consuming
and expensive and could distract our executive team from the conduct of Just Energy’s daily business. The adverse resolution of any specific
lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on our ability to favourably resolve other lawsuits and could adversely affect the Fund’s financial
condition and liquidity.
Investment eligibility
Just Energy will endeavour to ensure that the units continue to be qualified investments for registered retirement savings plans, deferred
profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education savings plans. The Tax Act imposes penalties for the
acquisition or holding of nonqualified or ineligible investments and there is no assurance that the conditions prescribed for such qualified
or eligible investments will be adhered to at any particular time.
Nature of units, convertible debentures and exchangeable shares
Securities such as the units, convertible debentures and exchangeable shares are hybrids in that they share certain attributes common to
both equity securities and debt instruments. The units, convertible debentures and exchangeable shares do not represent a direct
investment in the natural gas or electricity wholesale business and should not be viewed by investors as shares or securities in any of the
Fund’s affiliates. As holders of units, subject to the Trust Beneficiaries’ Liability Act, 2004, Unitholders do not have the statutory rights
normally associated with ownership of shares of a company including, for example, the right to bring “oppressive” or “derivative” actions.
The units represent a fractional interest in the Fund. The Fund’s primary assets are its direct and indirect interests in the securities of its
affiliates. The price per unit is, among other things, a function of anticipated distributable income.
Redemption right
It is anticipated that the redemption right will not be the primary mechanism for Unitholders to liquidate their investments. JEC notes, notes
of OESC Exchangeco II Inc. (“Exchangeco II”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Fund, and the Fund notes (of which none are outstanding)
may be distributed in specie to Unitholders in connection with a redemption and will not be listed on any stock exchange and no established
market is expected to develop for such JEC notes, Exchangeco II notes and the Fund notes. Cash redemptions are subject to limitations.
Unitholder limited liability
The Declaration of Trust provides that no Unitholder will be subject to any liability in connection with the Fund or its assets or obligations,
and in the event that a court determines that Unitholders are subject to any such liabilities, the liabilities will be enforceable only against,
and will be satisfied only out of, the Unitholders’ share of the Fund’s assets.
The Declaration of Trust further provides that the trustee and the Fund shall make all reasonable efforts to include, as a specific term of any
obligations or liabilities being incurred by the Fund or the trustee on behalf of the Fund, a contractual provision to the effect that neither
the Unitholders nor the trustee have any personal liability or obligations in respect thereof. The Administration Agreement contains such
provisions. Personal liability may also arise in respect of claims against the Fund that do not arise under contracts, including claims in tort,
claims for taxes and possibly certain other statutory liabilities. As the Fund’s activities are generally limited to investing in securities issued by
its affiliates, the possibility of any personal liability of this nature arising is considered remote.
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On December 16, 2004, the Government of Ontario passed the Trust Beneficiaries’ Liability Act, 2004, which limits the liability of holders of
trust units, in a manner similar to that afforded to holders of shares of Ontario incorporated limited liability corporations. The legislation
provides that the beneficiaries of a trust are not as beneficiaries, liable for any act, default, obligation or liability of the trust or any of its
trustees that arises after the act became law if, when the act or default occurs or the obligation or liability arises: (a) the trust is a reporting
issuer under the Securities Act (Ontario); and (b) the trust is governed by the laws of Ontario. The Fund is a reporting issuer under the Securities
Act (Ontario) and is governed by the laws of Ontario. However, the courts have not yet had an opportunity to consider this legislation.
The operations of the Fund will be conducted, upon the advice of counsel, in such a way and in such jurisdictions as to avoid as far as
possible any material risk of liability on the Unitholders for claims against the Fund.
Distribution of common shares and notes on termination of the Fund
Upon termination of the Fund, the trustee may distribute the common shares, Exchangeco common shares, JEC notes, Exchangeco II notes
and the Fund notes directly to the Unitholders, subject to obtaining all required regulatory approvals. There is currently no market for the
common shares, Exchangeco common shares, Exchangeco II notes, JEC notes, or the Fund notes. In addition, the common shares,
Exchangeco common shares, Exchangeco II notes, JEC notes and the Fund notes are not freely tradable and are not currently listed on
any stock exchange.
The Fund may issue additional units diluting existing Unitholders’ interests
The Declaration of Trust authorizes JEC as administrator to cause the Fund to issue an unlimited number of units for such consideration and
on such terms and conditions as shall be established by the Administrator without the approval of any Unitholders. Additional units have
been and will be issued by the Fund on the exercise of the Exchangeco II Exchange Rights relating to the Class A preference shares.
Restrictions on potential growth
The payout by the Fund’s affiliates of the vast majority of all of their operating cash flow will make additional capital and operating
expenditures dependent on increased cash flow or additional financing in the future. Lack of such funds could limit the future growth of
Just Energy and its cash flow.
Changes in securities legislation
There can be no assurance that the treatment of mutual fund trusts will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects Unitholders. If the
Fund ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” under the Tax Act, the units will cease to be qualified investments for registered retirement
savings plans, deferred profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education savings plans.
Risks relating to certain of the Fund’s subsidiaries
The following risk factors relate to the respective businesses conducted by TGF and NHS, subsidiaries of the Fund acquired pursuant to the
Universal acquisition, and are in addition to the risk factors set forth above and in the Annual Information Circular. The Fund’s subsidiaries
are immaterial to the total result of the business. TGF and NHS had a net loss of $9.7 million versus the total net income of $231.5 million
realized by the Fund for the year ended March 31, 2010. In addition, TGF and NHS generated 2.8% of the gross margin for the year ended
March 31, 2010, and held 19% of the total assets.
Leverage and restrictive covenants
TGF’s use of debt financing makes it more difficult for it to operate because it must make principal and interest payments on the
indebtedness and abide by covenants contained in its debt financing agreements. The level of TGF’s debt may have implications on TGF’s
operations, including, among other things: (i) limiting TGF’s ability to obtain additional debt financing; (ii) making TGF vulnerable to
increases in prevailing interest rates; (iii) requiring TGF to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from operations to interest and
principal payments in respect of its indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of cash flow for working capital, capital expenditures and
other general corporate expenditures; (iv) placing TGF at a competitive disadvantage because it may be substantially more leveraged than
some of its competitors; (v) subjecting all or substantially all of TGF’s assets to liens, which means that there may be no assets left for the
Fund in the event of a liquidation; (vi) limiting TGF’s ability to adjust to changing market conditions, which could make it more vulnerable to
a downturn in the general economic conditions of its business; and (vii) limiting TGF’s ability to make business and operational decisions,
including, without limitation, limiting TGF’s ability to pay dividends, make capital improvements, sell or purchase assets or engage in
transactions TGF deems to be appropriate and in its best interest.
TGF’s ability to make payments on and refinance its indebtedness will depend on its ability to generate cash from its future operations.
TGF’s ability to generate cash from future operations is subject, in large part, to general economic, competitive, legislative and regulatory
factors and other factors that are beyond TGF’s control. If TGF is unable to comply with applicable restrictive covenants or service its debt,
TGF may lose control of its business and be forced to reduce or delay planned capital expenditures, sell assets, restructure its indebtedness
or submit to foreclosure proceedings, all of which could result in a material adverse effect upon TGF’s business, results of operations and
financial condition. TGF’s future debt arrangements may also include subordinated debt, which may contain even more restrictions and be
on less favourable terms than TGF’s existing senior debt and subordinated debt.
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Reliance on proprietary technology; risk of claims for infringement
The ability of TGF to operate its Belle Plaine facility and for it to be economically viable depend on intellectual property and proprietary
technology (collectively, “proprietary technology”) licensed from third parties. No assurance can be given that the proprietary technology
may not be circumvented, misappropriated, disclosed, infringed or required to be licensed to others. TGF’s rights are nonexclusive and
accordingly others may use the proprietary technology to conduct a competitive ethanol production business. Third parties may claim that
the use of the proprietary technology has infringed their rights or may directly or indirectly challenge TGF’s right to the proprietary
technology. It is possible that litigation by TGF or others may be required to protect the proprietary technology or TGF’s right to use it, or to
determine the validity or scope of the rights of others. Such litigation can be time consuming and expensive, cause delays in TGF’s
operations or require TGF to enter into licensing arrangements that may require the payment of license fees or royalties to others. Such
royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to TGF.
Dependence on commodity prices
TGF’s results of operations, financial position and business outlook are substantially dependent on commodity prices, especially prices for
wheat, natural gas, ethanol and distillers grains. Prices for these commodities are generally subject to significant volatility and uncertainty.
As a result, TGF’s results may fluctuate substantially, and TGF may experience periods of declining prices for TGF’s products and increasing
costs for TGF’s raw materials, which could result in operating losses. TGF may attempt to offset a portion of the effects of such fluctuations
by entering into forward contracts to supply ethanol or to purchase wheat, natural gas or other items or by engaging in other hedging
transactions; however, the amount and duration of these hedging and other risk mitigation activities may vary substantially over time. In
addition, these activities involve substantial costs and substantial risks and may be ineffective to mitigate these fluctuations.
Sensitivity to gasoline prices and demand
Ethanol is marketed both as a fuel additive to reduce vehicle emissions from gasoline and as an octane enhancer to improve the octane
rating of gasoline with which it is blended. As a result, ethanol prices are influenced by the supply and demand for gasoline (which is itself
influenced by the supply and demand for crude oil).
Sensitivity to wheat prices and supply
Wheat is the principal raw material TGF will use to produce ethanol and distillers grains. As a result, changes in the price of wheat can
significantly affect TGF’s business. At certain levels, wheat prices would make ethanol uneconomical to use in fuel markets. The price of
wheat is influenced by local and international weather conditions (including droughts) and other factors affecting crop yields, farmer
planting decisions and general economic, market and regulatory factors, including government policies and subsidies with respect to
agriculture and international trade, and global and local supply and demand. The significance and relative effect of these factors on the
price of wheat is difficult to predict. Any event that tends to negatively affect the supply of wheat, such as adverse weather or crop disease,
could increase wheat prices and potentially harm TGF’s business. The price of wheat has fluctuated significantly in the past and may
fluctuate significantly in the future.
TGF may also have difficulty from time to time in purchasing wheat on economic terms due to supply shortages. Any supply shortage could
require TGF to suspend operations until wheat became available on economic terms.
Sensitivity to natural gas prices and supply
TGF relies upon third parties for TGF’s supply of natural gas, which is consumed in the manufacture of ethanol. The prices for and
availability of natural gas are subject to volatile market conditions. These market conditions are affected by factors beyond TGF’s control
such as weather conditions (including hurricanes), overall economic conditions and foreign and domestic governmental regulation and
relations. Significant disruptions in the supply of natural gas could impair TGF’s ability to manufacture ethanol for TGF’s customers.
Sensitivity of distillers grain prices to the price of other commodity products
Distillers grains compete with other proteinbased animal feed products. The price of distillers grains may decrease when the price of
competing feed products decrease. The prices of competing animal feed products are based in part on the prices of the commodities from
which they are derived. Downward pressure on commodity prices, such as soybeans, will generally cause the price of competing animal
feed products to decline, resulting in downward pressure on the price of distillers grains. Because the price of distillers grains is not tied to
production costs, decreases in the price of distillers grains will result in TGF generating less revenue and lower profit margins.
Dependence on federal and provincial legislation and regulation
Various laws, regulations and programs of the United States federal government and certain provincial and state governments are intended
to lead to increased use of ethanol in gasoline. For example, certain existing and proposed laws, regulations and programs provide (or if
implemented will provide) economic incentives to ethanol producers and users; however, existing and proposed laws may be influenced
by those who believe that the use of ethanol does not create the benefits suggested by proponents of increased ethanol usage. These
existing and proposed laws, regulations and programs are constantly changing. In both the U.S. and Canada, legislators and environmental
regulators could adopt or modify existing or proposed laws, regulations or programs that could adversely affect the use of ethanol.
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There can be no assurance that existing laws, regulations or programs will continue in the future, or that proposed laws, regulations or
programs will be adopted or implemented as currently anticipated or at all. In addition, certain jurisdictional governments may oppose the
use of ethanol because those jurisdictions might have to acquire ethanol from other jurisdictions, which could increase gasoline prices in
those jurisdictions.
Environmental, health and safety laws, regulations and liabilities
TGF owns the land on which it has built the Belle Plaine facility. TGF is subject to various federal, provincial and local environmental laws
and regulations, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the air, water and ground, the generation, storage, handling,
use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials, and the health and safety of TGF’s employees. These laws and regulations require
TGF to maintain and comply with numerous environmental permits to operate its Belle Plaine facility. These laws, regulations and permits
can often require expensive pollution control equipment or operational changes to limit actual or potential impacts on the environment.
A violation of these laws, regulations or permit conditions can result in substantial fines, natural resource damages, criminal sanctions,
permit revocations and/or facility shutdowns.
Environmental issues, such as contamination and compliance with applicable environmental standards could arise at any time during the
operation of the Belle Plaine facility. If this occurs, it could require TGF to spend significant resources to remedy the issues and may have a
material adverse impact on the operation of the Belle Plaine facility.
There is a risk of liability for the investigation and cleanup of environmental contamination at each of the properties that TGF owns or
operates. If hazardous substances have been or are disposed of or released at sites that undergo investigation and/or remediation by
regulatory agencies, TGF may be responsible under environmental laws for all or part of the costs of investigation and/or remediation, and
for damages to natural resources. TGF may also be subject to related claims by private parties, including TGF’s employees and property
owners or residents near the Belle Plaine facility, alleging property damage and personal injury due to exposure to hazardous or other
materials at or from its Belle Plaine facility. Additionally, employees, property owners or residents near the Belle Plaine facility could object to
the air emissions or water discharges from the Belle Plaine facility. Ethanol production has been known to produce an unpleasant odour.
Environmental and public nuisance claims or toxic tort claims could be brought against TGF as a result of this odour or TGF’s other releases
to the air or water. Some of these matters may require TGF to expend significant resources for investigation, cleanup, installation of control
technologies or other compliancerelated items, or other costs.
In addition, new laws, new interpretations of existing laws, increased governmental enforcement of environmental laws or other developments
could require TGF to make additional significant expenditures. Continued government and public emphasis on environmental issues may result
in increased future investments for environmental controls at the Belle Plaine facility. For example, federal and state environmental authorities
have recently been investigating alleged excess volatile organic compounds and other air emissions from certain U.S. ethanol plants, which
could also occur in Canada. Present and future environmental laws and regulations (and interpretations thereof) applicable to TGF’s operations,
more vigorous enforcement policies and discovery of currently unknown conditions may require substantial capital and other expenditures.
The hazards and risks associated with producing and transporting TGF’s products (such as fires, natural disasters, explosions, and abnormal
pressures and blowouts) may also result in personal injury claims by employees, third parties or damage to property owned by TGF or by
third parties. As protection against operating hazards, TGF maintains insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential losses.
However, TGF could sustain losses for uninsurable or uninsured events, or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage.
Disruptions to infrastructure or in the supply of fuel or natural gas
TGF’s business depends on the continuing availability of rail, road, storage and distribution infrastructure. Any disruption in this
infrastructure network, whether caused by rail car shortages, earthquakes, storms, other natural disasters or human error or malfeasance,
could have a material adverse effect on TGF’s business. TGF relies upon third parties to maintain the rail lines from the Belle Plaine facility to
the national rail network, and any failure on their part to provide rail cars or maintain the lines could impede TGF’s delivery of productions,
impose additional costs on TGF and could have a material adverse effect on TGF’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
TGF’s business also depends on the continuing availability of raw materials, including fuel and natural gas. The production of ethanol, from
the planting of wheat to the distribution of ethanol to refiners, is highly energy intensive. Significant amounts of fuel and natural gas are
required for the growing, fertilizing and harvesting of wheat, as well as for the fermentation, distillation and transportation of ethanol and
the drying of distillers grains. A serious disruption in supplies of fuel or natural gas, or significant increases in the prices of fuel or natural
gas could significantly reduce the availability of raw materials at the Belle Plaine facility and increase TGF’s production costs.
Technological advances
TGF expects that technological advances in the processes and procedures for processing ethanol will continue to occur. It is possible that
those advances could make the processes and procedures that TGF intends to utilize at the Belle Plaine facility less efficient or obsolete, or
cause the ethanol TGF intends to produce to be of a lesser quality. These advances could also allow TGF’s competitors to produce ethanol at
a lower cost than TGF. If TGF is unable to adopt or incorporate technological advances, TGF’s ethanol production methods and processes
could be less efficient than those of its competitors, which could cause the Belle Plaine facility to become less competitive.
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Ethanol production methods are also constantly advancing. A current trend in ethanol production research is to develop an efficient method
of producing ethanol from cellulosebased biomass such as agricultural waste, forest residue and municipal solid waste. Another trend in
ethanol production research is to produce ethanol through a chemical process rather than a fermentation process, thereby significantly
increasing the ethanol yield per pound of feedstock. Although current technology does not allow these production methods to be
competitive, new technologies may develop that would allow these methods to become viable means of ethanol production in the future. If
TGF is unable to adopt or incorporate these advances into its operations, TGF’s cost of producing ethanol could be significantly higher than
those of its competitors, which could make the Belle Plaine facility less competitive.
In addition, alternative fuels, additives and oxygenates are continually under development. Alternative fuel additives that can replace
ethanol may be developed, which may decrease the demand for ethanol. It is also possible that technological advances in engine and
exhaust system design and performance could reduce the use of oxygenates, which would lower the demand for ethanol, in which case
TGF’s business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.
Buyouts and returns of water heaters
Just Energy’s customers are permitted to purchase their rented water heaters at a price determined with reference to the price of the water
heater at the time of installation or may terminate their rental agreement with NHS at any time. If customers choose to buy their installed
water heaters or terminate their rental agreement, the number of installed water heaters and the composition of the portfolio of installed
water heaters could change.
Social or technological changes affecting the water heater market
Within Canada, the Ontario marketplace is unique in that the vast majority of homeowners rent their water heaters; however, there can be
no assurance that NHS’ customers will continue to rent their water heaters. It is also possible that more economical or efficient water
heating technology than that which is currently used by customers will be developed or that the economic conditions in which the current
technology is applied will change resulting in a reduction in the number of installed water heaters.
Concentration of water heater suppliers and product faults
Although there are a number of manufacturers of water heaters, NHS relies principally on GSW Inc. (“GSW”) for its supply of water heaters.
Should this supplier fail to deliver in a timely manner, delays or disruptions in the supply and installation of water heaters could result.
In addition, different water heater manufacturers may, from time to time, source components from the same manufacturers for use in their
water heaters. As a result, a parts defect relating to a commonly sourced component could affect water heaters produced by more than
one manufacturer. Although NHS maintains what it believes to be suitable product liability insurance, there can be no assurance that NHS
will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or that any such insurance will provide adequate protection against potential
liabilities, including product recalls.
Geographic concentration of the Canadian water heater market
The Canadian water heater rental market is primarily limited to the province of Ontario. A prolonged downturn in the Ontario economy and
a corresponding slowdown in new home construction could have an adverse effect on the demand for additional water heaters in Ontario.

Legal proceedings
On March 3, 2008, the Citizen’s Utility Board, AARP and Citizen Action/Illinois filed a complaint before the Illinois Commerce Commission
(“ICC”) alleging that independent sales agents used deceptive practices in the sale of Just Energy contracts to Illinois customers. On
October 14, 2009, the complaint proceeded to a hearing by the ICC. On April 14, 2010, the ICC released its order finding that Just Energy
had committed ten violations and imposed a penalty of $0.1 million. Pursuant to the order, Just Energy is required to undertake an
independent audit to confirm its compliance with the regulations and to change certain sales and marketing processes.
The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Regulatory Energy Commission (“FREC”) against many suppliers of
electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of the Fund, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crises in California.
Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging FREC’s enforcement of its marketbased rate system. Although CEI did not
own generation, the State of California is claiming that CEI was unjustly enriched by the runup caused by the alleged market manipulation
by other market participants. The proceedings are currently ongoing. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge granted the
motion to strike for all parties in one of the complaints holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the
accumulation of market power. California has appealed the decision.
Just Energy will resolve or vigorously contest the claims in these matters and in any other nonmaterial litigation matters. Management
believes that the pending legal actions against JEIC and Commerce are not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition of
the Fund at this time.
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Controls and procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures
Except for the limitation on scope of design of disclosure, controls and procedures as noted below, Just Energy maintains appropriate
systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information disclosed externally is complete, reliable and timely. Just Energy’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused an evaluation under their direct supervision of, the design and operating
effectiveness of the Fund’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in National Instrument 52109, Certification of Disclosure in
Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings) as at March 31, 2010, and have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were
appropriately designed and were operating effectively.
Internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
Except for the limitation on scope of the internal controls over financial reporting as noted below, Just Energy has established adequate
internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Fund’s financial reporting and the
preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Just Energy’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer assessed, or caused an assessment under their direct supervision of the design and operating effectiveness of the Fund’s
internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in National Instrument 52109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim
Filings) as at March 31, 2010, using the Internal Control over Financial Reporting – Guidance for Smaller Public Companies published by
The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on the assessment they concluded that
Just Energy’s internal controls over financial reporting were appropriately designed and were operating effectively.
It should be noted that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance
that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control issues, including instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations
include, among other items: (i) that management’s assumptions and judgments could ultimately prove to be incorrect under varying
conditions and circumstances; (ii) the impact of any undetected errors; and (iii) controls may be circumvented by the unauthorized acts of
individuals, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override.
The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be
no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Changes in internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
There have been no changes in the Fund’s policies and procedures that comprise its internal control over financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting during the year ended
March 31, 2010.
Limitation on scope of design
Section 3.3(1) of National Instrument 52109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings, states that the Fund may limit
its design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting for a business that it acquired not more than
365 days before the end of the financial period to which the certificate relates. Under this section, the Fund’s CEO and CFO have limited the
scope of the design, and subsequent evaluation, of disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting to
exclude controls, policies and procedures of the subsidiaries TGF and NHS acquired on July 1, 2009 as part of the UEG acquisition.
Summary financial information pertaining to the UEG acquisition that was included in the consolidated financial statements of the Fund is
as follows:
(thousands of dollars)
TGF
1

Revenue
Net loss1
Current assets2
Noncurrent assets2
Current liabilities2
Noncurrent liabilities2
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1

Results from July 2, 2009 to March 31, 2010.

2

Balance sheet as at March 31, 2010.
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$

56,455
(6,861)
10,792
150,236
67,351
37,358

NHS

$

8,886
(2,887)
6,579
84,913
12,574
53,920

Total

$

65,341
(9,748)
17,371
235,149
79,925
91,278

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate governance
Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. Full
disclosure of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www.justenergy.com and is included in
the Fund’s May 23, 2010 management proxy circular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate governance and disclosure environment to
ensure timely compliance with current and future requirements.

Outlook
On April 19, 2010, Just Energy announced the intent to purchase all of the shares of Hudson, a privately held commercial energy marketing
company operating in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas. The funding for the acquisition totalling $330 million was completed through
the sale of 6% convertible debentures to a syndicate of underwriters. The transaction closed on May 7, 2010.
Just Energy believes that Hudson is a strong strategic fit and will significantly accelerate Just Energy’s development as a leading North
American energy marketing business. Hudson will add significant depth and focus to Just Energy’s growing commercial marketing business.
Eightyfive per cent of Hudson’s customers are commercial while 65% of Just Energy customers are residential. Hudson generates sales
through its independent broker and contractor marketing channels. Just Energy has not meaningfully utilized the broker channel as an
aggregation tool. With its Sales Portal technology, Hudson also has technology that enables more efficient selling of Hudson’s products to
commercial customers through the broker channel and through direct sales. Just Energy’s management believes that this technology can be
used in all of the jurisdictions in North America where Just Energy currently operates.
The Hudson acquisition on a pro forma basis was materially accretive to the combined company’s EBITDA for the year ended March 31, 2010.
Management anticipates that this accretion will continue under combined operations. There will be some onetime transition costs in the
second and third quarters of fiscal 2011 but the transaction is expected to be accretive in fiscal 2011 after these expenses.
Just Energy Income Fund has announced that it plans to reorganize its income trust structure into a highdividendpaying corporation.
Unitholders will be asked to approve by way of a plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement”) the reorganization at the Fund’s Annual and
Special Meeting of Unitholders scheduled for June 29, 2010.
Upon completion of the reorganization, the Board intends to implement a dividend policy where monthly dividends will be initially set at
$0.1033 per share ($1.24 annually) equal to the current distributions paid to Just Energy Unitholders.
The federal government’s announcement on October 31, 2006, of the pending imposition of a tax on income trusts effective January 1,
2011, caused Just Energy to analyze options which would maximize Unitholder value for the long term. The conclusion of the analysis was
that conversion to a highdividend corporation was the optimal option available to the Fund. The proposed reorganization offers a number
of benefits:
•

The conversion to a corporation will result in a lower overall tax burden versus payment of the trust tax after January 1, 2011.

•

The unique nature of Just Energy as a growth company with high return on invested capital allows it to pay both a substantial yield
and continue to grow. This remains true regardless of whether Just Energy is an income fund or a corporation.

•

The receipt of $1.24 per year in dividends will result in a substantially higher aftertax cash yield to shareholders than that of $1.24 in
distributions for most taxable Canadian Unitholders.

•

As a corporation, Just Energy will have greater access to capital markets to the extent that issuance of equity should be required for
growth through acquisition.

•

Limitations under the proposed tax on undue expansion of trusts and foreign ownership limitations on trusts will no longer apply
to Just Energy.

•

The highdividend yield as a corporation combined with Just Energy’s growth prospects will focus market attention on the value of
Just Energy shares.

In anticipation of need for conversion, the Fund has not increased its rate of distribution since early 2008 despite substantial growth in its
business. Distributions have been maintained by Just Energy at $0.1033 per month ($1.24 annually) supplemented by annual Special
Distributions ($0.20 payable January 31, 2010, being the most recent). The decision not to continue distribution increases and the
continued growth of Just Energy have given the Fund the flexibility to continue to pay a dividend equal to the current monthly distributions
following the reorganization. This ability makes full allowance for the payment of tax by Just Energy and does not rely on a merger with
taxlossbearing companies.

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

53

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management believes that Just Energy will again grow its key operating measures during fiscal 2011. Overall, management believes that a
return to targeted attrition rates as the U.S. economy recovers is a key factor in the level of Just Energy’s growth going forward. Customer
additions are at record levels but the benefit of this is absorbed by high attrition rates in the United States. Company growth expectations
are predicated on some recovery in the U.S. but not full recovery to prerecession levels. The addition of Hudson will be accretive to the
Fund’s growth on a fully diluted per unit basis, although this growth will be offset to a degree by onetime transition costs.
Management’s best expectation is that distributable cash after gross margin replacement will grow by approximately 5% to 10%, including
the acquisition from Hudson. Total RCEs are expected to grow after all attrition and failure to renew over and above the customers brought
with Hudson. However, management is not in a position to provide guidance on the level of customer growth pending acquisition of the
Hudson sales force and its integration into Just Energy. Investors will be updated in future quarters on the customer growth expectations.
Sales of the JustGreen products have been very strong with approximately 39% of all customers added in the current year taking 81%
of green energy supply. Although currently a small component of the overall customer book (2% of gas customers and 5% of electricity
customers), continued sales of JustGreen products at these levels will alter the economics of Just Energy as green customers generate higher
per customer margins than the past fiveyear fixedrate customers. As these new green customers become a higher and higher percentage
of the overall Just Energy customer base, the results should be higher margins per customer and improved renewal rates.
The Fund intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the United States both through organic growth and focused
acquisitions. The Fund intends to enter Massachusetts in the first quarter and Pennsylvania in the third quarter of fiscal 2011. The Fund is
actively reviewing a number of further possible acquisitions. Just Energy continues to monitor the progress of the deregulated markets in
various jurisdictions. In addition, Just Energy is pursuing the development of alternative sales channels to enhance its continued growth
in customer additions.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Income Fund and all the information in this annual report are the
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles. The consolidated financial statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has
determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all
material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a consistent basis with that in the
consolidated financial statements.
Just Energy Income Fund maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. These systems are designated to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Fund’s assets are properly accounted for
and adequately safeguarded.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately
responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through
its Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is comprised entirely of nonmanagement directors. The Audit Committee
meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing, internal controls, accounting policy and financial
reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated financial statements with both management and the external auditors and
reports its findings to the Board of Directors before such statements are approved by the Board.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards on behalf of the Unitholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee, with and
without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls.
On behalf of Just Energy Income Fund by Just Energy Corp., as administrator.

(signed)

(signed)

Ken Hartwick
Chief Executive Officer and President

Beth Summers
Chief Financial Officer
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Just Energy Income Fund as at March 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated statement
of operations, unitholders’ equity, comprehensive income and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at
March 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles.

(signed)
Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
May 19, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As at March 31
(thousands of dollars)
2010

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Restricted cash (Note 4)
Accounts receivable
Gas delivered in excess of consumption
Gas in storage
Inventory
Unbilled revenues
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Current portion of future income tax assets (Note 9)
Other assets – current (Note 13a)

$

60,132
18,650
348,892
7,410
4,058
6,323
20,793
20,038
29,139
2,703

2009

$

518,138
85,197
218,616
346,216
177,887
2,014
5,027

FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSETS (Note 9)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 6)
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 7)
GOODWILL
LONGTERM RECEIVABLE
OTHER ASSETS – LONG TERM (Note 13a)

LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Bank indebtedness (Note 8b iv)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Unit distribution payable
Corporate taxes payable
Current portion of future income tax liabilities (Note 9)
Deferred revenue
Accrued gas accounts payable
Current portion of longterm debt (Note 8)
Other liabilities – current (Note 13a)
LONGTERM DEBT (Note 8)
DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENTS
OTHER LIABILITIES – LONG TERM (Note 13a)
NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 10)
Unitholders’ capital
Contributed surplus
Unitholders’ deficit

59,094
7,609
249,480
–
6,690
257
57,779
2,020
–
5,544
388,473
–
19,971
5,097
117,061
–
5,153

$ 1,353,095

$

535,755

$

$

–
173,833
10,977
1,906
–
–
41,379
–
519,352

8,236
226,950
13,182
6,410
6,776
7,202
15,093
62,829
685,200
1,031,878
231,837
1,984
590,572

747,447
76,500
2,382
401,720

1,856,271

1,228,049

20,603

292

$(1,423,698)
221,969

$(1,470,277)
364,566

(1,201,729)
659,118
18,832

(1,105,711)
398,454
14,671

(523,779)
$ 1,353,095

(692,586)
$

535,755

Guarantees (Note 17) Commitments (Note 18) Contingencies (Note 19) Subsequent event (Note 23)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Income Fund by Just Energy Corp., as administrator.

(signed)

(signed)

Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair

Michael Kirby, Corporate Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amount)

SALES
COST OF SALES

2010

2009

$ 2,299,231
1,883,898

$ 1,899,213
1,576,397

415,333

322,816

88,423
95,760
17,940
58,548
7,897
4,754
522

59,586
68,093
13,887
3,594
5,100
4,098
220

273,844

154,578

141,489
16,134
1,282
(3,515)

168,238
3,857
1,336,976
(7,604)

127,588
(100,260)
(3,648)

(1,164,991)
(57,460)
(58)

$

231,496

$(1,107,473)

$
$

1.81
1.79

GROSS MARGIN
EXPENSES
General and administrative expenses
Marketing expenses
Bad debt expense
Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts
Amortization of property, plant and equipment
Unit based compensation
Capital tax expense

INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED
INTEREST EXPENSE (Note 8)
CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS (Note 13a)
OTHER INCOME
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
RECOVERY OF INCOME TAX (Note 9)
NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
NET INCOME (LOSS)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Income (loss) per unit (Note 15)
Basic
Diluted
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$
$

(10.03)
(10.03)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
2010

ACCUMULATED EARNINGS (DEFICIT)
Accumulated earnings (deficit), beginning of year
Adjustment for change in accounting policy
Net income (loss)

$ (712,427)
–
231,496

2009

$

392,082
2,964
(1,107,473)

Accumulated deficit, end of year

(480,931)

(712,427)

DISTRIBUTIONS
Distributions, beginning of year
Distributions and dividends on Exchangeable Shares
Class A preference share distributions – net of income taxes of $2,501 (2009 – $2,767)

(757,850)
(179,839)
(5,078)

(604,013)
(148,944)
(4,893)

Distributions, end of year

(942,767)

(757,850)

(1,423,698)

(1,470,277)

364,566
(142,597)

40,789
323,777

221,969

364,566

398,454
187,063
682
20,036
239,946
(187,063)
–
–

358,103
3,606
5,778
41,176
–
–
(6,603)
(3,606)

659,118

398,454

DEFICIT
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Note 10)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of year
UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL (Note 11)
Unitholders’ capital, beginning of year
Trust units exchanged
Trust units issued on exercise/exchange of unit compensation (Note 12d)
Trust units issued
Exchangeable Shares issued
Exchangeable Shares exchanged
Repurchase and cancellation of units
Class A preference shares exchanged
Unitholders’ capital, end of year
CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (Note 12d)

18,832

Unitholders’ deficit, end of year

$ (523,779)

14,671
$ (692,586)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
2010

NET INCOME (LOSS)
Unrealized gain (loss) on translation of selfsustaining operations
Unrealized and realized gain on derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges
prior to July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $89,256 (Note 13a)
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain of discontinued hedges, net of income taxes
of $34,339 (2009 – $38,805) (Note 13a)

$

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

$

2009

231,496
26,626

$(1,107,473)
(1,906)

–

498,654

(169,223)

(172,971)

(142,597)

323,777

88,899

$ (783,696)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended March 31
(thousands of dollars)
2010

2009

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities
OPERATING
Net income (loss)

$

Items not affecting cash
Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts
Amortization of property, plant and equipment
Unit based compensation
Noncontrolling interest
Future income taxes
Financing charges, noncash portion
Other
Change in fair value of derivative instruments

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales (Note 20)

$(1,107,473)

58,548
7,897
4,754
(3,648)
(122,014)
902
4,030
1,282

3,594
5,100
4,098
(58)
(64,088)
–
(3,940)
1,336,976

(48,249)

1,281,682

10,549

(7,623)

Changes in noncash working capital (Note 21)

(35,523)

6,181

Cash inflow from operations

158,273

172,767

–
(157,495)
(7,580)
2,501
–
8,236
243,797
(207,493)
1,500
626

4,293
(129,357)
(8,460)
2,767
(6,603)
–
87,726
(85,731)
–
(122)

(115,908)

(135,487)

(41,207)
(6,348)
9,799
290

(6,345)
–
(1,842)
–

(37,466)

(8,187)

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances

(3,861)

2,691

NET CASH INFLOW
CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR

1,038
59,094

31,784
27,310

FINANCING
Exercise of trust unit options (Note 12a)
Distributions and dividends paid to Unitholders and holders of Exchangeable Shares
Distributions to Class A preference shareholders
Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders
Units purchased for cancellation
Increase in bank indebtedness
Issuance of longterm debt
Repayment of longterm debt
Funding from minority interest holder of TGF
Restricted cash

INVESTING
Purchase of capital assets
Water heater customer acquisition costs and other intangible assets
Acquisitions (Note 5)
Proceeds from sale of customer contracts

CASH, END OF YEAR

$

60,132

$

59,094

Supplemental information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$
$

14,621
27,886

$
$

4,009
1,153

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended March 31, 2010
(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts)

NOTE

1

ORGANIZATION
Just Energy Income Fund (“Just Energy” or the “Fund”), formerly known as Energy Savings Income Fund, changed its name
effective June 1, 2009.
Just Energy is an openended, limitedpurpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to
distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario L.P. (“JE Ontario”),
Just Energy Manitoba L.P. (“JE Manitoba”), Just Energy Quebec L.P. (“JE Quebec”), Just Energy (B.C.) Limited Partnership (“JE B.C.”),
Just Energy Alberta L.P. (“JE Alberta”), Alberta Energy Savings L.P. (“AESLP”), Just Energy Illinois Corp. (“JEIC”), Just Energy
New York Corp. (“JENYC”), Just Energy Indiana Corp. (“JE Indiana”), Just Energy Texas L.P. (“JE Texas”), Just Energy Exchange Corp.
(“JEEC”), Universal Energy Corp. (“UEC”), Universal Gas and Electric Corporation (“UG&E”), Commerce Energy, Inc. (“Commerce”),
National Energy Corp. (“NEC”) operating under the trade name of National Home Services (“NHS”), and Terra Grain Fuels Inc.
(“TGF”), collectively, the “Just Energy Group”.

NOTE

2

OPERATIONS
Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under longterm
fixedprice and priceprotected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixedprice or priceprotected
program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these
essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference
between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the
associated volumes from its suppliers.
The Fund also offers green products through its JustGreen program. The electricity JustGreen product offers the customer the
option of having all or a portion of his or her electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro
or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits which will allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the
carbon footprint for their home or business. Management believes that these products will not only add to profits but will also
increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates.
In addition, through NHS, the Fund sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners and
produces and sells wheatbased ethanol through Terra Grain Fuels Inc.

NOTE 3(i)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”), and include the accounts of Just Energy Income Fund and its directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries and affiliates.

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents
All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to
be cash equivalents.

(c)

Unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable or gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues
Unbilled revenues are stated at estimated realizable value and result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered
by Just Energy to local distribution companies (“LDCs”). Accrued gas accounts payable represents the obligation to the LDCs with
respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered to the LDCs.
Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections
from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues.
Due to the seasonality of our operations, during the winter months, customers will have consumed more than what was delivered
resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable; however, in the summer months, customers will have
consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues.
These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets.
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(d)

Gas in storage
Gas in storage primarily represents the gas delivered to the LDCs in the states of Illinois, Indiana and New York. The balance will
fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage. Injections typically occur from April through November and withdrawals
occur from December through March.
In addition, a portion of the gas in storage relates to operations in the Province of Alberta. In Alberta, there is a month to month
carryover, which represents the difference between the gas delivered to the LDC within a month and customer consumption. The
delivery volumes in the following month are adjusted accordingly.
Gas in storage is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

(e)

Inventory
Inventory consists of water heaters as well as ethanol, ethanol in process and grain inventory. Water heaters are stated at the
lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being determined on a weighted average basis. Ethanol, ethanol in process and
grain inventory are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being determined on a weighted average basis.

(f)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost for water heaters, furnaces and air
conditioners includes the cost of installation. Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, with the half
year rule applied to additions, as follows:

(g)

Asset

Basis

Rate

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Ethanol plant and equipment
Commodity billing and settlement systems
Water heaters
Furnaces and air conditioners
Leasehold improvements
Vehicles

Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line

20%
20%
30%
100%
25 years
5 years
15 years
15 years
Term of lease
5 years

Goodwill
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the amounts
allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired, less liability assumed, based on their fair values. Goodwill is allocated as
of the date of the business combination to the Fund’s reporting units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
business combination.
Goodwill is not amortized and tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps; in the first step, the carrying amount of the
reporting unit including goodwill is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit including goodwill
exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and the second step of the
impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value,
in which case the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount
of the impairment loss, if any. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is
determined in a business combination.
Effective April 1, 2009, the Fund adopted Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 3064,
Goodwill and Intangible Assets, as described in Note 3(ii).

(h)

(i)
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Gas contracts and customer relationships
Gas contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the acquisition of
various gas contracts and expected renewals. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life of up to
five years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets.
Electricity contracts and customer relationships
Electricity contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the
acquisition of various electricity contracts and expected renewals. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated
remaining life of up to six years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets.
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(j)

Water heater contracts and customer relationships
Water heater contracts represent the fair value of rental contracts on the acquisition of various water heater contracts and expected
renewals. These contracts are operating leases and are amortized over their average estimated remaining life of up to 15 years on
a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets.

(k)

Impairment of longlived assets
Just Energy reviews longlived assets, which include property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives,
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, through use and eventual disposition. If the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.

(l)

Other assets (liabilities) – current/long term, change in fair value of derivative instruments and
other comprehensive income (loss)
Just Energy’s various derivative instruments have been accounted for using CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments –
Recognition and Measurement. Effective July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. In accordance with
CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges, the Fund is amortizing the accumulated gains and losses to June 30, 2008, from other
comprehensive income in the same period in which the original hedged item affects the Statement of Operations. No retrospective
restatement is required for this change. The derivatives are measured at fair value and booked to the consolidated balance sheets.
Effective July 1, 2008, all changes in fair value between periods are booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments on the
consolidated statements of operations.
Prior to July 1, 2008, financial instruments that met hedging requirements were accounted for under CICA Handbook Section
3865, Hedges. For derivative instruments accounted for under CICA Handbook Section 3865, Just Energy formally documented
the relationship between hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking various hedge transactions. This process included linking all derivative financial instruments to anticipated
transactions. Just Energy also formally assessed, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative
financial instruments that were used in hedging transactions were highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged items. The derivatives were measured at fair value and booked to the consolidated balance sheets. Changes in fair value
between periods were booked to other comprehensive income for the effective portion of the hedge with the remaining change
being booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations.
Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixedprice electricity and JustGreen electricity sales by entering
into fixedforfloating electricity swap contracts and physical forward contracts, unforced capacity contracts, heat rate swap
contracts, heat rate options, renewable energy certificates and financial and physical forward gas contracts (to fulfill obligations
under the heat rate swaps) with electricity and natural gas suppliers. These swaps and forwards are accounted for in accordance
with CICA Handbook Section 3855. Prior to July 1, 2008, they were accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section
3865 and, in some limited circumstances, CICA Handbook Section 3855.
Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixedprice gas and JustGreen gas contracts by entering into a
combination of physical gas forwards, financial gas forwards, physical transportation forwards, carbon offset contracts and option
contracts. Physical gas forwards and transportation forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855.
Prior to July 1, 2008, they were accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3865. Option contracts and financial gas
forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855.
Just Energy enters into hedges for its foreign exchange risk relating to its anticipated repatriation of U.S. denominated currency by
entering into foreign exchange forward contracts with its lender. Since April 1, 2007, Just Energy has accounted for these forward
contracts in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855 by recording them on the consolidated balance sheet as either other
assets or other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments.

(m)

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified into a defined category, namely, heldfortrading financial assets or financial liabilities, heldto
maturity investments, loans and receivables, availableforsale financial assets, or other financial liabilities. Financial instruments are
included on the Fund’s balance sheet and measured at fair value, except for loans and receivables, heldtomaturity financial
assets and other financial liabilities which are measured at cost or amortized cost. Financial assets and financial liabilities have
been initially remeasured as at April 1, 2009, to take into account the appropriate credit risk and counterparty credit risk (see
Note 13c). Gains and losses on heldfortrading financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in net earnings in the period
in which they arise. Unrealized gains and losses, including those related to changes in foreign exchange rates on availableforsale
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financial assets, are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the financial asset is derecognized or determined to
be impaired, at which time any unrealized gains or losses are recorded in net earnings. Transaction costs other than those related
to financial instruments classified as heldfortrading, which are expensed as incurred, are amortized using the effective interest
method. The following classifications have been applied:
•

cash and restricted cash as heldfortrading, which is measured at fair value;

•

accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables, which are measured at amortized cost; and

•

longterm debt, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, unit distribution payable and bank indebtedness are classified as
other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost.

Electricity:
Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide electricity and renewable energy at fixed prices (“customer
electricity contracts”). Customer electricity contracts include requirements contracts and contracts with fixed or variable volumes
at fixed prices. The customer electricity contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of electricity, renewable energy
certificates and consumption. To reduce its exposure to movements in commodity prices arising from the acquisition of electricity
and renewable energy certificates at floating rates, Just Energy uses electricity derivative contracts (“electricity derivative
contracts”). These electricity derivative contracts are fixedforfloating swaps, physical electricity forward contracts, unforced
capacity contracts, renewable energy certificates or a combination of heat rate swaps, heat rate options and physical or financial
forward gas contracts.
Just Energy agrees to exchange the difference between the variable or indexed price and the fixed price on a notional quantity of
electricity for a specified time frame in the fixedforfloating contract arrangements. Just Energy takes title to the renewable
energy certificate volumes to satisfy customer contracts. Just Energy takes title to electricity at a fixed price for scheduling into the
power grid under the forward contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay for certain quantities of power based on the floating price of
natural gas under heat rate swaps. In order to cover the floating price of gas under these arrangements, prices for gas are fixed
through either physical or financial forward gas contracts, with a protection against weather variation achieved through the
purchase of heat rate options. These contracts are expected to be effective as economic hedges of the electricity price exposure.
The premiums and settlements for these derivative instruments are recognized in cost of sales, when incurred.
The fair value of the electricity derivative contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in the fair value
being recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior to July 1,
2008, Just Energy monitored its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and supply contracts and evaluated the
effectiveness of the relationships on a quarterly basis to meet criteria for hedge accounting. The changes in the fair value were
recorded in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge measurement was effective with the remainder recorded in
change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any electricity derivative contracts that did not qualify for hedge accounting or were
dedesignated as a hedge were recorded at fair market value with the changes in fair value recorded in current period income as a
component of change in fair value of derivative instruments. After July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting.
Any gains or losses accumulated up to the date that the electricity derivative contract was terminated or dedesignated as a hedge
were deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) then recorded in cost of sales when the hedged customer
electricity contract affected income.
Gas:
Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide gas and carbon offsets at fixed prices (“customer gas
contracts”). Customer gas contracts include requirements contracts and contracts with fixed or variable volumes at fixed prices.
The customer gas contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of gas and consumption. To reduce its exposure to
movements in commodity prices and usage, Just Energy uses carbon offset, options and gas physical and financial contracts (“gas
supply contracts”). These gas supply contracts are expected to be effective as economic hedges of the gas price exposure.
Just Energy uses physical forwards, carbon offset transportation forwards (together “physical gas supply contracts”) and other gas
financial instruments to fix the price of its gas supply. Under the physical gas supply contracts, Just Energy agrees to pay a
specified price per volume of gas or transportation. Other financial instruments are comprised of financial puts and calls that fix
the price of gas in jurisdictions where Just Energy has scheduling responsibilities and therefore is exposed to commodity price risk
on volumes above or below its base supply.
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The fair value of physical gas contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in the fair value being recorded
in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior to July 1, 2008, Just Energy
monitored its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and its supply contracts and evaluated the effectiveness
of these relationships on a quarterly basis to meet the criteria of hedge accounting. The changes were recorded in other
comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge measurement was effective with the remainder recorded in change in fair
value of derivative instruments. Any physical gas contract that did not qualify for hedge accounting or was dedesignated as an
accounting hedge together with the gas financial instruments were valued at fair market value with the changes in fair value
recorded in current period income as a component of change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any gains or losses
accumulated up to the date that the physical gas supply contract was terminated or dedesignated as a hedge were deferred in
AOCI then recorded in cost of sales when the hedged customer gas contract affected income. After July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased
the utilization of hedge accounting.
Foreign exchange:
To reduce its exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates, Just Energy uses foreign exchange forwards (“foreign exchange
contracts”). These foreign exchange contracts were expected to be effective as hedges of the anticipated cross border cash flow
but were found to be not effective under GAAP accounting requirements during fiscal 2007.
Up until September 30, 2006, unrealized gains on foreign exchange contracts up to the date of dedesignation of the hedging
relationship were deferred to be recognized over the term of the contract based on the timing of the underlying hedged
transactions. As of October 1, 2006, these derivative financial instruments have been recorded on the balance sheet as either
other assets or other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in income as other income (expense).
The deferred gain was reclassified to AOCI as of April 1, 2007.
(n)

Revenue recognition
Just Energy delivers gas and/or electricity to enduse customers who have entered into longterm fixedprice contracts. Revenue is
recognized when the commodity is consumed by the enduse customer or sold to third parties. The Fund assumes credit risk in
Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland and California, and for large volume customers in British Columbia and Ontario. In
these markets, the Fund ensures that credit review processes are in place prior to commodity flowing to the customer.
Just Energy recognizes revenue upon delivery to customers at terminals or other locations for ethanol and dried distillers grain.
Just Energy recognizes water heater revenue from the monthly rental or sale commencing from the installation of the water heater.

(o)

Marketing expenses
Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the
period incurred.

(p)

Foreign currency translation
The operations of the Fund’s U.S.based subsidiaries are selfsustaining. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of foreign
subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are
translated at the average rate of exchange for the period. The resulting gains and losses are accumulated as a component of
Unitholders’ equity within AOCI.

(q)

Per unit amounts
The computation of income per unit is based on the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per unit is computed in a similar way to basic earnings per unit except that the weighted average units outstanding are
increased to include additional units assuming the exercise of unit options, unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants,
exchangeable shares and conversion of convertible debentures, if dilutive.

(r)

Unit based compensation plans
The Fund accounts for all of its unit based compensation awards using the fair value based method.
Awards are valued at grant date and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying unit and other
measurement assumptions. Compensation for awards without performance conditions is recognized as an expense and a credit to
contributed surplus over the related vesting period of the awards. Compensation for awards with performance conditions is
recognized based on management’s best estimate of whether the performance condition will be achieved.
When options, unit appreciation rights (“UARs”) and deferred unit grants (“DUGs”) are exercised or exchanged, the amounts
previously credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited to Unitholders’ equity. The amount of cash, if any, received
from participants is also credited to Unitholders’ equity.
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(s)

Employee future beneﬁts
Just Energy established a longterm incentive plan (the “Plan”) for the permanent fulltime and parttime employees (working
more than 20 hours per week) of Just Energy Corp. (“JEC”), JE BC, JE Alberta, JE Manitoba and JE Quebec. The Plan consists of
two components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan (“DPSP”) and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan (“EPSP”).
For participants of the DPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount equal to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base
earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base earnings
towards the purchase of trust units of the Fund, on a matching one for one basis.
For the U.S. employees, Just Energy has established a 401(k) plan to provide employees the potential for future financial security
for retirement. Employees may participate in the 401(k) plan subject to all the terms and conditions of the plan. They may join the
plan on the first of any month, once they have completed six months of employment. The 401(k) savings plan is an employer
matching plan. Just Energy will match an amount up to 4% of their base earnings. Employees may contribute from 1% up to
25% of their total salary with Just Energy on a beforehandbasis with a 2010 calendar year maximum of $17.
Participation in either plan in Canada or the U.S. is voluntary. The Plan has a twoyear vesting period beginning from the later of
the Plan’s effective date and the employee’s starting date. During the year, Just Energy contributed $1,096 (2009 – $739) to both
plans, which was paid in full during the year and recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of operations.

(t)

Exchangeable securities
Just Energy follows the recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) relating to the presentation of exchangeable
securities, which includes the Class A preference shares, issued by subsidiaries of income funds. The recommendations require that
the exchangeable securities issued by a subsidiary of an income fund be presented on the consolidated balance sheet of the
income fund as a part of Unitholders’ equity if the following criteria have been met:
•

the holders of the exchangeable securities are entitled to receive distributions of earnings economically equivalent to
distributions received on units of the income fund; and

•

the exchangeable securities ultimately are required to be exchanged for units of the income fund as a result of the passage of
fixed periods of time or the nontransferability to third parties of the exchangeable securities without first exchanging them for
units of the income fund.

The exchangeable shares and Class A preference shares meet these criteria and have been classified as Unitholders’ equity. All
distributions paid to JEEC shareholders are included in Unitholders’ equity. All distributions paid to the Class A preference
shareholder must be recorded in Unitholders’ equity, net of tax. The management incentive program, which is a bonus equal to
the distribution amount received by a Unitholder, is additional compensation to senior management of JEC, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Fund.
(u)

Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements, in conformity with Canadian GAAP, requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates and assumptions. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include allowance for doubtful
accounts, estimate of the useful life and estimated fair value of property, plant and equipment and impairments thereon, valuation of
goodwill and intangibles and the impairment thereon, valuation allowances for future tax assets, the determination of the fair values
of financial instruments, as the aggregate fair value amounts represent point in time estimates only and should not be interpreted as
being realizable in an immediate settlement of the supply contracts, and the determination of unit based compensation.

(v)

Income taxes
The Fund is a taxable entity under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and is taxable on income that is not distributed or distributable to
the Fund’s Unitholders. Payments made between the Canadian operating entities and the Fund ultimately transfer both current
and future income tax liabilities to the Unitholders. The future income tax liability associated with Canadian assets recorded on the
balance sheet is recovered over time through these payments.
Effective January 1, 2011, the Fund will be subject to a Specified Investment FlowThrough (“SIFT”) entity tax on distributions of
Canadian taxable income that has not been subject to a Canadian corporate income tax in the Canadian operating entities.
Therefore, the Fund has computed future income based on temporary differences expected to reverse after December 31, 2010 at
the substantively enacted tax rates and laws expected to apply for such periods. Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued
for only after December 31, 2010 to the extent that there is taxable income in the Fund or its underlying operating entities.
The U.S.based corporate subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes on its taxable income determined under U.S. income tax
rules and regulations.
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The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are
recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets
and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates
expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability settled. A valuation allowance is recorded against a future income tax
asset if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the future tax assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future. The
effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income
during the period that the change occurs.
(ii)

ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
In June 2009, the CICA amended Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures, to include additional disclosure relating to the
measurement of fair value for financial instruments and liquidity risk. The amendment establishes a three level hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in fair value measurements on financial instruments. The amendment is effective for
annual financial statements relating to fiscal years ending after September 30, 2009; therefore, the Fund has included these
additional disclosures (see Note 13) for year end March 31, 2010. As this standard only addresses disclosure requirements, there is
no impact on the financial position of the Fund.
On April 1, 2009, the Fund adopted a new accounting standard that was issued by the CICA Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill
and Intangible Assets, which establishes revised standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill
and intangible assets. Just Energy adopted this standard retroactively as required by the standards with no impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

(iii)

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effective date:
Business Combinations
In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations (“CICA 1582”), concurrently with CICA
Handbook Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements (“CICA 1601”), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Noncontrolling
Interest (“CICA 1602”). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards
for the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the
preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition other than noncontrolling interests. CICA 1602
establishes guidance for the treatment of noncontrolling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination.
These new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the
impact of these standards on its consolidated financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standards
In February 2008, CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.
Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim consolidated financial statements
under IFRS for the threemonth period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of consolidated financial statements under IFRS
for the year ending March 31, 2012.
Just Energy has developed a changeover plan which includes a diagnostic assessment, solution development and an
implementation phase. The Fund has completed the initial assessment and solution development phases. This included certain
training initiatives, researching and documenting the significant differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS, assessing the
impact on the Fund and a preliminary assessment of the information technology systems.
Significant differences exist which may impact the Fund’s financial reporting. Those areas include, but are not limited to, property,
plant and equipment, impairment of assets, accounting for income taxes, financial instruments, employee benefits as well as the
firsttime adoption of IFRS (“IFRS 1”).
As part of the conversion plan, the Fund is in the process of analyzing the detailed impacts of these identified differences and
developing solutions to bridge these differences. Although the impact of the adoption of IFRS on the Fund’s financial position and
results of operations is not yet reasonably determinable or estimable, the Fund does expect a significant increase in financial
statement disclosure requirements resulting from the adoption of IFRS. Just Energy is currently on target with its conversion plan.
For additional information, please refer to the 2010 Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
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NOTE

4

RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash and customer rebates payable represent: (i) funds held as security for payment of certain monthly charges, (ii)
rebate monies received from local distribution companies in Ontario as provided by the Independent Electricity System Operator
(“IESO”), and (iii) funds held as security for a TGF credit facility.
(i) Certain subsidiaries are required to post collateral to counterparties including pipelines, wire owners and local distribution
companies to secure payment of future expected charges. Commerce has provided cash collateral with one supplier, and this
security was in place prior to the acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd (“UEG”) by Just Energy.
(ii) JE Ontario is obligated to disperse the monies to eligible enduse customers in accordance with the Ontario Power Generation
Rebate as part of Just Energy Ontario L.P.’s Retailer License conditions.
(iii) UEG provided cash collateral as security for a $10,000 term facility provided to TGF. This facility and liquid security was in place
prior to the acquisition of UEG by Just Energy.

NOTE

5
(a)

ACQUISITIONS
Acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd.
On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group Ltd.
(“UEG”) pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement”). Under the Arrangement, UEG shareholders received 0.58 of an
exchangeable share (“Exchangeable Share”) of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy, for each UEG common share held. In aggregate,
21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable Share is exchangeable for a trust
unit on a oneforone basis at any time at the option of the holder and entitles the holder to a monthly dividend equal to 66 2⁄3%
of the monthly distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust unit. JEEC also assumed all the covenants and obligations of UEG in
respect of UEG’s outstanding 6% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the “Debentures”). On conversion of the
Debentures, holders will be entitled to receive 0.58 of an Exchangeable Share in lieu of each UEG common share that the holder
was previously entitled to receive on conversion.
The acquisition of UEG was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the purchase price to the
identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows:
CAD$

Net assets acquired:
Working capital (including cash of $10,319)
Electricity contracts and customer relationships
Gas contracts and customer relationships
Water heater contracts and customer relationships
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Future tax liabilities
Other liabilities – current
Other liabilities – longterm
Longterm debt
Noncontrolling interest

$

$
Consideration:
Transaction costs
Exchangeable Shares

249,898

$
$

74,314
229,586
243,346
22,700
2,721
66,794
171,693
(50,475)
(164,148)
(140,857)
(183,079)
(22,697)

9,952
239,946
249,898

Noncontrolling interest represents 33.3% ownership of TGF held by Ellis Don Corporation.
All contracts and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and electricity
contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods ranging from eight to 57 months. The water heater contracts and
customer relationships are amortized over 174 months and the intangible assets are amortized over six months. The purchase
price allocation is considered preliminary and as a result it may be adjusted prior to July 1, 2010.
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(b)

Newten Home Comfort Inc.
On July 2, 2009, NEC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Fund, acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc., an arm’s length third party
that held a 20% interest in Newten Home Comfort L.P. for $3.2 million, of which $520 was paid in cash and determined to be the
purchase price consideration. The purchase price consideration excludes contingent payments to the 20% interest holders that
will become payable in July 2012 based on the number of completed water heater installations. Any contingent payments made
will result in an increase to the balance of goodwill generated by the acquisition.

(c)

Acquisition of CEG’s natural gas customers
During the prior fiscal year, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer contracts of CEG
Energy Options Inc. (“CEG”) in British Columbia. CEG was a Western Canada marketer of natural gas wholly owned by
SemCanada Energy Company, both of which filed for creditor protection under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act on
July 30, 2008. The customer contracts had annualized volumes of approximately 4.9 million GJ.
The purchase price was allocated as follows:
Net assets acquired:
Gas contracts

$

Consideration:
Cash

$

1,842
1,842

The gas contracts are being amortized over the average remaining life of the contracts, which at the time of the acquisition was
20 months.
NOTE

6

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2010

Cost

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Commodity billing and settlement system
Water heaters
Furnaces and air conditioners
Leasehold improvements
Vehicle
Ethanol plant and equipment
Land

2009

$

$

Net book
value

$

5,581
14,810
6,417
5,562
6,544
51,059
317
8,409
197
159,500
299

$

2,972
5,930
3,763
4,198
6,515
2,481
4
4,116
46
10,054
–

$

2,609
8,880
2,654
1,364
29
48,578
313
4,293
151
149,446
299

$

258,695

$

40,079

$

218,616

Cost

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Commodity billing and settlement system
Water heaters
Leasehold improvements

Accumulated
amortization

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

3,770
11,119
5,387
2,565
6,993
2,324
7,603

$

1,889
3,959
2,543
1,750
6,654
77
2,918

$

1,881
7,160
2,844
815
339
2,247
4,685

39,761

$

19,790

$

19,971
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NOTE

7

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2010

Cost

Gas contracts and customer relationships
Electricity contracts and customer relationships
Water heater contracts and customer relationships
Other intangible assets

2009

$
$

NOTE

8

Net book
value

$

228,827
245,617
23,081
8,725

$

63,484
92,779
1,218
2,553

$

165,343
152,838
21,863
6,172

$

506,250

$

160,034

$

346,216

Cost

Gas contracts and customer relationships
Electricity contracts and customer relationships

Accumulated
amortization

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

2,223
14,379

$

710
10,795

$

1,513
3,584

16,602

$

11,505

$

5,097

$

57,500
41,313
37,001
10,000
83,417
65,435

$

76,500
–
–
–
–
–

LONGTERM DEBT AND FINANCING
2010

Credit facility (a)
TGF credit facility (b)(i)
TGF debentures (b)(ii)
TGF operating facilities (b)(iii)
JEEC convertible debentures (c)
NEC Home Trust Company financing (d)

2009

294,666
(62,829)

Less: current portion
$

231,837

76,500
–
$

76,500

Future annual minimum principal repayments are as follows:

Credit facility (a)
TGF credit facility (b)(i)
TGF debentures (b)(ii)
TGF operating facilities (b)(iii)
JEEC convertible debentures (c)
NEC HTC financing (d)

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Total

–
41,313
–
10,000
–
11,516

57,500
–
3,998
–
–
12,470

–
–
33,003
–
–
13,504

–
–
–
–
83,417
14,623

–
–
–
–
–
13,322

57,500
41,313
37,001
10,000
83,417
65,435

62,829

73,968

46,507

98,040

13,322

294,666

The following table details the interest expense. Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate.
2010

Credit facility (a)
TGF credit facility (b)(i)
TGF debentures (b)(ii)
TGF wheat production financing
TGF operating facilities (b)(iii)
JEEC convertible debentures (c)
NEC HTC financing (d)
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2009

$

5,258
1,365
3,049
10
683
4,952
817

$

3,857
–
–
–
–
–
–

$

16,134

$

3,857
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(a) On July 1, 2009, in connection with the acquisition of UEG, Just Energy increased its credit facility from $170 million to
$250 million. The credit facility is available to Just Energy to meet working capital requirements. As part of the increase in
the credit facility, Société Générale and Alberta Treasury Branches joined Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank
of Canada, National Bank of Canada and Bank of Nova Scotia as the syndicate of lenders thereunder. The repayment of the
facility is due on October 29, 2011.
Interest is payable on outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers’ Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S.
prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR
advances at stamping fees of 4.0%, prime rate advances at bank prime plus 3.0%, and letters of credit at 4.0%. As at
March 31, 2010, the Canadian prime rate was 2.25% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%. As at March 31, 2010, Just Energy
had drawn $57,500 (2009 – $76,500) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding amounted to $49,444 (2009 –
$8,459). Just Energy has $143,056 of the facility remaining for future working capital and security requirements. Just Energy’s
obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge
of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a
number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. As at March 31, 2010 and 2009, all of these covenants
have been met.
(b) In connection with the acquisition of UEG on July 1, 2009, the Fund acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which currently
comprises three separate facilities, outlined below:
(i) TGF credit facility
A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and
was arranged to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and
was converted to a fixed repayment term of ten years commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate
of prime plus 2% with principal repayments scheduled to commence on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by a
demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of TGF and a general security
interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. As a result, the facility is fully classified as a current obligation. The
credit facility includes certain financial covenants the more significant of which relates to current ratio, debt to equity ratio,
debt service coverage and minimum shareholders’ equity. The lenders have deferred compliance with the financial
covenants until April 1, 2011. The facility was further revised on March 31, 2010, to postpone the principal payments due
for April 1 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize them over the sixmonth period commencing October 1, 2010, and ending
March 1, 2011. As at March 31, 2010, the amount owing under this facility amounted to $41,313.
(ii) TGF debentures
A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate
principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The interest rate is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually
and payable quarterly. Interest is to be paid quarterly with quarterly principal payments commencing October 1, 2009, in
the amount of $1,000 per quarter. The agreement includes certain financial covenants the most significant of which relates
to current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA, and minimum shareholders’ equity. The
lender has deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. On March 31, 2010, TGF entered into an
agreement with the holders of the debenture to defer scheduled principal payments owing under the debenture until April 1,
2011. As a result, the debentures are fully classified as a longterm obligation. As at March 31, 2010, the amount owing
under this debenture agreement amounted to $37,001.
(iii) TGF term/operating facilities
TGF maintains a term loan for $10,000 with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1% due in full on December 31,
2010. This facility is secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender. As at March 31, 2010, the amount owing
under the facility amounted to $10,000.
(iv) TGF has a working capital operating line of $7,000 bearing interest at rate of prime plus 1% of which $3,239 was drawn
via overdraft. In addition, total letters of credit issued amounted to $1,600.
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(c) In conjunction with the acquisition of UEG on July 1, 2009, JEEC also acquired the obligations of the convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures issued by UEG in October 2007. These instruments have a face value of $90,000 and mature on
September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date and bear interest at an annual rate of 6% payable semiannually on
March 31 and September 30 of each year. Each $1,000 principal amount of the debentures is convertible at any time prior to
maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 27.3 Exchangeable Shares of
Just Energy Exchange Corp., representing a conversion price of $36.63 per Exchangeable Share. During the year, interest
expense amounted to $4,952.
The debentures are not redeemable prior to October 1, 2010. On and after October 1, 2010, but prior to September 30, 2012,
the debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, at the Fund’s sole option on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, provided that the current
market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after
September 30, 2012, but prior to the maturity date, the debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to
the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at the Fund’s sole option on not more than 60 days’ and not
less than 30 days’ prior notice.
(d) On January 18, 2010, NEC entered into a longterm financing agreement for the funding of new and existing rental water
heater contracts. Pursuant to the agreement, NEC will receive financing equal to the present value of the first five years of
monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.99% and as settlement is required to remit all
proceeds received from customers on the water heater contracts for the first five years. As security for performance of the
obligation, NEC has pledged the water heaters subject to the financed rental agreement as collateral.
The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is
deducted and deposited to a reserve account in the event of default. Once all obligations of NEC are satisfied or expired, the
remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be released to NEC.
NEC has $65,435 owing under this agreement including $2,014 relating to the holdback provision as at March 31, 2010. The
company is required to meet a number of covenants under the agreement. As at March 31, 2010, all of these covenants have
been met.
NOTE

9

INCOME TAXES
The Fund is a mutual fund trust for income tax purposes. Pursuant to its announcement on February 3, 2010, it plans to
reorganize its income trust structure and convert into a corporation on or before January 1, 2011 (“Conversion”). Until
Conversion, the Fund is only subject to current income taxes on any taxable income not distributed to Unitholders. Subsequent to
Conversion on or before January 1, 2011, the Fund will be subject to current income taxes on all of its taxable income. If the
Fund’s equity capital grows beyond certain dollar limits prior to January 1, 2011, the Fund would become a SIFT and would
commence in that year being subject to tax on income distributed. The Fund expects that its income distributed will not be subject
to tax prior to 2011 and intends to distribute all its taxable income earned prior to then. Accordingly, the Fund has not provided
for future income taxes on its temporary differences, and those of its flowthrough subsidiary trust and partnerships are expected
to reverse prior to 2011 as it is considered taxexempt for accounting purposes. The tax basis of the assets and liabilities of the
Fund related to such temporary differences expected to reverse before 2011 exceed the financial statement carrying amounts by
approximately $138,410 (2009 – $283,339), reflecting future tax deductions in excess of future taxable amounts.
The Fund has recognized future income taxes for the temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax values of assets
and liabilities in respect of the proportion of the Fund’s income taxed directly to the Unitholders that are expected to reverse in or
after 2011. A valuation allowance has been provided against future tax assets of certain subsidiaries where the Fund has
determined that it is more likely than not that those future tax assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future. The valuation
allowance may be reduced in future periods if the Fund determines that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of those
future tax assets will be realized.
Canadianbased corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 33% (2009 – 33%). U.S.based
corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 40% (2009 – 40%).
At March 31, 2010, the U.S. subsidiaries of Just Energy do not have operating losses carryover for tax purposes (2009 – $3,147).
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The following table reconciles the difference between the income taxes that would result solely by applying statutory tax rates to
the pretax income for Just Energy and the income tax provision in the financial statements.
2010

Income (loss) before income tax

$

Income tax expense at the combined basic rate of 33% (2009 – 33%)
Taxes on income attributable to Unitholders
Unrecognized tax benefit on mark to market losses on derivative instruments
Recognized tax benefit on mark to market losses on derivative instruments
Tax impact of corporate reorganization
Benefit of U.S. tax losses and other tax assets not previously recognized
Nondeductible expenses

127,588

2009

$(1,164,991)

42,104
(42,045)
–
–
–
(100,459)
140

Recovery of income tax

$ (100,260)

(384,448)
(49,294)
385,070
–
(3,729)
(5,199)
140
$

(57,460)

Components of Just Energy’s income tax recovery are as follows:
2010

Income tax provision
Amount credited to Unitholders’ equity

$

Current income tax provision
Future tax recovery

19,253
2,501

2009

$

21,754
(122,014)

Recovery of income tax

$ (100,260)

3,861
2,767
6,628
(64,088)

$

(57,460)

Components of the Fund’s net future income tax asset are as follows:
2010

Partnership income deferred for tax purposes and book carrying amount
of investments in partnerships in excess of tax cost
Excess of book basis over tax basis on customer contracts
Excess of tax basis over book basis for U.S. operations
Mark to market losses on derivative instruments

$

$

188,253
80,693

Less: valuation allowance
Future income tax assets (net)
NOTE 10

(483)
(84,840)
28,339
245,237

2009

$

107,560

(598)
–
13,037
140,047
152,486
152,486

$

–

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2010

Foreign currency
translation
adjustment

Balance, beginning of year
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges
after July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $34,339

$

$

–
$

28,584

$

3,864
(1,906)

$

362,608
–

Total

$

(169,223)
$

Foreign currency
translation
adjustment

2009

Balance, beginning of year
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges
prior to July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $89,256
Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges
after July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $38,805

1,958
26,626

Cash flow
hedges

193,385

(169,223)
$

Cash flow
hedges

$

36,925
–

364,566
26,626

221,969

Total

$

40,789
(1,906)

–

498,654

498,654

–

(172,971)

(172,971)

1,958

$

362,608

$

364,566
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NOTE 11

UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL
Trust units of the Fund
An unlimited number of units may be issued. Each unit is transferable, voting and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest
in any distributions from the Fund whether of net income, net realized capital gains or other amounts, and in the net assets of the
Fund in the event of termination or windingup of the Fund.
The Fund intends to make distributions to its Unitholders based on the cash receipts of the Fund, excluding proceeds from the
issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs and expense of the Fund, amount which may be paid by the Fund in
connection with any cash redemptions or repurchases of units and any other amount that the Board of Directors considers
necessary to provide for the payment of any costs which have been or will be incurred in the activities and operations of the Fund.
The Fund’s intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at the end of the month,
excluding any Special Distributions.

Class A preference shares of Just Energy Corp. (“JEC”)
The terms of the unlimited Class A preference shares of JEC are nonvoting, noncumulative and exchangeable into trust units in
accordance with the JEC shareholders’ agreement as restated and amended, with no priority on dissolution. Pursuant to the
amended and restated Declaration of Trust which governs the Fund, the holders of Class A preference shares are entitled to vote in
all votes of Unitholders as if they were the holders of the number of units that they would receive if they exercised their shareholder
exchange rights. Class A preference shareholders have equal entitlement to distributions from the Fund as Unitholders.

Exchangeable Shares of JEEC
On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of UEG pursuant to the
Arrangement. Under the Arrangement, UEG shareholders received 0.58 of an exchangeable share of JEEC, for each UEG common
share held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable Share is
exchangeable for a trust unit on a oneforone basis at any time at the option of the holder and entitles the holder to a monthly
dividend equal to 66 2⁄3% of the monthly distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust unit.
Issued and outstanding

2009
Units/Shares

Trust units
Balance, beginning of year
Options exercised
Unit based awards exercised/exchanged
Distribution reinvestment plan
Units issued
Units cancelled
Exchanged from Exchangeable Shares
Exchanged from Class A preference shares

106,138,523
–
49,078
1,554,074
–
–
16,583,632
–

Balance, end of year

385,294
–
682
20,036
–
–
187,063
–

102,152,194
355,000
65,036
1,697,394
1,336,115
(909,700)
–
1,442,484

124,325,307

593,075

106,138,523

385,294

Class A preference shares
Balance, beginning of year
Exchanged into units

5,263,728
–

13,160
–

6,706,212
(1,442,484)

16,766
(3,606)

Balance, end of year

5,263,728

13,160

5,263,728

13,160

–
21,271,804
(16,583,632)

–
239,946
(187,063)

–
–
–

–
–
–

4,688,172

52,883

–

–

Exchangeable Shares
Balance, beginning of year
Exchangeable Shares issued
Exchanged into units
Balance, end of year
Unitholders’ capital, end of year
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Units/Shares
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134,277,207

$

$

659,118

111,402,251

$

$

341,337
4,840
938
18,863
22,313
(6,603)
–
3,606

398,454
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Distribution reinvestment plan
Under the Fund’s distribution reinvestment plan (“DRIP”), Unitholders holding a minimum of 100 units can elect to receive their
distributions (both regular and special) in units rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing price of the units
for five trading days preceding the applicable distribution payment date, providing the units are issued from treasury and not
purchased on the open market.

Units cancelled
During the prior fiscal year, the Fund obtained approval from its Board of Directors to make a normal course issuer bid to purchase
up to 9,000,000 units, for the 12month period commencing November 21, 2008, and ending November 20, 2009. A maximum
of 44,754 units could be purchased during any trading day. No units were purchased and cancelled during the year. During the
prior fiscal year, the Fund purchased and cancelled 909,700 units for a cash consideration of $6,603.

Units issued
During the year ended March 31, 2010, the Fund issued 16,583,632 units relating to the exchange of Exchangeable Shares. The
Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to Just Energy’s acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd.
During the prior comparable year, the Fund issued 1,336,115 units relating to a portion of the Special Distribution declared on
December 31, 2007, payable in units.

UNIT BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

NOTE 12

Unit option plan

(a)

The Fund grants awards under its 2001 unit option plan to directors, officers, fulltime employees and service providers
(nonemployees) of Just Energy. In accordance with the unit option plan, the Fund may grant options to a maximum of
11,300,000 units. As at March 31, 2010, there were 961,666 options still available for grant under the plan. Of the options
issued, 352,500 options remain outstanding at yearend. The exercise price of the unit options equals the closing market price of
the Fund’s units on the last business day preceding the grant date. The unit options will vest over periods ranging from three to
five years from the grant date and expire after five or ten years from the grant date.
A summary of the changes in the Fund’s option plan during the year and status at March 31, 2010, is outlined below.

1

Weighted
average
exercise price1

Outstanding
options

Range of
exercise prices

Balance, beginning of year
Granted
Forfeited/cancelled
Exercised

555,500
–
203,000
–

$11.25 – $18.70
–
$12.69 – $18.70
–

$

15.88
–
15.82
–

Balance, end of year

352,500

$15.09 – $17.47

$

15.92

The weighted average exercise price is calculated by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of options granted.
2010

Options outstanding

Options exercisable

Number
outstanding

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life

$15.09 – $15.63
$16.65 – $17.47

267,500
85,000

0.49
1.20

$

15.53
17.13

200,000
51,000

$

15.63
17.13

Balance, end of year

352,500

0.66

$

15.92

251,000

$

15.94

Range of exercise prices

2009

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number
exercisable

Options outstanding

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Options exercisable

Number
outstanding

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life

$12.69 – $15.63
$15.90 – $18.70

330,500
225,000

1.95
1.76

$

15.05
17.10

158,700
154,000

$

15.55
17.08

Balance, end of year

555,500

1.88

$

15.88

312,700

$

16.30

Range of exercise prices

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number
exercisable

Weighted
average
exercise
price

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

75

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Options available for grant

2010

2009

Balance, beginning of year
Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year
Less: Granted during the year

758,666
203,000
–

698,666
110,000
(50,000)

Balance, end of year

961,666

758,666

The Fund uses a binomial option pricing model to estimate the fair values. The binomial model was chosen because of the yield
associated with the units. Fair values of employee unit options are estimated at grant date. Fair values of nonemployee unit
options are estimated and revalued each reporting period until a measurement date is achieved. The following weighted average
assumptions have been used in the valuation for fiscal 2009:

(b)

Riskfree rate

3.13%

Expected volatility

27.31%

Expected life

5 years

Expected distributions

$1.24 per year

Unit appreciation rights
The Fund grants awards under its 2004 unit appreciation rights (“UARs”) plan to senior officers, employees and service providers
of its subsidiaries and affiliates in the form of fully paid UARs. On June 25, 2009, the Unitholders of the Fund approved a
1,000,000 increase in the number of UARs available for grant. After this increase, in accordance with the unit appreciation rights
plan, the Fund may grant UARs to a maximum of 3,000,000. As at March 31, 2010, there were 74,472 (2009 – 374,668) UARs
still available for grant under the plan. Of the UARs issued, 2,640,723 UARs remain outstanding at March 31, 2010. Except as
otherwise provided (i) the UARs vest from one to five years from the grant date providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting
date the UAR grantee continues as a senior officer, employee or service provider of the Fund or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the UARs
expire no later than ten years from the grant date; (iii) a holder of UARs is entitled to distributions as if a UAR were a unit; and (iv)
when vested, the holder of a UAR may exchange one UAR for one unit.
UARs available for grant
Balance, beginning of year
Less: Granted during the year
Add: Increase in UARs available for grant
Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year
Balance, end of year
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2010

374,668
(1,307,192)
1,000,000
6,996
74,472

2009

804,170
(455,215)
–
25,713
374,668
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(c)

Deferred unit grants
The Fund grants awards under its 2004 Directors’ deferred compensation plan to all independent directors on the basis each
director is required to annually receive $15 of his or her compensation entitlement in deferred unit grants (“DUGs”), and may
elect to receive all or any portion of the balance of his annual compensation in DUGs. The holders of DUGs are also granted
additional DUGs on a monthly basis equal to the monthly distribution paid to Unitholders of the Fund. On June 25, 2009, the
Unitholders of the Fund approved a 100,000 increase in the number of DUGs available for grant. After this increase, in accordance
with the deferred compensation plan, the Fund may grant DUGs to a maximum of 200,000. The DUGs vest on the earlier of the
date of the director’s resignation or three years following the date of grant and expire ten years following the date of grant. As of
March 31, 2010, there were 108,248 (2009 – 31,568) DUGs available for grant under the plan. Of the DUGs issued, 84,138 DUGs
remain outstanding at March 31, 2010.
DUGs available for grant

(d)

2010

2009

Balance, beginning of year
Add: Increase in DUGS available for grant
Less: Granted during the year

31,568
100,000
(23,320)

56,537
–
(24,969)

Balance, end of year

108,248

31,568

Contributed surplus
Amounts credited to contributed surplus include unit based compensation awards, UARs and DUGs. Amounts charged to
contributed surplus are awards exercised during the year.
Contributed surplus

2010

2009

Balance, beginning of year
Add: Unit based compensation awards
Noncash deferred unit grant distributions
Less: Unit based awards exercised

$

14,671
4,754
89
(682)

$

12,004
4,098
55
(1,486)

Balance, end of year

$

18,832

$

14,671

Total amounts credited to Unitholders’ capital in respect of unit options and deferred unit grants exercised or exchanged during
the year ended March 31, 2010, amounted to $682 (2009 – $5,778).
Cash received from options exercised for the year ended March 31, 2010, amounted to $nil (2009 – $4,293).
NOTE 13
(a)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value
The Fund has a variety of gas and electricity supply contracts that are captured under CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial
Instruments – Measurement and Recognition. Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose
of these supply contracts in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to
act. Management has estimated the value of electricity, unforced capacity, heat rates, heat rate options, renewable and gas swap
and forward contracts using a discounted cash flow method, which employs market forward curves that are either directly
sourced from third parties or are developed internally based on third party market data. These curves can be volatile thus leading
to volatility in the mark to market with no impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model
using the applicable market forward curves and the implied volatility from other market traded gas options.
Effective July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes on the Fund’s
derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated Statements of Operations. Due to the commodity volatility and
size of the Fund, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility in the Fund’s earnings.
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The following tables illustrate (gains)/losses related to the Fund’s derivative financial instruments classified as heldfortrading
recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value derivative
instruments for the year ended March 31, 2010:
For the
year ended
March 31,
2010

Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Canada
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i)
Renewable energy certificates (ii)
Verified emissionreduction credits (iii)
Options (iv)
Physical gas forward contracts (v)
Transportation forward contracts (vi)

$

United States
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vii)
Physical electricity forwards (viii)
Unforced capacity forward contracts (ix)
Unforced capacity physical contracts (x)
Renewable energy certificates (xi)
Verified emissionreduction credits (xii)
Options (xiii)
Physical gas forward contracts (xiv)
Transportation forward contracts (xv)
Heat rate swaps (xvi)
Fixed financial swaps (xvii)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (xviii)
Other
Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discontinued hedges
Amortization of derivative financial instruments related to
Universal acquisition
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
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5,041
(480)
(9)
(1,593)
70,568
21,353

11,295
2,332
(423)
563
1,856
644
1,082
(30,742)
1,303
(4,264)
34,201
3,322

$

For the
year ended
March 31,
2010 (USD)

$

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

11,761
4,737
(274)
544
1,744
604
879
(25,350)
1,287
(3,965)
33,370
n/a

(203,562)

n/a

88,795

n/a

1,282

For the
year ended
March 31,
2009

$

223,191
527
–
(4,847)
771,300
(5,059)

For the
year ended
March 31,
2009 (USD)

$

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

96,031
130,911
5,249
–
(104)
8
790
336,831
(6,252)
(251)
(242)
978

84,666
116,116
4,730
–
(68)
–
1,068
299,516
(4,992)
(228)
(191)
n/a

(211,776)

n/a

–
$ 1,337,285

n/a

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table illustrates (gains)/losses representing the ineffective portion of the Fund’s designated hedges prior to July 1, 2008,
recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments:
For the
year ended
March 31,
2010

Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Canada
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i)

$

United States
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vii)

–

–

Change in fair value of derivative instruments

$

–

Total change in fair value of derivative instruments

$

1,282

For the
year ended
March 31,
2010 (USD)

$

n/a

For the
year ended
March 31,
2009

$

–

(476)

For the
year ended
March 31,
2009 (USD)

$

167
$

n/a

164

(309)

$ 1,336,976

The following table illustrates (gains)/losses to the Fund’s designated hedges prior to July 1, 2008, recorded against other assets
and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in other comprehensive income:
For the
year ended
March 31,
2009

Other comprehensive income
Canada
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i)
Renewable energy certificates (ii)
Verified emissionreduction credits (iii)
Options (iv)
Physical gas forward contracts (v)
Transportation forward contracts (vi)
United States
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vii)
Physical electricity forwards (viii)
Unforced capacity forward contracts (ix)
Renewable energy certificates (xi)
Verified emissionreduction credits (xii)
Options (xiii)
Physical gas forward contracts (xiv)
Transportation forward contracts (xv)
Heat rate swaps (xvi)
Fixed financial swaps (xvii)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (xviii)
Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discontinued hedges
Other comprehensive income

$

(75,354)
–
–
–
(313,071)
(5,958)

(40,473)
(30,573)
(4,743)
–
–
–
(124,760)
7,022
–
–
–
(4,550)

For the
year ended
March 31,
2009 (USD)

$

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

(39,808)
(30,071)
(4,665)
–
–
–
(122,711)
6,907
–
–
–
–

$ (592,460)
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The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at
March 31, 2010:
Other
assets
(current)

Canada
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i)
Renewable energy certificates (ii)
Verified emissionreduction credits (iii)
Options (iv)
Physical gas forward contracts (v)
Transportation forward contracts (vi)

$

United States
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vii)
Physical electricity forwards (viii)
Unforced capacity forward contracts (ix)
Unforced capacity physical contracts (x)
Renewable energy certificates (xi)
Verified emissionreduction credits (xii)
Options (xiii)
Physical gas forward contracts (xiv)
Transportation forward contracts (xv)
Heat rate swaps (xvi)
Fixed financial swaps (xvii)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (xviii)
As at March 31, 2010

–
350
2
757
–
–

Other
assets
(long term)

$

–
–
523
33
107
–
–
–
–
654
–
277
$

2,703

–
621
7
416
–
–

Other
liabilities
(current)

$

–
–
102
146
130
–
–
–
–
3,605
–
–
$

5,027

244,563
30
–
–
237,145
11,060

Other
liabilities
(long term)

$

31,291
38,015
445
731
918
167
912
96,938
1,265
–
21,720
–
$

685,200

212,920
139
–
–
203,088
8,439

30,464
39,035
9
–
945
447
915
75,142
2,262
–
16,767
–
$

590,572

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at
March 31, 2009:
Other
assets
(current)

Canada
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i)
Renewable energy certificates (ii)
Options (iv)
Physical gas forward contracts (v)
Transportation forward contracts (vi)

$

United States
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vii)
Physical electricity forwards (viii)
Unforced capacity forward contracts (ix)
Renewable energy certificates (xi)
Options (xiii)
Physical gas forward contracts (xiv)
Transportation forward contracts (xv)
Heat rate swaps (xvi)
Fixed financial swaps (xvii)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (xviii)
As at March 31, 2009
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–
94
792
–
787

Other
assets
(long term)

$

–
–

5,544

$

–
–
213
191
–
–
–
1,171
869
275

19
57
395
–
4
72
–
3,324
$

–
251
23
–
2,160

Other
liabilities
(current)

$

5,153

149,476
–
237
198,329
927

Other
liabilities
(long term)

$

34,997
48,242
366
19
204
84,010
961
956
628
–
$

519,352

158,289
23
997
103,734
163

24,577
41,456
–
48
1,349
69,627
1,457
–
–
–
$

401,720

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as heldfortrading as at March 31, 2010, to which the Fund
has committed:
Notional
volume

Total
remaining
volume

Maturity date

Fixedforfloating

0.0001–50

12,873,605

April 30, 2010 –

electricity swaps*

MWh

MWh

March 1, 2016

10–90,000

1,210,017

December 31, 2010 –

MWh

MWh

December 31, 2014

2,000–55,000

505,000

December 31, 2010 –

tonnes

tonnes

December 31, 2014

46–40,500

5,590,040

April 30, 2010 –

GJ/month

GJ

February 28, 2014

5–16,862

145,443,234

April 30, 2010 –

GJ/day

GJ

June 30, 2015

11–465,000

69,017,645

April 30, 2010 –

GJ/day

GJ

May 31, 2015

Fixedforfloating

0.10–28

2,271,140

April 30, 2010 –

$37.83–$138.91

($61,755)

$184,587

electricity swaps*

MWh

MWh

March 31, 2015

(US$37.25–$136.75)

(US($60,794))

(US$181,716)

1–33

4,813,387

April 30, 2010 –

$30.98–$111.99

($77,050)

$299,561

MWh

MWh

January 31, 2015

(US$30.50–$110.25)

(US($75,852))

(US$294,902)

Contract type

Fixed price

Fair value
favourable/
(unfavourable)

Notional
value

$23.00–$128.13

($457,483)

$933,845

$3.00–$26.00

$802

$7,604

$9.34–$11.50

$9

$5,236

$6.35–$12.40

$1,173

$10,234

$3.31–$10.00

($440,233)

$1,133,277

$0.01–$1.57

($19,499)

$52,657

Canada
(i)

(ii)

Renewable energy
certificates

(iii)

Verified emission
reduction credits

(iv)

(v)

Options
Physical gas
forward contracts

(vi)

Transportation
forward contracts

United States
(vii)

(viii) Physical electricity

forwards
(ix)

(x)

(xi)

Unforced capacity

5–35

1,275

April 30, 2010 –

$3,047–$8,126

$171

$6,806

forward contracts

MWCap

MWCap

November 30, 2012

(US$3,000–$8,000)

(US$168)

(US$6,700)

Unforced capacity

10–60

2,065

April 30, 2010 –

$1,016–$3,017

($552)

$6,028

physical contracts

MWCap

MWCap

May 31, 2014

(US$1,000–$2,970)

(US$543)

(US$5,934)

2,200–110,000

2,030,265

December 31, 2010 –

$1.63–$22.86

($1,626)

$14,147

MWh

MWh

December 31, 2014

(US$1.60–$22.50)

(US($1,601))

(US$13,927)

10,000–50,000

615,000

December 31, 2010 –

$6.45–$8.89

($614)

$4,770

tonnes

tonnes

December 31, 2014

(US$6.35–$8.75)

(US($604))

(US$4,696)

Renewable energy
certificates

(xii)

Verified emission
reduction credits

(xiii) Options

(xiv) Physical gas

forward contracts
(xv)

Transportation
forward contracts

(xvi) Heat rate swaps

(xvii) Fixed financial swap

(xviii) Foreign exchange

forward contracts**

5–120,000

6,236,595

April 30, 2010 –

$6.50–$14.02

($1,827)

$9,774

mmBTU/month

mmBTU

December 31, 2014

(US$6.40–$13.80)

(US($1,799))

(US$9,622)

5–22,970

53,078,540

April 1, 2010 –

$3.76–$12.07

($172,080)

$458,177

mmBTU/day

mmBTU

July 31, 2014

(US$3.70–$11.88)

(US($169,403))

(US$451,050)

35–9,300

41,137,356

April 1, 2010 –

$0.01–$0.61

($3,527)

($33,738)

mmBTU/day

mmBTU

March 31, 2015

(US$0.01–$0.60)

(US($3,472))

(US$33,213)

1–30

2,991,002

April 30, 2010 –

$26.98–$70.99

$4,259

$133,444

MWh

MWh

February 28, 2015

(US$26.56–$69.89)

(US$4,193)

(US$131,368)

100–7,700

36,033,542

April 30, 2010 –

$4.00–$7.83

($38,487)

$238,550

mmBTU/day

mmBTU

March 31, 2015

(US$3.94–$7.71)

(US($37,888))

(US$234,840)

$1,981–$2,258

n/a

April 7, 2010 –

$0.9905–$1.1289

(US$2,000)

April 7, 2010

$277

$4,063
(US$4,000)

* The electricity fixedforfloating contracts related to the Province of Alberta are predominantly loadfollowing and some contracts in Ontario, wherein
the quantity of electricity contained in the supply contract “follows” the usage of customers designated by the supply contract. Notional volumes
associated with these contracts are estimates and subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are also loadshaped fixedforfloating
contracts in the rest of Just Energy’s electricity markets wherein the quantity of electricity is established but varies throughout the term of the contracts.
** Hedge accounting was applied to most of these forwards up to September 30, 2006. However, the hedge was dedesignated and a loss of $195 for
the year ended March 31, 2007, was recorded in other liabilities. As the required hedge accounting effectiveness was achieved for certain quarters
of fiscal 2007, a $1,933 gain was deferred and recorded in AOCI and is being recognized in the Statement of Operations over the remaining term of
each hedging relationship. The term expires in April 2010.
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The following table summarizes the nature of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2010.
March 31, 2010
Loss on cash
flow hedges
transferred
from Other
Unrealized
Comprehensive gain recorded
Income to
in Other
the Statement Comprehensive
of Operations
Income

Canada
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i)
Physical gas forward contracts and transportation
forward contracts (v)
United States
Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vii)
Physical electricity contracts (viii)
Unforced capacity forward contracts (ix)
Physical gas forward contracts and transportation
forward contracts (xiii)
Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discontinued hedges
Total realized and unrealized gains/(losses)

$

–

$

–

March 31, 2009
Loss on cash
flow hedges
transferred
from Other
Comprehensive
Income to
the Statement
of Operations

$

(19,208)

Unrealized
gain recorded
in Other
Comprehensive
Income

$

94,562

–

–

(135,808)

454,838

–
–
–

–
–
–

(13,826)
(30,659)
–

54,299
61,232
4,743

–
–

(26,184)
(211,776)

143,922
–

–
(203,562)
$ (203,562)

$

–

$ (437,461)

$

813,596

The estimated amortization of deferred gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive income that is expected to
be amortized to net income within the next 12 months is a gain of $120,204.
These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number of
counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the contracts, Just Energy may not be able to
realize the other asset balance recognized in the financial statements.
In Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland, California and Alberta, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with cash collection
from its customers. Credit review processes have been put in place for these markets where Just Energy has credit risk to manage the
customer default rate. If a significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse effect
on Just Energy’s operations and cash flow. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for these markets.
Fair value (“FV”) hierarchy
Level 1
The fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV hierarchy if the fair value is determined using quoted, unadjusted
market prices. Just Energy values its cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, unit distributions payable and longterm debt under Level 1.
Level 2
Fair value measurements which require inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as
Level 2 in the FV hierarchy. This could include the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV curve from observable market
prices. However, in order to be classified under Level 2, inputs must be substantially observable in the market. Just Energy values
its New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”) financial gas fixed for floating swaps under Level 2.
Level 3
Fair value measurements which require unobservable market data or use statistical techniques to derive forward curves from
observable market data and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the electricity supply contracts,
Just Energy uses quoted market prices as per available market forward data and applies a priceshaping profile to calculate the
monthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile
is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input. For
the natural gas supply contracts, Just Energy uses three different market observable curves: 1) Commodity (predominately
NYMEX), 2) Basis, and 3) Foreign exchange. NYMEX curves extend for over five years (thereby covering the length of Just Energy’s
contracts); however, most basis curves only extend 12 to 15 months into the future. In order to calculate basis curves for
remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation which leads to natural gas supply contracts to be classified under Level 3.
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The main cause of changes in fair value of derivative instruments is the forward curve prices used for the fair value calculations.
Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves under the commodity price risk section of this note. Other
inputs, including volatility and correlations, are driven off historical settlements.
The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/(liabilities) in the fair value hierarchy as at March 31, 2010:
March 31, 2010
Level 1

Financial assets
Trading assets
Loans and receivable
Derivative financial assets

$

78,782
348,892
–

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Total net derivative liabilities

Level 2

$

–
(543,034)
$

(115,360)

$

–
–
–

Level 3

$

–
–
7,730

Total

$

78,782
348,892
7,730

(38,487)
–

(1,237,285)
–

(1,275,772)
(543,034)

(38,487)

$(1,229,555)

$(1,383,402)

The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of financial assets/(liabilities) classified as Level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy for the year ended March 31, 2010:
March 31, 2010

(b)

Opening balance, April 1, 2009
Total gain/(losses) – Net income
Purchases
Sales
Settlements
Transfer out of Level 3

$ (908,100)
(433,577)
(402,608)
2,653
512,077
–

Closing balance, March 31, 2010

$(1,229,555)

Classification of financial assets and liabilities
The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value or
amortized cost:
As at March 31, 2010
Carrying
amount

Cash and restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and unit distribution payable
Longterm debt
Other liabilities

$

78,782
348,892
7,730
248,368
294,666
1,275,772

Fair value

$

78,782
348,892
7,730
248,368
302,689
1,275,772

For the years ended
2010

Interest expense on financial liabilities not heldfortrading

$

16,134

2009

$

3,857

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and unit distribution
payable approximate their fair value due to their shortterm liquidity.
The carrying value of the longterm debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts is at rates
that vary with Bankers’ Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate with the exception for the JEEC
convertible debenture which is fair valued based on market.

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND » ANNUAL REPORT 2010

83

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c)

Management of risks arising from financial instruments
The risks associated with the Fund’s financial instruments are as follows:
(i)

Market risk
Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular
instrument or commodity. Components of market risk to which the Fund is exposed are discussed below:
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign
exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U.S. operations.
A portion of Just Energy’s earnings is generated in U.S. dollars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy’s earnings. Due to its growing
operations in the U.S. and recent acquisition of UEG, Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure in the future to U.S.
fluctuations than in prior years.
The Fund may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency
transactions, which could adversely affect operating results.
With respect to translation exposure, as at March 31, 2010, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against
the U.S. dollar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net income for the year ended March 31, 2010,
would have been $662 lower/higher and other comprehensive income would have been $8,146 lower/higher.
Interest rate risk
Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility. Just Energy’s current
exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. The Fund’s exposure to interest
rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. As such, the Fund does not believe that this longterm debt exposes it
to material financial risks and has determined that there is no need to set out parameters to actively manage this risk.
A 1% increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before taxes for the year
ended March 31, 2010, of approximately $421.
Commodity price risk
Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer
requirements do not match actual customer requirements. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected by a number of
factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of
markets. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices. The
derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand in
Canadian dollars and thereby fix margins such that Unitholder distributions can be appropriately established. Derivative
instruments are generally transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above
market risks could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy.
Commodity price sensitivity – All derivative ﬁnancial instruments
As at March 31, 2010, if the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, green natural gas credits and green electricity
certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the
year ended March 31, 2010, would have increased (decreased) by $188,537 ($187,592) primarily as a result of the change in
the fair value of the Fund’s derivative instruments.
Commodity price sensitivity – Level 3 derivative ﬁnancial instruments
As at March 31, 2010, if the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, green natural gas credits and green electricity
certificates had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the
year ended March 31, 2010, would have increased (decreased) by $170,287 ($169,495) primarily as a result of the change in
the fair value of the Fund’s derivative instruments.
Changes in energy prices will not significantly impact the Fund’s gross margin.
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(ii)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to
another party. Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk.
Customer credit risk
In Alberta, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, California and Maryland, Just Energy has customer credit risk, and therefore, credit
review processes have been implemented to perform credit evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a
significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the operations
and cash flows of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for all the above markets.
As at March 31, 2010, accounts receivables from the above markets with a carrying value of $20,239 (March 31, 2009 –
$17,022) were past due but not impaired. As at March 31, 2010, the aging of the accounts receivables from the above
markets was as follows:
Current
1–30 days
31–60 days
61–90 days
Over 90 days

$

44,531
13,873
4,598
1,768
3,973

$

68,743

For the year ended March 31, 2010, changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows:
Balance, beginning of year
Provision for doubtful accounts
Bad debts written off
Others

$

8,657
17,939
(14,880)
(1,866)

Balance, end of year

$

9,850

For the remaining markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy’s
customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There
is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future.
Counterparty credit risk
Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual
obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates thus impacting
the related customer margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates impacting the related
Canadian dollar denominated distributions. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any
exceptions to these limits require approval from the Board of Directors of JEC. The Risk Office and Risk Committee monitor
current and potential credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure.
However, the failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the
operations and cash flows of Just Energy.
As at March 31, 2010, the maximum counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $76,473, representing the risk relating to
its derivative financial assets and accounts receivable.
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(iii)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The Fund manages this risk by monitoring
detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling sixweek period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and
quarterly forecasts for the following twoyear period to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities.
The following are the contractual maturities, excluding interest payments, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of the Fund’s
financial liabilities at March 31, 2010:
Carrying
amount

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and
unit distribution payable
Bank indebtedness
Longterm debt
Derivative instruments:
Cash outflow

$

240,132
8,236
294,666

Contractual
cash flows

$

240,132
8,236
301,249

Less than
1 year

$

240,132
8,236
62,829

1 to 3 years

$

–
–
120,475

1,275,772

3,533,371

1,494,003

1,621,623

$ 1,818,806

$ 4,082,988

$ 1,805,200

$ 1,742,098

More than
5 years

4 to 5 years

$

–
–
117,945

$

415,680
$

533,625

–
–
–
2,065

$

2,065

In addition to the amounts noted above, at March 31, 2010, net interest payments over the life of the longterm debt and
bank credit facility are:
Less than
1 year

Interest payments
(iv)
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$

16,040

1 to 3 years

$

24,466

More than
5 years

4 to 5 years

$

12,260

$

1,546

Supplier risk
Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through longterm contracts entered
into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electricity
to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations.
Just Energy has discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $672 to accommodate for its counterparties’ risk of default.
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CAPITAL DISCLOSURE

NOTE 14

Just Energy defines capital as Unitholders’ equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income) and longterm debt. The
Fund’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility between:
(a) enabling it to operate efficiently;
(b) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth opportunities; and
(c) providing returns and generating predictable cash flow for distribution to Unitholders.
The Fund manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for
management, but rather promotes year over year sustainable profitable growth. The Fund’s capital management objectives have
remained unchanged from the prior year. The Fund is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than
financial covenants in its credit facilities and as at March 31, 2010 and 2009, all of these covenants had been met.

INCOME (LOSS) PER UNIT

NOTE 15

2010

Basic income (loss) per unit
Net income (loss) available to Unitholders

$

$

(1,107,473)

Weighted average number of units outstanding
Weighted average number of Class A preference shares
Weighted average number of Exchangeable Shares

117,674,000
5,264,000
5,028,000

104,841,000
5,623,000
–

Basic units and shares outstanding

127,966,000

110,464,000

Basic income (loss) per unit

$

1.81

$

(10.03)

Diluted income (loss) per unit1
Net income (loss) available to Unitholders

$

231,496

$

(1,107,473)

Basic units and shares outstanding

127,966,000

Dilutive effect of:
Unit options
Unit appreciation rights
Deferred unit grants
Convertible debentures

Diluted income (loss) per unit

110,464,000

–
1,392,000
71,000
–

Units outstanding on a diluted basis

1

231,496

2009

–
–
–
–

129,429,000
$

1.79

110,464,000
$

(10.03)

Conversion of convertible debentures is antidilutive to income per unit for the year ended March 31, 2010. Conversion of unit options, unit
appreciation rights and deferred unit grants are antidilutive to income (loss) for the year ended March 31, 2009.
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NOTE 16

REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Just Energy operates in two reportable geographic segments, Canada and the United States. Reporting by geographic region is in
line with Just Energy’s performance measurement parameters. The gas and electricity business segment have operations in both
Canada and United States.
Just Energy evaluates segment performance based on geographic segments and operating segments.
The following tables present Just Energy’s results by geographic segments and operating segments:
Gas and electricity marketing
2010

Canada

United States

Ethanol

Home services

Canada

Canada

Consolidated

Sales – gas
Sales – electricity
Ethanol
Home services

$

788,661
637,580
–
–

$

425,975
381,674
–
–

$

–
–
56,455
–

$

–
–
–
8,886

$ 1,214,636
1,019,254
56,455
8,886

Sales

$ 1,426,241

$

807,649

$

56,455

$

8,886

$ 2,299,231

Gross margin
Amortization of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Other operating expenses

$

$

172,627
(262)
(22,402)
(121,394)

$

4,510
(1,079)
–
(9,089)

$

7,049
(788)
(1,187)
(8,760)

Income before the undernoted
Interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Other income
Noncontrolling interest
Provision for (recovery of) income tax

231,147
(5,768)
(34,959)
(68,156)
122,264
9,079
37,058
(3,122)
–
(123,113)

28,569
1,130
(35,776)
(82)
–
24,415

(5,658)
5,107
–
(311)
(3,593)
–

$

(3,686)
818
–
–
(55)
(1,562)

415,333
(7,897)
(58,548)
(207,399)
141,489
16,134
1,282
(3,515)
(3,648)
(100,260)

Net income (loss)

$

202,362

$

38,882

$

(6,861)

$

(2,887)

$

231,496

Additions to capital assets

$

11,267

$

797

$

4,599

$

24,544

$

41,207

Total goodwill

$

138,905

$

31,053

$

$

7,929

$

177,887

Total assets

$

727,395

$

373,180

$

$

91,492

–
161,028

$ 1,353,095

Gas and electricity marketing
2009

Sales – gas
Sales – electricity

Canada

$

Sales
Gross margin
Amortization of gas contracts
Amortization of electricity contracts
Amortization of capital assets
Other operating expenses

$

Income before the undernoted
Interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Other income
Noncontrolling interest
Recovery of income tax
Net loss
Additions to capital assets
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$
$

United States

Consolidated

814,275
518,388

$

343,889
222,661

$ 1,158,164
741,049

$ 1,332,663

$

566,550

$ 1,899,213

231,720
710
178
4,660
89,889

$

91,096
–
2,706
440
55,995

$

322,816
710
2,884
5,100
145,884

136,283
2,479
872,402
(7,574)
(58)
(1,971)

31,955
1,378
464,574
(30)
–
(55,489)

168,238
3,857
1,336,976
(7,604)
(58)
(57,460)

(728,995)

$ (378,478)

$(1,107,473)

6,169

$

176

$

6,345

Total goodwill

$

94,576

$

22,485

$

117,061

Total assets

$

368,873

$

166,882

$

535,755
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NOTE 17
(a)

GUARANTEES
Officers and directors
Corporate indemnities have been provided by the Fund to all directors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for
various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their association with the Fund and its
subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. The Fund has purchased directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to
mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the
indemnified person is a director or officer of one of the Fund’s subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any
potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated.

(b)

Operations
In the normal course of business, the Fund and/or the Fund’s subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that include
guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation agreements.
These guarantees may require the Fund and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the
counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions that
may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the transaction. The maximum payable under these guarantees is
estimated to be $69,174.

NOTE 18

COMMITMENTS
Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Premises and
equipment
leasing

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Thereafter

Grain
production
contracts

Master Services
Agreement
with EPCOR

Longterm
gas and
electricity
contracts
with various
suppliers

$

8,084
6,186
4,357
3,026
2,304
4,828

$

36,059
19,720
1,718
396
–
–

$

12,132
8,088
–
–
–
–

$ 1,494,003
1,001,759
619,864
323,362
92,318
2,065

$

28,785

$

57,893

$

20,220

$ 3,533,371

Just Energy is also committed under longterm contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various
expiry dates and renewal options.
NOTE 19

CONTINGENCIES
The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Regulatory Energy Commission (“FREC”) against many
suppliers of electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of the Fund, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy crises
in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FREC’s enforcement of its marketbased rate
system. Although Commerce did not own generation, the State of California is claiming that Commerce was unjustly enriched by
the runup caused by the alleged market manipulation by other market participants. The proceedings are currently ongoing. On
March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge granted the motion to strike for all parties in one of the complaints holding that
California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market power. California has appealed the decision.
At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation is not
determinable; however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2010.
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NOTE 20

ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES
2010

Changes in:
Accrued gas accounts payable
Unbilled revenues
Gas delivered in excess of consumption
Deferred revenue
Other

NOTE 21

2009

$

(26,286)
36,986
(8,508)
8,357
–

$

2,857
(10,480)
–
–
–

$

10,549

$

(7,623)

CHANGES IN NONCASH WORKING CAPITAL
2010

Accounts receivable
Gas in storage
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Corporate taxes payable (recoverable)
Other

NOTE 22

2009

$

(60,021)
2,430
(41)
25,869
5,931
(8,303)
(1,388)

$

(17,251)
(1,288)
(229)
381
18,989
4,447
1,132

$

(35,523)

$

6,181

COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Certain figures from the comparative financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform
to the presentation of the current year’s consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 23

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On May 7, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the common shares of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC and Hudson
Energy Corp. (collectively, “Hudson”) with an effective date of May 1, 2010. Hudson is a privately held energy marketing company
operating in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas, primarily focused on the small to midsize commercial customer market.
In order to fund the purchase for the acquisition and related costs, Just Energy has entered into an agreement to sell to a
syndicate of underwriters $330 million aggregate principal amount of 6.00% Convertible Extendible Unsecured Subordinated
Debentures (the “Convertible Debentures”). The Convertible Debentures will bear interest at a rate of 6.00% per annum payable
semiannually in arrears on June 30 and December 31.
The consideration for the acquisition will be approximately US$304.2 million, subject to customary working capital adjustments,
payable as to US$295.0 million in cash at closing and a postclosing deferred payment of US$9.2 million, payable in four equal
quarterly instalments during the first year following closing. Just Energy anticipates that associated transaction and financing costs
will bring the total purchase cost to approximately $330 million.
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